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PART L. Financial Information
ITEM1. Financial Statements
PARK-OHIO HOLDINGS CORP. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

ASSEIS

Current Assets

Cash and cash equivalents

Accounts receivable, less allowances for doubtful accounts of $5,469 at March 31, 2012 and $5,483 at December 31, 2011

Inventories, net

Deferred tax assets

Unbilled contract revenue

Other current assets

Total Current Assets

Property, plant and equipment:

Land and land improvements

Buildings

Machinery and equipment

Less accumulated depreciation

Other Assets:

Goodwill and other intangible assets

Other

LIABILITIES AND SHAREHO LDERS’ EQUITY

Current Liabilities

Trade accounts payable

Accrued expenses

Current portion of long-term debt

Current portion of other postretirement benefits

(Unaudited)
March 31,
2012

December 31,
2011

(Dollars in thousands)

$ 44588 $ 78,001
191,062 139,941
222,643 202,039
22,544 20,561
15,102 18,778
12,572 8,790
508,511 468,110
6,471 3,654
51,524 47,594
226,392 208,727
284,387 259,975
201,377 198,165
83,010 61,810
104,282 20,187
64,578 63,833

$ 760381 $ 613940

$ 134774 $ 99,588
102,308 73,651
4,730 1,415
2,002 2,002




Total Current Liabilities

243,814 176,656
Long-Term Liabilities, less current portion
Senior Notes
250,000 250,000
Credit facility
138,029 93,000
Other long-term debt
3,051 3,165
Deferred tax liability
24,321 1,392
Other postretirement benefits and other long-term liabilities
25,159 24,285
440,560 371,842
Shareholders” Equity
Capital stock, par value $1 a share:
Serial preferred stock:
Authorized— 632,470 shares: Issued and outstanding— none
-0- -0-
Common stock:
Authorized —40,000,000 shares: Issued— 13,831,274 shares in 2012 and 13,813,774 in 2011
13,831 13,814
Additional paid-in capital
71,116 70,248
Retained earnings
19,348 10,392
Treasury stock, at cost, 1,706,217 shares in 2012 and 1,673,926 shares in 2011
(21,266) (20,607)
Accumulated other comprehensive (loss)
(7,022) (8,405)
76,007 65,442
$ 760,381 $ 613,940
Note: The balance sheet at December 31, 2011 has been derived from the audited financial statements at that date, but does not include all of the

information and footnotes required by generally accepted accounting principles for complete financial statements.

See accompanying notes to these unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements. The accompanying notes are an integral part of these unaudited condensed

consolidated financial statements.
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PARK-OHIO HOLDINGS CORP. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME (UNAUDITED)

Three Months Ended
March 31,
2012 2011
(Amounts in thousands,
except per share data)

Net sales
$263,056 $ 241,628

Cost of products sold

214,177 199,693
Gross profit
48,879 41,935
Selling, general and administrative expenses
28,745 25,665
Operating income
20,134 16,270
Interest expense
6,735 5,863
Income before income taxes
13,399 10,407
Income taxes
4,443 1,678

Net income
$ 8,956 $ 8,729

Amounts per common share:
Basic
$ .76 $ .76

Diluted

Common shares used in the computation:

Basic
11,787 11,460

Diluted
12,041 11,987

See accompanying notes to these unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements. The accompanying notes are an integral part of these unaudited condensed
consolidated financial statements.
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PARK-OHIO HOLDINGS CORP. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENIS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (UNAUDITED)

Three Months Ended
March 31,
2012 2011
(Amounts in thousands)

Net income
$ 8,956 $ 8,729
Other comprehensive income:
Foreign currency translation
1,221 2,620
Pension and post retirement benefit adjustments, net of tax
162 106
Comprehensive income, net of tax
$ 10,339 $ 11,455

See accompanying notes to these unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements. The accompanying notes are an integral part of these unaudited condensed
consolidated financial statements.
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PARK-OHIO HOLDINGS CORP. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY (UNAUDITED)

Accumulated

Additional Other
Common Paid-In Retained Treasury Comprehensive
Stock Capital Earnings Stock (Loss) Total

(Dollars in thousands)

Balance at January 1, 2012
$13,814 $ 70,248 $10,392 $(20,607) $ (8,405) $65,442

Other comprehensive income

8,956 1,383 10,339
Amortization of restricted stock
617 617
Purchase of treasury stock (32,291 shares)
(659) (659)
Exercise of stock options (17,500 shares)
17 244 261

Share-based compensation

7 7

Balance at March 31, 2012
$13,831 $ 71,116 $19,348 $(21,266) $ (7,022) $76,007

See accompanying notes to these condensed consolidated financial statements. The accompanying notes are an integral part of these unaudited condensed
consolidated financial statements.
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PARK-OHIO HOLDINGS CORP. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS (UNAUDITED)

Three Months Ended
March 31,

2012 2011

(Dollars in thousands)

OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Net income
$ 8,956 $ 8,729
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization
3,501 3,957
Share-based compensation expense
624 428
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Accounts receivable
(20,201) (20,061)
Inventories and other current assets
(7,449) (7,033)
Accounts payable and accrued expenses
30,403 25,989
Other
1,266 961
Net Cash Provided by Operating Activities
17,100 12,970
INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Purchases of property, plant and equipment, net
(2,829) (1,515)
Acquisitions, net of cash acquired
(94,641) -0-
Net Cash Used by Investing Activities
(97,470) (1,515)
FINANCING ACTTVITIES
Proceeds from term loan and other debt
24,630 -0-
Proceeds from (payments on) revolving credit facility
23,600 (15,728)
Debt issue costs
(875) -0-
Exercise of stock options
261 -0-
Purchase of treasury stock
(659) (224)

Net Cash Provided (Used) by Financing Activities
46,957 (15,952)




Decrease in Cash and Cash Equivalents

(33,413) (4,497)
Cash and Cash Equivalents at Beginning of Period
78,001 35,311

Cash and Cash Equivalents at End of Period

$ 44,588 $ 30,814
Taxes paid

$ 1,338 $ 463
Interest paid

$ 669 $ 1,389

See accompanying notes to these condensed consolidated financial statements. The accompanying notes are an integral part of these unaudited condensed
consolidated financial statements.
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PARK-OHIO HOLDINGS CORP. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO UNAUDITED CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

March 31, 2012
(Dollars and shares in thousands, except per share amounts)

NOTE A — Basis of Presentation

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Park-Ohio Holdings Corp. and its subsidiaries (collectively, the “Company”). All significant
intercompany transactions have been eliminated in consolidation. Certain amounts in the prior years’ financial statements have been reclassified to conform to the
current year presentation.

The accompanying unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted for
interim financial information and with the instructions to Form 10-Q and Article 10 of Regulation S-X. Accordingly, they do not include all of the information and
footnotes required by accounting principles generally accepted in the United States for complete financial statements. In the opinion of management, all adjustments
(consisting of normal recurring accruals) considered necessary for a fair presentation have been included. Operating results for the three-month period ended
March 31, 2012, are not necessarily indicative of the results that may be expected for the year ending December 31, 2012. For further information, refer to the
consolidated financial statements and footnotes thereto included in the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2011.

NOTE B — Recent Accounting Pronouncements
Accounting Pronouncements Adopted in the Three Months Ended March 31, 2012

In June 2011, the FASB issued ASU No. 2011-05, “Comprehensive Income (Topic 220): Presentation of Comprehensive Income.” ASU No. 2011-05 amends
existing guidance by allowing only two options for presenting components of net income and other comprehensive income: (1) in a single continuous financial
statement, statement of comprehensive income or (2) in two separate but consecutive financial statements, consisting of an income statement followed by a separate
statement on other comprehensive income. Also, items that are reclassified from other comprehensive income to net income must be presented on the face of the
financial statements. ASU No. 2011-05 requires retrospective application, and is effective for fiscal years, and interim periods within those years, beginning after
December 15, 2011, with early adoption permitted. In December 2011, the FASB issued ASU No. 2011-12, deferring its requirements that companies present
reclassification adjustments for each component of accumulated other comprehensive income in both net income and other comprehensive income on the face of the
financial statements. Entities continue to be required to present amounts reclassified out of accumulated other comprehensive income on the face of the financial
statements or disclose those amounts in the notes to the financial statements. The requirement to present reclassification adjustments in interim periods was also
deferred. However, entities are required to report a total for comprehensive income in condensed financial statements of interim periods in a single continuous
statement or in two consecutive statements. The FASB is reconsidering the presentation requirements for reclassification adjustments. The Company adopted ASU
No. 2011-5 in the first quarter of 2012 and elected to present the components of net income and comprehensive income in two separate but consecutive statements.
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PARK-OHIO HOLDINGS CORP. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO UNAUDITED CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENIS — (Continued)

NOTE C — Segments

The Company operates through three segments: Supply Technologies, Aluminum Products and Manufactured Products. Supply Technologies provides our
customers with Total Supply Management™ services for a broad range of high-volume, specialty production components. Total Supply Management™ manages the
efficiencies of every aspect of supplying production parts and materials to our customers’ manufacturing floor, from strategic planning to program implementation,
and includes such services as engineering and design support, part usage and cost analysis, supplier selection, quality assurance, bar coding, product packaging and
tracking, just-in-time and point-of-use delivery, electronic billing services and ongoing technical support. Aluminum Products manufactures cast aluminum
components for automotive, agricultural equipment, construction equipment, heavy-duty truck and marine equipment industries. Aluminum Products also provides
value-added services such as design and engineering, machining and assembly. Manufactured Products operates a diverse group of niche manufacturing businesses
that design and manufacture a broad range of high quality products engineered for specific customer applications.

Results by business segment were as follows:

Three Months Ended

March 31,
2012 2011
Net sales:
Supply Technologies
$134,351 $123,226
Aluminum Products
36,165 39,041
Manufactured Products
92,540 79,361
$263,056 $241,628
Income (loss) before income taxes:
Supply Technologies
$ 10,077 $ 8,633
Aluminum Products
1,059 3,314
Manufactured Products
14,090 8,546
25,226 20,493
Corporate costs
(5,092) (4,223)
Interest expense
(6,735) (5,863)
$ 13,399 $ 10,407
March 31, December 31,
2012 2011
Identifiable assets:
Supply Technologies
$236,324 $ 228,629
Aluminum Products
216,988 61,002
Manufactured Products
220,168 203,782
General corporate
86,901 120,527
$760,381 $ 613,940

For the three months ended March 31, 2012, sales of the Manufactured Products segment consisted of capital equipment (74%), forged and machined
products (19%) and rubber products (7%). Engineered specialty products sales represent approximately 13% of Supply Technologies segment sales for the three
months ended March 31, 2012.
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PARK-OHIO HOLDINGS CORP. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO UNAUDITED CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENIS — (Continued)

NOTE D — Inventories

The components of inventory consist of the following:

March 31, December 31,
2012 2011
Finished goods
$121,445 $ 122,010
Work in process
28,702 20,660
Raw materials and supplies
72,496 59,369
$222,643 $ 202,039

NOTE E — Shareholders’ Equity

At March 31, 2012, capital stock consisted of (i) Serial Preferred Stock, of which 632,470 shares were authorized and none were issued, and (ii) Common
Stock, of which 40,000,000 shares were authorized and 13,831,274 shares were issued, of which 12,125,057 were outstanding and 1,706,217 were treasury
shares.
NOTE F — Net Income Per Common Share

The following table sets forth the computation of basic and diluted earnings per share:

Three Months Ended

March 31,
2012 2011
NUMERATOR
Net income
$ 8,956 $ 8,729
DENOMINATOR
Denominator for basic earnings per share — weighted average shares
11,787 11,460
Effect of dilutive securities:
Employee stock options
254 527
Denominator for diluted earnings per share — weighted average shares and assumed conversions
12,041 11,987
Amounts per common share:
Basic
$ .76 $ .76
Diluted
$ 74 $ .73

Basic earnings per common share is computed as net income available to common shareholders divided by the weighted average basic shares outstanding.
Diluted earnings per common share is computed as net income available to common shareholders divided by the weighted average diluted shares outstanding.

Outstanding stock options with exercise prices greater than the average price of the common shares are anti-dilutive and are not included in the computation
of diluted earnings per share. Stock options on 40,000 and 20,000 shares were excluded in the three months ended March 31, 2012 and 2011, respectively, because
they were anti-dilutive.

NOTE G — Stock-Based Compensation

Total stock-based compensation expense recorded in the first three months of 2012 and 2011 was $624 and $428, respectively. There were no stock option
or restricted stock awards during the first three months of 2012 and 2011. As of March 31, 2012, there was $3,141 of unrecognized compensation cost related to
non-vested stock-based compensation, which is expected to be recognized over a weighted average period of 2.1 years.
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PARK-OHIO HOLDINGS CORP. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO UNAUDITED CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENIS — (Continued)

NOTE H— Pension Plans and Other Postretirement Benefits
The components of net periodic benefit cost recognized during interim periods were as follows:
Three Months Ended

March 31,
Postretirement
Pension Benefits Benefits
2012 2011 2012 2011
Service costs
§ 542 $ 109 $ 15 $ 12
Interest costs
565 596 201 228
Expected return on plan assets
(2,059) (2,229) -0- -0-
Transition obligation
(10) (10) -0- -0-
Amortization of prior service cost
11 11 24) 24
Recognized net actuarial loss
241 -0- 186 129
(Income) benefit costs
$ (710) $(1,523) $ 378 $ 345
NOTEI — Comprehensive Income
The components of accumulated comprehensive income at March 31, 2012 and December 31, 2011 are as follows:
March 31, December 31,
2012 2011
Foreign currency translation adjustment
$ 6,073 $ 4,852
Pension and postretirement benefit adjustments, net of tax
(13,095) (13,257)
$ (7,022) §  (8,405)

The pension and postretirement benefit liability amounts were net of deferred taxes of $5,571 at March 31, 2012 and December 31, 2011. No income taxes
are provided on foreign currency translation adjustments as foreign earnings are considered permanently invested.

NOTE J — Accrued Warranty Costs

The Company estimates the amount of warranty claims on sold products that may be incurred based on current and historical data. The actual warranty
expense could differ from the estimates made by the Company based on product performance. The following table presents the changes in the Company’s product
warranty liability:

2012 2011
Balance at January 1
$4,208 $4,046
Claims paid during the quarter
(592) (127)
Additional warranties issued during the quarter
817 149
Acquired warranty liabilities
3,317 -0-
Balance at March 31
$7,750 $4,068

NOTE K— Income Taxes

The Company’s tax provision for interim periods is determined using an estimate of its annual effective income tax rate, adjusted for discrete items, if any,
that are taken into account in the relevant period. Each quarter, the Company updates the estimated annual effective income tax rate and, if the estimated income tax
rate changes, a cumulative adjustment is made.
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PARK-OHIO HOLDINGS CORP. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO UNAUDITED CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENIS — (Continued)

The effective income tax rate in the first three months of 2012 and 2011 was 33.2% and 16.1%, respectively. The 2012 annual effective income tax rate is
estimated to be approximately 33% and is lower than the 35% United States federal statutory rate primarily due to anticipated income earned in jurisdictions outside
of the United States where the effective income tax rate is lower than in the United States.

NOTE L — Fair Value Measurements

The Company measures financial assets and liabilities at fair value in three levels of inputs. The three-tier fair value hierarchy, which prioritizes the nputs used
in the valuation methodologies, is:

Level 1 — Valuations based on quoted prices for identical assets and liabilities in active markets.

Level 2 — Valuations based on observable inputs other than quoted prices included in Level 1, such as quoted prices for similar assets and liabilities in active
markets, quoted prices for identical or similar assets and liabilities in markets that are not active, or other inputs that are observable or can be corroborated by
observable market data.

Level 3 — Valuations based on unobservable inputs reflecting our own assumptions, consistent with reasonably available assumptions made by other market
participants. These valuations require significant judgment.

The fair value of the 8.125% Senior Notes due 2021 is estimated based on a third party’s bid price. The fair value approximated $257,500 at March 31, 2012
and $247,500 at December 31, 2011.

NOTE M — Financing Arrangements

The Company is a party to a credit and security agreement dated November 5, 2003, as amended (the “Credit Agreement”), with a group of banks, under
which it may borrow or issue standby letters of credit or commercial letters of credit. On March 23, 2012, the Credit Agreement was amended and restated to,
among other things, increase the revolving loan commitment from $200,000 to $220,000, and provide a term loan for $25,000 that is secured by certain real estate
and machinery and equipment. Amounts borrowed under the revolving credit facility may be borrowed at either (i) LIBOR plus 1.75% to 2.75% or (ii) the bank’s
prime lending rate minus .25% to 1.00%, at the Company’s election. The LIBOR-based interest rate is dependent on the Company’s debt service coverage ratio, as
defined in the Credit Agreement. Under the Credit Agreement, a detailed borrowing base formula provides borrowing availability to the Company based on
percentages of eligible accounts receivable and inventory. Interest on the term loan is at either (i) LIBOR plus 2.75% or (ii) the bank’s prime lending rate plus .25%,
at the Company’s election. The term loan is amortized based on a seven-year schedule with the balance due at maturity.

Long-term debt consists of the following:

March 31, December 31,
2012 2011
8.125% senior notes due 2021
$250,000 $ 250,000
Revolving credit
116,600 93,000
Term loan
25,000 -0-
Other
4,210 4,580
395,810 347,580
Less current maturities
_am0  _ 141s
Total
$391,080 $ 346,165
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PARK-OHIO HOLDINGS CORP. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO UNAUDITED CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENIS — (Continued)

NOTE N — Accounts Receivable

During the first three months of 2012 and 2011, the Company sold approximately $20,432 and $11,690, respectively, of accounts receivable to mitigate
accounts receivable concentration risk and to provide additional financing capacity and recorded losses in the amount of $94 and $53, respectively, in the condensed
consolidated statements of income. These losses represented implicit interest on the transactions.

NOTE O — Acquisition

On March 23, 2012, the Company completed the acquisition of Fluid Routing Solutions Holding Corp. (“FRS”), a leading manufacturer of industrial hose
products and fuel filler and hydraulic fluid assemblies, in an all cash transaction valued at $97,451. FRS products include fuel filler, hydraulic, and thermoplastic
assemblies and several forms of manufactured hose, including bulk and formed fuel, power steering, transmission oil cooling, hydraulic and thermoplastic hose. FRS
sells to automotive and industrial customers throughout North America, Europe and Asia. FRS has five production facilities located in Florida, Michigan, Ohio,
Tennessee and the Czech Republic. FRS is included in the Company’s Aluminum Products segment pending further evaluation. The Company funded the acquisition
with cash of $40,000 ($10,000 domestic and $30,000 foreign), a $25,000 seven-year amortizing term loan provided by the Credit Agreement and secured by certain
real estate and machinery and equipment of the Company and $32,500 of borrowings under the revolving credit facility provided by the Credit Agreement. The
acquisition was accounted for under the acquisition method of accounting. Under the acquisition method of accounting, the total estimated purchase price is
allocated to FRS’ net tangible assets and intangible assets acquired and liabilities assumed based on their estimated fair values as of March 23, 2012, the effective
date of the acquisition. Based on management’s valuation of the fair value of tangible and intangible assets acquired and liabilities assumed, which are based on
estimates and assumptions that are subject to change, the purchase price is allocated as follows:

Cash and cash equivalents

$ 2,809
Accounts receivable
30,920
Inventories
11,617
Prepaid expenses and other current assets
3,626
Property, plant and equipment
21,143
Customer relationships
30,000
Trademarks and trade name
10,900
Other assets
213
Accounts payable
(17,814)
Accrued expenses
(15,622)
Deferred tax liability
(22,912)
Other long-term liabilities
(776)
Goodwill
43,348
Total purchase price
$ 97,452

The areas of purchase price allocation that are not yet finalized relate to the working capital adjustment as of March 23, 2012, and completion of appraisals for
the inventories, property plant and equipment and intangible assets. There were $262 of direct transaction costs included in selling, general and administrative
expenses during the first three months of 2012.
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PARK-OHIO HOLDINGS CORP. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO UNAUDITED CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENIS — (Continued)

The following unaudited pro forma information is provided to present a summary of the combined results of the Company’s operations with FRS as if the
acquisition had occurred on January 1, 2011. The unaudited pro forma financial information is for informational purposes only and is not necessarily indicative of
what the results would have been had the acquisition been completed at the date indicated above.

Three Months Ended

March 31,
2012 2011
Pro forma revenues
$313,925 $288,961
Pro forma net income
$ 5297 $ 8,292
Earnings per share:
Basic
$ .45 $ 72
Diluted
$ .44 $ .69

Pro forma net income for the three months ended March 31, 2012 was impacted by transaction and other non-recurring costs incurred by FRS.

Note P — Commitments and Contingencies

The Company is subject to various pending and threatened legal proceedings arising in the ordinary course of business. Although the Company cannot
precisely predict the amount of any liability that may ultimately arise with respect to any of these matters, the Company records provisions when it considers the
liability probable and reasonably estimable. Our provisions are based on historical experience and legal advice, reviewed quarterly and adjusted according to
developments. Estimating probable losses requires the analysis of multiple forecasted factors that often depend on judgments about potential actions by third parties,
such as regulators, courts, and state and federal legislatures. Changes in the amounts of our loss provisions, which can be material, affect our financial condition.
Due to the inherent uncertainties in the process undertaken to estimate potential losses, we are unable to estimate an additional range of loss in excess of our
accruals. While it is reasonably possible that such excess liabilities, if they were to occur, could be material to operating results in any given quarter or year of their
recognition, we do not believe that it is reasonably possible that such excess liabilities would have a material adverse effect on our long-term results of operations,
liquidity or consolidated financial position.

Our subsidiaries are involved in a number of contractual and warranty related disputes. At this time, we cannot reasonably determine the probability of a loss,
and the timing and amount of loss, if any, cannot be reasonably estimated. We believe that appropriate labilities for these contingencies have been recorded;
however, actual results may differ materially from our estimates.
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PARK-OHIO HOLDINGS CORP. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO UNAUDITED CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENIS — (Continued)

NOTE Q — Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets

The change in goodwill and other intangibles assets reflected on the balance sheet from December 31, 2011 to March 31, 2012 was the result of foreign
currency translation and an increase of $84,248 related to the acquisition of FRS. Information regarding other intangible assets as of March 31, 2012 and

December 31, 2011 follows:

March 31, 2012

December 31, 2011

Acquisition

Accumulated

Costs Amortization
Non-contractual customer relationships
$ 41,670 $ 3,451
Other
3,420 1,120
$ 45,090 $ 4,571
Tradenames
Goodwill
Total

Acquisition Accumulated

Net Costs Amortization Net
$ 38,219 $ 11,670 $ 3,320 $ 8,350

2,300 3,420 1,046 2,374
$ 40,519 $ 15,090 $ 4,366 $10,724

10,900 -0-

52,863 9,463
$104,282 $20,187

Amortization expense for the first three months of 2012 was $205 and is estimated to be $3,100 in 2012, $3,086 in 2013 and $3,028 for each of the three
subsequent years thereafter. The weighted-average amortization period for the acquired intangible assets was approximately 15 years.
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Item 2. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

Our condensed consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Park-Ohio Holdings Corp. and its subsidiaries (collectively, “we” or the “Company”).
All significant intercompany transactions have been eliminated in consolidation.

Executive Overview

We are an industrial Total Supply Management™ and diversified manufacturing business, operating in three segments: Supply Technologies, Aluminum
Products and Manufactured Products. Our Supply Technologies business provides our customers with Total Supply Management™, a proactive solutions approach
that manages the efficiencies of every aspect of supplying production parts and materials to our customers’ manufacturing floor, from strategic planning to program
implementation. Total Supply Management™ includes such services as engineering and design support, part usage and cost analysis, supplier selection, quality
assurance, bar coding, product packaging and tracking, just-in-time and point-of-use delivery, electronic billing services and ongoing technical support. The principal
customers of Supply Technologies are in the heavy-duty truck, automotive and vehicle parts, electrical distribution and controls, consumer electronics, power
sports/fitness equipment, HVAC, agricultural and construction equipment, semiconductor equipment, plumbing, aerospace and defense, and appliance industries.
Aluminum Products casts and machines aluminum engine, transmission, brake, suspension and other components such as pump housings, clutch retainers/pistons,
control arms, knuckles, master cylinders, pinion housings, brake calipers, oil pans and flywheel spacers for automotive, agricultural, construction, heavy-duty truck
and marine original equipment manufacturers (“OEMs”), primarily on a sole-source basis. Aluminum Products also provides value-added services such as design and
engineering and assembly. Manufactured Products operates a diverse group of niche manufacturing businesses that design and manufacture a broad range of highly-
engineered products including induction heating and melting systems, pipe threading systems, industrial oven systems, injection molded rubber components, and
forged and machined products. Manufactured Products also produces and provides services and spare parts for the equipment it manufactures. The principal
customers of Manufactured Products are OEMs, sub-assemblers and end users in the ferrous and non-ferrous metals, silicon, coatings, forging, foundry, heavy-
duty truck, construction equipment, automotive, oil and gas, rail and locomotive manufacturing and aerospace and defense industries. Sales, earnings and other
relevant financial data for these three segments are provided in Note C to the condensed consolidated financial statements, included elsewhere herein.

On April 7, 2011, the Company completed the sale of $250 million in aggregate principal amount of 8.125% Senior Notes due 2021 (the “Notes”) in an
offering exempt from the registration requirements of the Securities Act of 1933. The Notes bear an interest rate of 8.125% per annum and will be payable semi-
annually in arrears on April 1 and October 1 of each year commencing on October 1, 2011. The Notes mature on April 1, 2021. The Company also purchased all of
its outstanding 8.375% senior subordinated notes due 2014 in aggregate principal amount of $183.8 million that were not held by its affiliates, repaid all of the term
loan A and term loan B outstanding under its then existing credit facility and retired the 8.375% senior subordinated notes due 2014 in the aggregate principal amount
of $26.2 million that were held by its affiliates.

On March 23, 2012, the Company completed the acquisition of Fluid Routing Solutions Holding Corp. (“FRS”), a leading manufacturer of industrial hose
products and fuel filler and hydraulic fluid assemblies, in an all cash transaction valued at $97.5 million. FRS products include fuel filler, hydraulic, and thermoplastic
assemblies and several forms of manufactured hose including bulk and formed fuel, power steering, transmission oil cooling, hydraulic and thermoplastic hose. FRS
sells to automotive and industrial customers throughout North America, Europe and Asia. FRS has five production facilities located in Florida, Michigan, Ohio,
Tennessee and the Czech Republic. FRS is included in the Company’s Aluminum Products segment pending further evaluation.

In connection with the acquisition of FRS, the Company amended and restated its existing credit and security agreement dated November 5, 2003, as
amended (the “Credit Agreement”), to, among other things, increase the revolving loan commitment from $200 million to $220 million and provide a seven-year
amortizing term loan for $25 million that is secured by certain real estate and machinery and equipment. The Company funded the acquisition with cash of $40
million ($10 million domestic and $30 million foreign), the $25 million term loan provided by the Credit Agreement and $32.5 million of borrowings under the
revolving credit facility provided by the Credit Agreement.
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Critical Accounting Policies

Our critical accounting policies are described in Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations, and in the
notes to our Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended December 31, 2011, contained in our 2011 Annual Report on Form 10-K. There were no new
accounting policies or updates to existing accounting policies as a result of new accounting pronouncements discussed in the notes to our condensed consolidated
financial statements in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q. The application of our critical accounting policies may require management to make judgments and
estimates about the amounts reflected in the condensed consolidated financial statements. Management uses historical experience and all available information to
make these estimates and judgments, and different amounts could be reported using different assumptions and estimates.

Results of Operations
Three Months 2012 versus Three Months 2011

Net Sales by Segment:
Three Months
Ended March 31, Percent
2012 2011 Change Change
(Dollars in millions)
Supply Technologies
$134.4 $123.2 $ 11.2 9%
Aluminum Products
36.2 39.0 (2.8) (N%
Manufactured Products
92.5 79.4 13.1 16%
Consolidated Net Sales
$263.1 $241.6 $ 21.5 9%

Net sales increased $21.5 million to $263.1 million in the first three months of 2012, compared to $241.6 million in the same period in 2011, as the Company
experienced volume increases in its Supply Technologies and Manufactured Products segments offset by a decline in the Aluminum products segment. Supply
Technologies sales increased 9% primarily due to volume increases in the heavy-duty truck, electrical, power sports, agricultural and construction equipment
industries offset primarily by declines in the semi-conductor, HVAC and instruments industries. Aluminum Products sales decreased 7% primarily from reductions in
volume, which was partially offset by incremental sales of $5.5 million resulting from the acquisition of FRS. Manufactured Products sales increased 16% primarily
due to the increased business in the capital equipment, forged and machine and rubber products business units.

Cost of Products Sold & Gross Profit:

Three Months

Ended March 31, Percent
2012 2011 Change Change

(Dollars in millions)

Consolidated cost of products sold

$214.2 $199.7 $ 145 7%
Consolidated gross profit
$ 48.9 $ 419 $ 7.0 17%
Gross margin
18.6% 17.3%

Cost of products sold increased $14.5 million to $214.2 million in the first three months of 2012, compared to $199.7 million in the same period in 2011, while
gross margin increased to 18.6% in the first three months of 2012 compared to 17.3% in the same period in 2011. The increase in cost of products sold was due
primarily to higher sales levels and higher commodity prices offset by higher production levels, which contributed to improved absorption of fixed costs in the
Manufactured Products segment. Gross margin increased in the Supply Technologies and Manufactured Products business units resulting primarily from volume
increases while gross margin decreased in the Aluminum Products business unit resulting from volume declines.
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Selling, General & Administrative (“SG&A”) Expenses:

Three Months
Ended March 31, Percent
2012 2011 Change Change
(Dollars in millions)

Consolidated SG&A expenses
$28.7 $25.7 $ 3.0 12%

SG&A percent
10.9% 10.6%

Consolidated SG&A expenses increased 12% in the first three months of 2012 compared to the same period in 2011, representing a 30 basis point increase in
SG&A expenses as a percent of sales. SG&A expenses increased in the first three months of 2012 compared to the same period in 2011 primarily due to increases in
payroll and payroll related expenses and a reduction in pension income of $.8 million.

Interest Expense:
Three Months
Ended
March 31, Percent
2012 2011 Change Change

(Dollars in millions)

Interest expense

§ 6.7 $ 59 $.8 14%
Debt extinguishment costs included in interest expense

§ 03 -0- 3
Amortization of deferred financing costs and bank service charges

$ 06 $ 07 1 149)%
Average outstanding borrowings

$358.6 $ 308.7 $49.9 16%
Average borrowing rate

7.51% 7.04% 47 basis points

Interest expense increased $.8 million in the first three months of 2012 compared to the same period of 2011, primarily due to a higher average borrowing rate
during the first three months of 2012. Average borrowings in the first three months of 2012 were higher when compared to the same period in 2011 due to the
Company’s sale of $250 million in aggregate principal amount of the Notes offset by the purchase of all of its outstanding 8.375% senior subordinated notes due
2014 and additional borrowings to fund the acquisition of FRS. The higher average borrowing rate in the first three months of 2012 was due primarily to the interest
rate mix of our revolving credit facility and the Notes when compared to the mix in the same period in 2011.

Income Tax:

The provision for income taxes was $4.4 million in the first three months of 2012, a 33.2% effective income tax rate, compared to income taxes of
$1.7 million provided in the corresponding period of 2011, a 16.1% effective income tax rate. We estimate that the effective tax rate for full-year 2012 will be
approximately 33%.

Liquidity and Sources of Capital

As of March 31, 2012, the Company had $116.6 million outstanding under its revolving credit facility, and approximately $80.9 million of unused borrowing
availability.

Our liquidity needs are primarily for working capital and capital expenditures. Our primary sources of liquidity have been funds provided by operations and
funds available from existing bank credit arrangements and the sale of our debt securities. On April 7, 2011, the Company completed the sale of $250.0 million
aggregate principal amount of Notes. The Notes bear an interest rate of 8.125% per annum and will be payable semi-annually in arrears on April 1 and October 1 of
each year beginning on April 1, 2011. The Notes mature on April 1, 2021.

The Company is a party to the Credit Agreement, with a group of banks, under which it may borrow or issue standby letters of credit or commercial letters of
credit. On March 23, 2012, the Credit Agreement was amended and restated to, among other things, increase the revolving loan commitment from $200 million to
$220 million,
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and provide a term loan for $25 million that is secured by certain real estate and machinery and equipment. Amounts borrowed under the revolving credit facility
may be borrowed at either (i) LIBOR plus 1.75% to 2.75% or (ii) the bank’s prime lending rate minus .25% to 1.00%, at the Company’s election. The LIBOR-based
interest rate is dependent on the Company’s debt service coverage ratio, as defined in the Credit Agreement. Under the Credit Agreement, a detailed borrowing base
formula provides borrowing availability to the Company based on percentages of eligible accounts receivable and inventory. Interest on the term loan is at either
(i) LIBOR plus 2.75% or (ii) the bank’s prime lending rate plus .25%, at the Company’s election. The term loan is amortized based on a seven-year schedule with
the balance due at maturity.

Current financial resources (working capital and available bank borrowing arrangements) and anticipated funds from operations are expected to be adequate to
meet current cash requirements for at least the next twelve months. The future availability of bank borrowings under the revolving credit facility provided by the
Credit Agreement is based on the Company’s ability to meet a debt service ratio covenant, which could be materially impacted by negative economic trends. Failure
to meet the debt service ratio could materially impact the availability and interest rate of future borrowings.

The Company had cash and cash equivalents held by foreign subsidiaries of $32.2 million at March 31, 2012 and $61.2 million at December 31, 2011. For
each of its foreign subsidiaries, the Company makes a determination regarding the amount of earnings intended for permanent reinvestment, with the balance, if any,
available to be repatriated to the United States. The cash held by foreign subsidiaries for permanent reinvestment is generally used to finance the foreign subsidiaries’
operational activities and/or future foreign investments. At March 31, 2012, management believed that sufficient liquidity was available in the United States, and it is
our current intention to permanently reinvest undistributed earnings of our foreign subsidiaries outside of the United States. Although we have no intention to
repatriate the approximately $80.8 million of undistributed earnings of our foreign subsidiaries, as of December 31, 2011, if we were to repatriate these earnings,
there would potentially be an adverse tax impact.

At March 31, 2012, the Company’s debt service coverage ratio was 2.7, and, therefore, it was in compliance with the debt service coverage ratio covenant
contained in the revolving credit facility. The Company was also in compliance with the other covenants contained in the revolving credit facility as of March 31,
2012. The debt service coverage ratio is calculated at the end of each fiscal quarter and is based on the most recently ended four fiscal quarters of consolidated
EBITDA minus cash taxes paid, minus unfunded capital expenditures, plus cash tax refunds to consolidated debt charges that are consolidated cash interest expense
plus scheduled principal payments on indebtedness plus scheduled reductions in our term debt as defined in the Credit Agreement. The debt service coverage ratio
must be greater than 1.0 and not less than 1.1 for any two consecutive fiscal quarters. While we expect to remain in compliance throughout 2012, declines in sales
volumes in 2012 could adversely impact our ability to remain in compliance with certain of these financial covenants. Additionally, to the extent our customers are
adversely affected by declines in the economy in general, they may not be able to pay their accounts payable to us on a timely basis or at all, which would make the
accounts receivable ineligible for purposes of the revolving credit facility and could reduce our borrowing base and our ability to borrow under such facility.

The ratio of current assets to current liabilities was 2.09 at March 31, 2012, versus 2.65 at December 31, 2011. Working capital decreased by $26.8 million to
$264.7 million at March 31, 2012, from $291.5 million at December 31, 2011. Accounts receivable increased $51.2 million to $191.1 million at March 31, 2012,
from $139.9 million at December 31, 2011, primarily resulting from the acquisition of FRS and its $28.4 million of accounts receivable and sales volume increases.
Inventory increased by $20.6 million at March 31, 2012, to $222.6 million from $202.0 million at December 31, 2011, primarily resulting from planned increases due
to sales volume increases and $11.3 million of increases associated with the acquisition of FRS. Accrued expenses increased by $28.6 million to $102.3 million at
March 31, 2012, from $73.7 million at December 31, 2011, primarily resulting from the terms of the payments of interest due on the Notes and accrued liabilities of
FRS of $17.0 million. Accounts payable increased $35.2 million to $134.8 million at March 31, 2012, from $99.6 million at December 31, 2011, primarily as a result
of acquiring the accounts payable of FRS of $17.3 million and the timing of payments at March 31, 2012.

During the first three months of 2012, the Company provided $17.1 million from operating activities compared to $13.0 million in the same period of 2011.
The increase in the operating cash provision of $4.1
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million in 2012 compared to 2011 was primarily the result of a decrease in operating assets and liabilities offset by an increase in net income. In the first three
months of 2012, the Company used cash of $2.8 million for capital expenditures and $94.6 million for the acquisition of FRS. These activities, plus cash interest and
tax payments of $2.0 million, an increase in borrowings of $48.2 million and purchase of treasury stock of $.7 million resulted in a decrease in cash of $33.4 million
in the first three months of 2012.

We do not have off-balance sheet arrangements, financing or other relationships with unconsolidated entities or other persons. There are occasions
whereupon we enter into forward contracts on foreign currencies, purely for the purpose of hedging exposure to changes in the value of accounts receivable in
those currencies against the U.S. dollar. At March 31, 2012, none were outstanding. We currently have no other derivative instruments.

Seasonality; Variability of Operating Results

The timing of orders placed by our customers has varied with, among other factors, orders for customers’ finished goods, customer production schedules,
competitive conditions and general economic conditions. The variability of the level and timing of orders has, from time to time, resulted in significant periodic and
quarterly fluctuations in the operations of our business units. Such variability is particularly evident at the capital equipment businesses, included in the Manufactured
Products segment, which typically ship a few large systems per year.

Forward-Looking Statements

This Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q contains certain statements that are “forward-looking statements” within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities
Act and Section 21E of the Exchange Act. The words “believes”, “anticipates”, “plans”, “expects”, “intends”, “estimates” and similar expressions are intended to
identify forward-looking statements. These forward-looking statements involve known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors that may cause our actual
results, performance and achievements, or industry results, to be materially different from any future results, performance or achievements expressed or implied by
such forward-looking statements. These factors include, but are not limited to, the following: our substantial indebtedness; continuation of the current negative global
economic environment; general business conditions and competitive factors, including pricing pressures and product innovation, demand for our products and
services; raw material availability and pricing; component part availability and pricing; changes in our relationships with customers and suppliers; the financial
condition of our customers, including the impact of any bankruptcies; our ability to successfully integrate FRS and achieve the expected results of the acquisition;
our ability to retain FRS’s relationship with customers and suppliers; our ability to successfully integrate recent and future acquisitions into existing operations;
changes in general domestic economic conditions such as inflation rates, interest rates, tax rates, unemployment rates, higher labor and healthcare costs, recessions
and changing government policies, laws and regulations, including the uncertainties related to the current global financial crisis; adverse impacts to us, our suppliers
and customers from acts of terrorism or hostilities; our ability to meet various covenants, including financial covenants, contained in the agreements governing our
indebtedness; disruptions, uncertainties or volatility in the credit markets that may limit our access to capital; increasingly stringent domestic and foreign
governmental regulations, including those affecting the environment; inherent uncertainties involved in assessing our potential liability for environmental remediation-
related activities; the outcome of pending and future litigation and other claims and disputes with customers; our dependence on the automotive and heavy-duty truck
industries, which are highly cyclical; the dependence of the automotive industry on consumer spending, which could be lower due to the effects of the current
financial crisis; our ability to negotiate contracts with labor unions; our dependence on key management; our dependence on information systems; and the other
factors we describe under “Item 1A. Risk Factors” included in the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2011. Any forward-
looking statement speaks only as of the date on which such statement is made, and we undertake no obligation to update any forward-looking statement, whether as
a result of new information, future events or otherwise, except as required by law. In light of these and other uncertainties, the inclusion of a forward-looking
statement herein should not be regarded as a representation by us that our plans and objectives will be achieved.
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Review By Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

The condensed consolidated financial statements at March 31, 2012, and for the three-month periods ended March 31, 2012 and 2011, have been reviewed,
prior to filing, by Ernst & Young LLP, our independent registered public accounting firm.
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Item 3. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosure About Market Risk

We are exposed to market risk including changes in interest rates. We are subject to interest rate risk on borrowings under the floating rate revolving credit
facility provided by our Credit Agreement, which consisted of borrowings of $116.6 million at March 31, 2012. A 100 basis point increase in the interest rate would
have resulted in an increase in interest expense of approximately $.3 million during the three-month period ended March 31, 2012.

Our foreign subsidiaries generally conduct business in local currencies. During the first quarter of 2012, we recorded a favorable foreign currency translation
adjustment of $1.2 million related to net assets located outside the United States. This foreign currency translation adjustment resulted primarily from the weakening
of the U.S. dollar. Our foreign operations are also subject to other customary risks of operating in a global environment, such as unstable political situations, the
effect of local laws and taxes, tariff increases and regulations and requirements for export licenses, the potential imposition of trade or foreign exchange restrictions
and transportation delays.

The Company periodically enters into forward contracts on foreign currencies, primarily the euro and the British pound sterling, purely for the purpose of
hedging exposure to changes in the value of accounts receivable in those currencies against the U.S. dollar. The Company currently uses no other derivative
instruments. At March 31, 2012, there were no such currency hedge contracts outstanding.

Item 4. Controls and Procedures

Under the supervision of and with the participation of our management, including our chief executive officer and chief financial officer, we evaluated the
effectiveness of the design and operation of our disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15(d)-15(e) under the Securities Exchange
Act of 1934) as of the end of the period covered by this Quarterly Report.

Based on that evaluation, our chief executive officer and chief financial officer have concluded that, as of the end of the period covered by this Quarterly
Report, our disclosure controls and procedures were effective.

There have been no changes in our internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the first quarter of 2012 that have materially affected, or are
reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.
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PART 11
OTHER INFORMATION

Item 1.  Legal Proceedings

We are subject to various pending and threatened lawsuits in which claims for monetary damages are asserted in the ordinary course of business. While any
litigation involves an element of uncertainty, in the opinion of management, liabilities, if any, arising from currently pending or threatened litigation are not expected to
have a material adverse effect on our financial condition, liquidity or results of operations.

In addition to the routine lawsuits and asserted claims noted above, we were a party to the lawsuits and legal proceedings described below at March 31, 2012.

We were a co-defendant in approximately 225 cases asserting claims on behalf of approximately 760 plaintiffs alleging personal injury as a result of exposure
to asbestos. These asbestos cases generally relate to production and sale of asbestos-containing products and allege various theories of liability, including negligence,
gross negligence and strict liability, and seek compensatory and, in some cases, punitive damages.

In every asbestos case in which we are named as a party, the complaints are filed against multiple named defendants. In substantially all of the asbestos cases,
the plaintiffs either claim damages in excess of a specified amount, typically a minimum amount sufficient to establish jurisdiction of the court in which the case was
filed (jurisdictional minimums generally range from $25,000 to $75,000), or do not specify the monetary damages sought. To the extent that any specific amount of
damages is sought, the amount applies to claims against all named defendants.

There are only seven asbestos cases, involving 25 plaintiffs, that plead specified damages. In each of the seven cases, the plaintiff is seeking compensatory
and punitive damages based on a variety of potentially alternative causes of action. In three cases, the plaintiff has alleged compensatory damages in the amount of
$3.0 million for four separate causes of action and $1.0 million for another cause of action and punitive damages in the amount of $10.0 million. In the fourth case,
the plaintiff has alleged against each named defendant, compensatory and punitive damages, each in the amount of $10.0 million, for seven separate causes of action.
In the fifth case, the plaintiff has alleged compensatory damages in the amount of $20.0 million for three separate causes of action and $5.0 million for another cause
of action and punitive damages in the amount of $20.0 million. In the remaining two cases, the plaintiffs have each alleged against each named defendant
compensatory and punitive damages, each in the amount of $50.0 million, for four separate causes of action.

Historically, we have been dismissed from asbestos cases on the basis that the plaintiff incorrectly sued one of our subsidiaries or because the plaintiff failed
to identify any asbestos-containing product manufactured or sold by us or our subsidiaries. We intend to vigorously defend these asbestos cases, and believe we will
continue to be successful in being dismissed from such cases. However, it is not possible to predict the ultimate outcome of asbestos-related lawsuits, claims and
proceedings due to the unpredictable nature of personal injury litigation. Despite this uncertainty, and although our results of operations and cash flows for a
particular period could be adversely affected by asbestos-related lawsuits, claims and proceedings, management believes that the ultimate resolution of these matters
will not have a material adverse effect on our financial condition, liquidity or results of operations. Among the factors management considered in reaching this
conclusion were: (a) our historical success in being dismissed from these types of lawsuits on the bases mentioned above; (b) many cases have been improperly
filed against one of our subsidiaries; (c¢) in many cases the plaintiffs have been unable to establish any causal relationship to us or our products or premises; (d) in
many cases, the plaintiffs have been unable to demonstrate that they have suffered any identifiable injury or compensable loss at all or that any injuries that they have
incurred did in fact result from alleged exposure to asbestos; and (e) the complaints assert claims against multiple defendants and, in most cases, the damages alleged
are not attributed to individual defendants. Additionally, we do not believe that the amounts claimed in any of the asbestos cases are meaningful indicators of our
potential exposure because the amounts claimed typically bear no relation to the extent of the plaintiff’s injury, if any.

Our cost of defending these lawsuits has not been material to date and, based upon available information, our management does not expect its future costs for
asbestos-related lawsuits to have a material adverse effect on our results of operations, liquidity or financial position.
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One of our subsidiaries, Ajax Tocco Magnethermic (“ATM”), is a party to a binding arbitration proceeding pending in South Africa with its customer Evraz
Highveld Steel and Vanadium (“Evraz”). The arbitration involves a dispute over the design and installation of a melting furnace. Evraz sought binding arbitration in
September 2011 for breach of contract and seeks compensatory damages in the amount of $37.0 million, as well as fees and expenses related to the arbitration.
ATM intends to counterclaim arbitration, alleging breach of contract for non-payment in the amount of $2.7 million as well as fees and expenses related to the
arbitration. We believe we have meritorious defenses to these claims and intend to vigorously defend such allegations.

Item 1A. Risk Factors

There have been no material changes in the risk factors previously disclosed in the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended
December 31, 2011.

Item 2.  Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds

Set forth below is information regarding the Company’s repurchases of its common stock during the quarter ended March 31, 2012.

Total Number Maximum Number of
Total of Shares Shares
. Number Average Purchased as That May Yet Be
Period of Shares Price Paid Part of Publicly Purchased Under the
Purchased Per Share Announced Plans(1) Plans or Program
January 1 — January 31, 2012
2,066(2) $ 17.84 -0- 340,920
February 1 — February 29, 2012
-0- -0- -0- 340,920
March 1 — March 31, 2012
30,225(2) 20.59 -0- 340,920
Total
32,291 $ 2041 -0- 340,920
Q)]

On September 27, 2006, the Company announced a share repurchase program whereby the Company may repurchase up to 1.0 million shares of its common
stock. During the first quarter of 2012, no shares were purchased as part of this program.

@
Consist of shares of common stock the Company acquired from recipients of restricted stock awards at the time of vesting of such awards in order to settle
recipient withholding tax Labilities.
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Item 6. Exhibits

The following exhibits are included herein:

2.1% Agreement and Plan of Merger by and among Fluid Routing Solutions Holding Corp., FRS Group, LP, Automotive Holding Acquisition Corp and
Park-Ohio Industries, Inc., dated as of March 5, 2012
4.1 Fifth Amended and Restated Credit Agreement, dated March 23, 2012, among Park-Ohio Industries, Inc., the other Loan Parties (as defined

therein), the Lenders (as defined therein), JP Morgan Chase Bank, N.A., as Administrative Agent, JP Morgan Chase Bank, N.A., Toronto
Branch, as Canadian Agent, RBS Business Capital, as Syndication Agent, KeyBank National Association and First National Bank of Pennsylvania,
as Co-Documentation Agent, U.S. Bank National Association, as Co-Documentation Agent and Joint Bookrunner, PNC Bank, National
Association, as Joint Bookrunner and J.P. Morgan Securities Inc., as Sole Lead Arranger and Bookrunning Manager (filed as Exhibit 4.1 to the
Form 8-K of Park-Ohio Holdings Corp., filed on March 27, 2012, SEC File No. 000-03134 and incorporated by reference and made a part

hereof)
31.1 Principal Executive Officer’s Certification Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
31.2 Principal Financial Officer’s Certification Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
32 Certification requirement under Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
101.INS XBRL Instance Document
101.SCH XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document
101.CAL XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document
101.LAB XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document
101.PRE XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document
101.DEF XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document

*

The exhibits and schedules have been omitted pursuant to Item 601(b)(2) of Regulation S-K and will be provided to the Securities and Exchange Commission
upon request.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned,
thereunto duly authorized.

PARK-OHIO HOLDINGS CORP.

(Registrant)

BY /s/ PATRICK W. FOGARTY

Name: Patrick W. Fogarty

Interim Chief Financial Officer,
Title:  Director of Corporate Development

(Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)
Date: May 10, 2012
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EXHIBIT INDEX
QUARTERLY REPORT ON FORM 10-Q
PARK-OHIO HOLDINGS CORP. AND SUBSIDIARIES
FOR THE QUARTER ENDED MARCH 31, 2012

Agreement and Plan of Merger by and among Fluid Routing Solutions Holding Corp., FRS Group, LP, Automotive Holding Acquisition Corp and
Park-Ohio Industries, Inc., dated as of March 5, 2012

Fifth Amended and Restated Credit Agreement, dated March 23, 2012, among Park-Ohio Industries, Inc., the other Loan Parties (as defined
therein), the Lenders (as defined therein), JP Morgan Chase Bank, N.A., as Administrative Agent, JP Morgan Chase Bank, N.A., Toronto
Branch, as Canadian Agent, RBS Business Capital, as Syndication Agent, KeyBank National Association and First National Bank of Pennsylvania,
as Co-Documentation Agent, U.S. Bank National Association, as Co-Documentation Agent and Joint Bookrunner, PNC Bank, National
Association, as Joint Bookrunner and J.P. Morgan Securities Inc., as Sole Lead Arranger and Bookrunning Manager (filed as Exhibit 4.1 to the
Form 8-K of Park-Ohio Holdings Corp., filed on March 27, 2012, SEC File No. 000-03134 and incorporated by reference and made a part
hereof)

Principal Executive Officer’s Certification Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
Principal Financial Officer’s Certification Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
Certification requirement under Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
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FRS GROUP, LP
(a Delaware limited partnership)
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and

PARK-OHIO INDUSTRIES, INC.
(an Ohio corporation)

March 5, 2012
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AGRFEMENT AND PT AN OF MERGER

THIS AGREEMENT AND PLAN OF MERGER (this “Agreement”), dated as of March 5, 2012, is made by and among Fluid Routing Solutions Holding
Corp., a Delaware corporation (the “Company”’), Park-Ohio Industries, Inc., an Ohio corporation (the “Purchaser”), Automotive Holding Acquisition Corp., a
Delaware corporation and wholly owned subsidiary of the Purchaser (the “Merger Sub”), and FRS Group, LP, a Delaware limited partnership
(the “Representative”), as representative for the Stockholders and Optionholders. Capitalized terms used and not otherwise defined herein have the meanings set
forth in ARTICLE I below.

WHEREAS, the Company and its Subsidiaries are engaged in the business of manufacturing fuel filler assemblies, extruded hoses and other fluid handling
components;

WHEREAS, the Purchaser desires to acquire one hundred percent (100%) of the issued and outstanding capital stock of the Company in a reverse subsidiary
merger transaction on the terms and subject to the conditions set forth herein;

WHEREAS, the respective boards of directors of the Purchaser, the Merger Sub and the Company have authorized, adopted and approved this Agreement and
determined that this Agreement and the Merger are desirable and in the best interests of their respective corporations and stockholders; and

WHEREAS, Stockholders holding at least ninety percent (90%) of the outstanding Voting Common Stock will, promptly following the Company’s, the
Representative’s, the Purchaser’s and the Merger Sub’s full execution and delivery of this Agreement, execute and deliver to the Purchaser written consents
adopting this Agreement and approving the Merger and the other transactions contemplated hereby in accordance with Delaware Law and the Company’s certificate
of incorporation and bylaws, in each case, as in effect as of the date hereof (the “Stockholder Approval”);

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual covenants contained herein and other good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of
which are hereby acknowledged, the parties hereto agree as follows:

ARTICLE I
DEFINITIONS

Section 1.01 Definitions. For purposes hereof, the following terms when used herein shall have the respective meanings set forth below:

“Acquisition Transaction” is defined in Section 7.05(a).

“Adjustment Escrow Account” is defined in Section 3.02(e).

“Adjustment Escrow Amount” means an amount equal to Five Hundred Thousand Dollars ($500,000.00).
1



“Adjustment Escrow Funds” means the amount of cash held in the Adjustment Escrow Account from time to time by the Escrow Agent pursuant to
the Escrow Agreement.

“Affiliate” of any particular Person means any other Person controlling, controlled by or under common control with such particular Person, where
“control” means the possession, directly or indirectly, of the power to direct the management and policies of a Person whether through the ownership of voting
securities, contract or otherwise.

“Agreement” is defined in the Preamble.
“Basket” is defined in Section 11.01(b).

“Bonus Agreement” means each agreement listed on the attached Bonus Agreement Schedule.
“Bonus Agreement Release” means a bonus agreement release in substantially the form attached hereto as Exhibit H.

“Business Customers” is defined in Section 5.26.

“Business Day” means any day other than a Saturday, Sunday, or a day on which all banking institutions of New York, New York are authorized or
obligated by Law or executive order to close.

“Business Suppliers” is defined in Section 5.26.

“Cap” is defined in Section 11.01(f).

“Capital Lease Obligations” means, without duplication of any item that would otherwise be included in the term Funded Indebtedness, any obligation
(including accrued interest) of the Company or its Subsidiaries under a lease agreement that would be capitalized pursuant to GAAP. Notwithstanding the foregoing,
Capital Lease Obligations shall not include any breakage costs, prepayment penalties or fees or other similar amounts payable in connection with any capitalized
leases; provided that Capital Lease Obligations shall include breakage costs, prepayment penalties or fees or other similar amounts in connection with a capitalized
lease but only to the extent that the lessor or the capital lease requires prepayment penalties or fees or other similar amounts in connection with the consummation of
the transactions contemplated by this Agreement.

“Capitalization Representations” means the representations and warranties set forth in the first and penultimate sentences of Section 5.02 (Subsidiaries)
and Section 5.04(a) and the first sentence of Section 5.04(b) (Capital Stock).

“Cash” means, as of a given time, all cash, cash equivalents and marketable securities held by the Company or any of its Subsidiaries at such time; it
being understood and agreed that Cash shall be reduced by the amount of any checks written (but not yet cashed) by the Company or any of its Subsidiaries, unless
any such checks have had the effect of reducing Net Working Capital.



“Certificate of Merger” means the certificate of merger in substantially the form attached hereto as Exhibit A.
“Certificates” is defined in Section 2.03.

“Closing” is defined in Section 3.01.

“Closing Cash Proceeds” is defined in Section 2.02(a).

“Closing Date” is defined in Section 3.01.

“Closing Documents” means the Company Documents, the Purchaser Documents and the Merger Sub Documents.

“Closing Net Tax Amount” is defined in Section 3.03(a).
“Closing Net Working Capital” is defined in Section 3.03(b).
“Closing Transactions” is defined in Section 3.02.

“Code” means the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended.

“commercially reasonable efforts” means the efforts that a commercially reasonable Person desirous of achieving a result would use in similar
circumstances to achieve that result as expeditiously as reasonably practicable, provided, however, that, except as otherwise set forth herein, a Person required to
use commercially reasonable efforts under this Agreement will not be thereby required to take any action that would result in a material adverse change in the
benefits to such Person under this Agreement or the transactions contemplated hereby, to make any material change to its business, to incur any fees or expenses
(other than normal and usual filing fees, processing fees and incidental expenses), to commence any litigation or to incur any other material burden other than in the

Ordinary Course of Business.
“Common Merger Consideration” is defined in Section 2.02(a).
“Company” is defined in the Preamble.
“Company Adjustment Amount” is defined in Section 3.03(g)(ii).
“Company Documents” is defined in Section 5.03(a).
“Company Intellectual Property” is defined in Section 5.10.
“Company Representatives™ is defined in Section 7.05(a).
“Company Stock” means the Voting Common Stock and Non-Voting Common Stock.

“Confidentiality Agreement” is defined in Section 8.07.



“Consulting Agreement” is defined in Section 4.01(j).
“Consulting Termination Agreement” means a termination agreement substantially in the form attached hereto as Exhibit B.

“Contract” means any legally binding contract, agreement, indenture, note, bond, mortgage, loan, instrument, lease, license, commitment, guarantee or
other arrangement, understanding, undertaking, commitment or obligation, whether written or oral.

“Covered Employees” is defined in Section 5.20.

“Debt Financing” means the debt financing contemplated by the term sheets delivered to the Company at the execution of this Agreement required to
fund all or a portion of the Transaction Price, and certain fees and expenses of the Purchaser and the Merger Sub, in each case, in connection with the Merger.

“Deferred Option Bonus Amount” means the aggregate amount to be paid to Optionholders as special bonuses and set forth on the Deferred Option
Bonus Amount Schedule.

“Delaware Law” means the General Corporation Law of the State of Delaware.
“Disclosure Schedules” is defined in ARTICLE V.

“Disqualified Individual” has the meaning assigned to it in Section 280G(c) of the Code.
“DQJ” is defined in Section 10.04(a).

“Effective Time” is defined in Section 2.01(b).

“Electronic Delivery” is defined in Section 13.10.

“Environment” means soil, surface waters, groundwater, land, stream sediments, surface or subsurface strata, ambient air or indoor air, including an;
—_——— el b bl el b ¢l b y
material or substance used in the physical structure of any building or improvement and any environmental medium.

“Environmental Laws” means all Laws as enacted and in effect on or prior to the Closing Date concerning pollution, protection of human health and
safety from environmental hazards or protection of the Environment, including all those relating to the presence, use, production, generation, handling,
transportation, treatment, storage, disposal, distribution, labeling, testing, processing, discharge, release, threatened release, control, or cleanup of any hazardous
materials, substances or wastes.

“ERISA” means the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, as amended.
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“Escrow Agent” means Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, or another escrow agent mutually determined by the Representative and the Purchaser
in good faith, or its successor.

“Escrow Agreement” means an escrow agreement in substantially the form attached hereto as Exhibit C among the Purchaser, the Representative and
the Escrow Agent.

“Estimated Closing Net Working Capital” is defined in Section 3.03(a).

“Exercisable Shares” is defined in Section 2.04.
“Expiration Date” is defined in Section 11.07.
“Financial Statements” is defined in Section 5.05(a).
“FTC” is defined in Section 10.04(a).

“Funded Indebtedness” means, without duplication of any item included in Net Working Capital or otherwise deducted from the Transaction Price
pursuant to the terms of this Agreement, as of any particular time, (i) the amount of all indebtedness for borrowed money of the Company and its Subsidiaries
(including any unpaid principal, premium, accrued and unpaid interest, related expenses, prepayment penalties, commitment and other fees, reimbursements,
indemnities and all other amounts payable in connection therewith), (ii) liabilities of the Company and its Subsidiaries evidenced by bonds, debentures, notes, or other
similar instruments or debt securities, (iii) liabilities of the Company and its Subsidiaries to pay the deferred purchase price of property or services other than trade
payables incurred in the Ordinary Course of Business, (iv) all liabilities of the Company and its Subsidiaries arising out of interest rate and currency swap
arrangements and any other arrangements designed to provide protection against fluctuations in interest or currency rates, and (v) any deferred purchase price
liabilities related to past acquisitions of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries.

“GAAP” means United States generally accepted accounting principles as consistently applied by the Company. With respect to (i) any calculation of
Net Working Capital, “consistently applied” means that no change in accounting principles shall be made from those used in the preparation of the Latest Balance
Sheet and the Net Working Capital Schedule, including with respect to the nature of accounts, level of reserves or level of accruals, and (ii) all other cases,
“consistently applied” means that no change in accounting principles shall be made from those used by the Company in its past practices during all relevant periods.
For purposes of the preceding sentence, “changes in accounting principles” includes all changes in accounting principles, policies, practices, procedures or
methodologies with respect to financial statements, their classification or presentation, as well as all changes in practices, methods, conventions or assumptions
(unless required by objective changes in underlying events) utilized in making accounting estimates.

“General Escrow Account” is defined in Section 3.02(e).

“General Escrow Amount” means an amount equal to Five Million Dollars ($5,000,000.00).
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“General Escrow Funds” means the amount of cash held in the General Escrow Account from time to time by the Escrow Agent pursuant to the
Escrow Agreement.

“Governmental Body” means any (i) nation, state, commonwealth, province, territory, county, municipality, district, or other jurisdiction of any nature,
or any political subdivision thereof, (ii) federal, state, local, municipal, foreign, or other government, or (iii)) governmental or quasi-governmental authority of any
nature (including any governmental division, department, agency, commission, instrumentality, official, organization, contractor, regulatory body, or other entity and
any court, arbitrator, or other tribunal).

“Governmental Consents” is defined in Section 5.12.

“Hazardous Material” means any pollutant, toxic substance including asbestos and asbestos-containing materials, hazardous waste, hazardous material,
hazardous substance, contaminant, petroleum or petroleum-containing materials, infectious or medical wastes, radiation and radioactive materials, leaded paints, toxic
mold and other harmful biological agents and polychlorinated biphenyls as defined in, the subject of, or which could give rise to liability under any Environmental
Law.

“HSR Act” means the Hart-Scott-Rodino Antitrust Improvements Act of 1976, as amended, and the rules and regulations promulgated thereunder.

“In The Money Optionholder” means a holder of In The Money Options.

“In The Money Options” is defined in Section 2.02(a).

“Income Taxes” mean the United States federal income Tax and any state, local or foreign net income Tax or any franchise or business Tax incurred in
lieu of a Tax on net income.

“Indemnified Party” is defined in Section 11.05(a).

“Indemnifying Party” is defined in Section 11.05(a).

“Indemnity Allocation Percentage” means, as to any Stockholder or Optionholder that has received any portion of the Merger Consideration, a fraction,
(i) the numerator of which is the number of shares of Company Stock plus the number of shares of Company Stock issuable upon exercise of In The Money
Options held by such Stockholder or Optionholder immediately prior to the Effective Time, and (i) the denominator of which is the total number of shares of
Company Stock plus the total number of shares of Company Stock issuable upon exercise of In The Money Options held by all Stockholders and Optionholders
immediately prior to the Effective Time.

“Intellectual Property” means all of the following in any jurisdiction throughout the world: (i) patents, patent applications and patent disclosures;
(ii) trademarks, service marks, trade dress, corporate names, logos and slogans (and all translations, adaptations, derivations and combinations of the foregoing) and
Internet domain names, together with all goodwill associated with each of the foregoing; (iii) copyrights and copyrightable works; (iv) registrations and applications
for any of the foregoing; (v) trade secrets, confidential information, know-how and inventions; and (vi) computer software (including source code, executable code,
data, databases, and documentation).



“knowledge” means, with respect to the Company, the knowledge (after reasonably inquiry) of Michael Laisure, John Carson, Robert McConahy and
Ravi Dodaballapur, and, with respect to the representations and warranties set forth in Section 5.15(d), the actual knowledge without inquiry or investigation of
Michael Laisure, John Carson, Robert McConahy, Ravi Dodaballapur and Christine Mallory.

“Latest Balance Sheet” is defined in Section 5.05(a).

“Law” means any foreign, federal, state or local law (including common law), statute, code, ordinance, rule, regulation, judgment, injunction, Order,
decree, administrative requirement, or other requirement or restriction of any Governmental Body, as enacted or promulgated and in effect on or prior to the Closing
Date.

“Lease” is defined in Section 5.07(b).

“Leased Real Property” is defined in Section 5.07(b).

“Letter of Transmittal” means a letter of transmittal in substantially the form attached hereto as Exhibit D.
“Liens” means liens, security interests, charges or encumbrances.

“Losses” is defined in Section 11.01.

“Material Adverse Effect” means any adverse event, circumstance, change, occurrence or state of facts that has a material and adverse effect on the
financial condition, business or results of operations of the Company and its Subsidiaries, taken as a whole, but shall exclude any effect resulting or arising from:
(i) any change in any Law; (ii) any change in interest rates or general economic conditions (including changes in the price of gas, oil or other natural resources);
(iii) any change that is generally applicable to the industries in which the Company or any of its Subsidiaries operates but that does not disproportionately affect the
Company or any of its Subsidiaries; (iv) the entry into this Agreement or the announcement or consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby; (v) any
action taken by the Purchaser or any of its Affiliates; (vi) any omission to act or action taken with the written consent of the Purchaser (including those omissions to
act or actions taken which are expressly permitted by this Agreement); or (vii) any national or international political event or occurrence, including acts of war or
terrorism, to the extent such act does not disproportionately affect the Company or any of its Subsidiaries.

“Merger” is defined in Section 2.01(a).

“Merger Consideration” is defined in Section 2.02(a).

“Merger Sub” is defined in the Preamble.



“Merger Sub Documents” is defined in Section 6.01.

“Net Tax Amount” means (i) if the Closing Date is on or before March 31, 2012, the net Income Tax liability of the Company and its Subsidiaries with
respect to the Pre-Closing Tax Period and any Pre-Closing Straddle Period, taking into account all Tax Deductions deductible in the Pre-Closing Tax Period and any
Pre-Closing Straddle Period, and (ii) if the Closing Date is after March 31, 2012, zero (0); provided, however, that no amount included in the calculation of the
Performance Bonus Tax Amount shall be included in the calculation of the Net Tax Amount.

“Net Tax Amount Excess” is defined in Section 12.01(b).

“Net Working Capital” means, without duplication, the excess of (i) the current assets described on the Net Working Capital Schedule (which will
specifically exclude Cash, prepaid Sun Management Fees, prepaid Transaction Expenses, and current or deferred income Tax assets) of the Company and its
Subsidiaries as more fully described on the Net Working Capital Schedule over (ii) the current liabilities described on the Net Working Capital Schedule (which will
specifically exclude the current portions of Funded Indebtedness, the current portions of Capital Lease Obligations, all Transaction Expenses, and current or deferred
income Tax liabilities) of the Company and its Subsidiaries as more fully described on the Net Working Capital Schedule, in each case determined on a consolidated
basis in accordance with the Net Working Capital Schedule and GAAP.

“Non-Recourse Party” means, with respect to a party, any of such party’s former, current and future equityholders, controlling Persons, directors,
officers, employees, agents, representatives, Affiliates, members, managers, general or limited partners, or assignees (or any former, current or future equity holder,
controlling Person, director, officer, employee, agent, representative, Affiliate, member, manager, general or limited partner, or assignee of any of the foregoing).

“Non-Solicitation Agreement” means a non-solicitation agreement in substantially the form attached hereto as Exhibit G.
“Non-Voting Common Stock” means the Company’s non-voting common stock, par value $0.001 per share.

“Objection Notice” is defined in Section 3.03(d).

“Option Cancellation Agreement” means an option cancellation agreement in substantially the form attached hereto as Exhibit E.

“Option Merger Consideration” is defined in Section 2.04.
“Optionholders” is defined in Section 2.04.

“Options” means all options, warrants and rights to acquire shares of Company Stock, in each case, whether or not exercisable, as of immediately prior
to the Effective Time.



“Order” means any order, injunction, judgment, decree, consent agreement, ruling, writ, assessment or arbitration award of a Governmental Body.

“Ordinary Course of Business” means the ordinary and usual course of the business of the Company and its Subsidiaries through the date hereof
consistent with past practice.

“Other Antitrust Regulations” mean all antitrust or competition Laws of any Governmental Body outside the United States.
“Outside Date” is defined in Section 9.01(c).
“Owned Real Property” is defined in Section 5.07(c).

“Parachute Payment” is defined in Section 10.03(g).
“Per Claim Threshold” is defined in Section 11.01(a).

“Per Share Portion” means a fraction, the numerator of which is one (1), and the denominator of which is the sum of (i) the total number of shares of
Company Stock issued and outstanding immediately prior to the Effective Time (other than Company Stock held by the Company as treasury stock or held by the
Merger Sub), plus (ii) the number of shares of Company Stock issuable upon exercise of all In The Money Options.

“Performance Bonus Tax Amount” means Five Hundred Sixty Six Thousand Three Hundred and Fifty Dollars and Twenty Cents ($566,350.20), plus,
in the event the Closing occurs after March 31, 2012, an additional Nine Hundred and Thirty Six Dollars and Forty Four Cents ($936.44) for each day between
March 31, 2012 and the Closing Date.

“Permit” means any approvals, authorizations, consents, licenses, permits, registrations or certificates of a Governmental Body.

“Permitted Liens” means (i) Liens for Taxes not yet due and payable or which are being contested in good faith and by appropriate proceedings if
reserves with respect thereto are maintained on the Company’s books in accordance with GAAP; (ii) mechanic’s, materialmen’s, and similar Liens arising or
incurred in the Ordinary Course of Business for amounts not yet due and payable, or the validity or amount of which is being contested in good faith by appropriate
proceedings (which, if being contested, have been adequately reserved for); (iii) purchase money Liens and Liens securing rental payments under capital lease
arrangements; (iv) Liens set forth on the attached Permitted Liens Schedule; (vi) easements (including utility easements), covenants and conditions of record that do
not materially adversely impact the current use or value of the Real Property; (vii) matters disclosed by surveys made available to the Purchaser by the Company
prior to the date hereof with respect to each Owned Real Property; and (viii) zoning, building codes and other land use Laws regulating the use or occupancy of the
Real Property or the activities conducted thereon which are imposed by any Governmental Body which are not violated by the current use or occupancy of such
Real Property or the operation of the business or any violation of which would not be material to the Company and its Subsidiaries, taken as a whole.
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“Person” means an individual, a partnership, a corporation, a limited liability company, an association, a joint stock company, a trust, a joint venture, an
unincorporated organization or a Governmental Body.

“Plans” is defined in Section 5.13(a).

“Post-Closing Straddle Period” is defined in Section 12.04(b).

“Pre-Closing Straddle Period” is defined in Section 12.04(b).

“Pre-Closing Tax Period” means any taxable period ending on or before the Closing Date.
“Pre-Closing Tax Returns” is defined in Section 12.01(c).

“Preferred Stock™ means the Company’s preferred stock, par value $0.001.

“Privilege Period” is defined in Section 12.04(b).
“Proceeding” means any judicial, administrative or arbitral actions, suits, mediation or proceedings or claims by or before a Governmental Body.

“Purchase Price Adjustments” is defined in Section 3.03(g).

“Purchaser” is defined in the Preamble.

@

Purchaser Adjustment Amount” is defined in Section 3.03(g)(Q).

“Purchaser Documents” is defined in Section 6.01.

“Purchaser Indemnified Parties” is defined in Section 11.01.

“Purchaser Payments” is defined in Section 10.03(g).

“Purchaser’s Representatives” is defined in Section 7.02.

“Real Property” means, collectively, the Owned Real Property and the Leased Real Property.
“Related Persons” is defined in Section 5.17.

“Release” means any releasing, spilling, leaking, pumping, pouring, emitting, emptying, discharging, injecting, escaping, leaching, migrating, disposing
or dumping of a Hazardous Material into the Environment (including the abandonment or discarding of barrels, containers and other closed receptacles containing
any Hazardous Materials).

“Representative” is defined in the Preamble.
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“Representative Holdback Amount” means an amount equal to Five Hundred Thousand Dollars ($500,000.00).
“Retained Employees” is defined in Section 10.03(a).

“Schedule” is defined in ARTICLE V.

“SEC” is defined in Section 13.01.

“Section 280G Stockholder Vote” is defined in Section 10.03(g).

“Seller Indemnification Parties” is defined in Section 11.02(a).

“Statement” is defined in Section 3.03(b).

“Stockholder” means each holder of certificates representing Company Stock.
“Stockholder Approval” is defined in the Recitals.

“Straddle Period” is defined in Section 12.04(b).

“Subsidiary” means, with respect to any Person, any corporation of which a majority of the total voting power of shares of stock entitled (without
regard to the occurrence of any contingency) to vote in the election of directors, managers or trustees thereof is at the time owned or controlled, directly or
indirectly, by such Person or one (1) or more of the other Subsidiaries of such Person or a combination thereof, or any partnership, association or other business
entity of which a majority of the partnership or other similar ownership interest is at the time owned or controlled, directly or indirectly, by such Person or one (1)
or more Subsidiaries of such Person or a combination thereof. For purposes of this definition, a Person is deemed to have a majority ownership interest in a
partnership, association or other business entity if such Person is allocated a majority of the gains or losses of such partnership, association or other business entity
or is or controls the managing director or general partner of such partnership, association or other business entity.

“Success Fee Agreement” means the agreement listed on the attached Success Fee Agreement Schedule.

“Success Fee Agreement Release” means a release agreement in substantially the form attached hereto as Exhibit F.
“Sun Management Fees” means all amounts due and payable to the Sun Manager pursuant to the Consulting Agreement.
“Sun Manager” means Sun Capital Partners Management V, LLC., a Delaware limited liability company.

“Surviving Corporation” is defined in Section 2.01(a).

“Target Net Working Capital” means Nineteen Million Dollars ($19,000,000).
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“Tax” or “Taxes” means (i) any federal, state, local or foreign income, gross receipts, capital stock, franchise, profits, withholding, social security,
unemployment, disability, real property, ad valorem, personal property, stamp, excise, occupation, sales, use, transfer, value added, alternative or add-on minimum,
estimated, license, payroll, employment, severance, premium, property, environmental or windfall profit tax, custom, duty or other tax, governmental fee or other
like assessment or charge of any kind whatsoever, together with any interest, penalty, addition to tax or additional amount imposed by any Law or taxing authority,
whether disputed or not, (i) any liability for the payment of any amounts of any of the foregoing types as a result of being a member of an affiliated, consolidated,
combined or unitary group, or being a party to any agreement or arrangement whereby liability for payment of such amounts was determined or taken into account
with reference to the liability of any other Person, (iii) except for agreements or arrangements entered into in the Ordinary Course of Business, any liability for the
payment of any amounts as a result of being a party to any tax sharing or allocation agreements or arrangements (whether or not written) or with respect to the
payment of any amounts of any of the foregoing types as a result of any express or implied obligation to indemnify any other Person and (iv) any liability for the
payment of any of the foregoing types as a successor, transferee or otherwise.

“Tax Benefit” means any refund of Income Taxes paid or the amount of the reduction in Income Taxes payable to a taxing authority with respect to
any taxable period (net of any Income Tax detriment) as compared to the Income Taxes that would have been payable to a taxing authority with respect to such
taxable period in the absence of any deduction, credit or other Tax attribute, treating such deduction, credit or other Tax attribute as the last such deduction, credit
or other such Tax attribute on any Tax Return.

“Tax Deduction” means the aggregate amount of (i) the Transaction Expenses to the extent deductible by the Company or its Subsidiaries for Income
Tax purposes, (ii) the Option Merger Consideration and the Deferred Option Bonus Amount, in either case, to the extent deductible by the Company or its
Subsidiaries for Income Tax purposes, (iii) the capitalized financing costs and expenses that become currently deductible by the Company or its Subsidiaries on the
Closing Date and (iv) any other amounts deductible for income Tax purposes arising in connection with the consummation of the transactions contemplated by this

Agreement.

“Tax Returns” means all Tax returns, statements, reports, elections, schedules, claims for refund and forms (including estimated Tax or information
returns and reports), including any supplement or attachment thereto and any amendment thereof.

“Third-Party Claim” is defined in Section 11.05(a).

“Transaction Expenses” means, to the extent not paid by the Company, the Stockholders and/or the Optionholders before the Closing Date, the amount
of (i) all fees, costs and expenses (including fees, costs and expenses of legal counsel, investment bankers, brokers or other representatives and consultants;
appraisal fees, costs and expenses; and travel, lodging, entertainment and associated expenses) incurred by the Company or any of its Subsidiaries prior to Closing in
connection with this Agreement and the transactions contemplated hereby, (ii) all fees payable by the Company or any Subsidiary of the Company to any
Stockholder,
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Optionholder or any Affiliate of any such party, including to the Sun Manager, in connection with this Agreement or the transactions contemplated hereby, or
otherwise and (iii) all fees payable pursuant to the Success Fee Agreement to the employee party thereto.

“Transaction Price” is defined in Section 2.02(a).

“Updated Schedules” is defined in Section 7.06.

“Valuation Firm” is defined in Section 3.03(d).

“Voting Common Stock” means shares of the Company’s voting common stock, par value $0.001 per share.

“WARN” means the Worker Adjustment and Retraining Notification Act, as amended, as well as any applicable state or local law requiring notice of a
plant closing or mass layoff.

“Welfare Plans” is defined in Section 5.13(a).
Section 1.02 Other Definitional Provisions.

(a) Accounting Terms. Accounting terms which are not otherwise defined in this Agreement have the meanings given to them under GAAP. To the
extent that the definition of an accounting term defined in this Agreement is inconsistent with the meaning of such term under GAAP, the definition set forth in this
Agreement will control.

(b) “Hereof.” etc. The terms “hereof,” “herein” and “hereunder” and terms of similar import are references to this Agreement as a whole and not to any
particular provision of this Agreement. Section, clause, schedule and exhibit references contained in this Agreement are references to sections, clauses, schedules
and exhibits in or to this Agreement, unless otherwise specified.

(c) Successor Laws. Any reference to any particular Code section or any other Law will be interpreted to include any revision of or successor to that
section regardless of how it is numbered or classified.

(d) “Including.” etc. The term “including” has the inclusive meaning frequently identified with the phrase “but not limited to”.

(e) Singular and Plural Forms. Unless the context otherwise clearly indicates, each defined term used in this Agreement shall have a comparable
meaning when used in its plural or singular form.

() “Or”. The word “or” is used in the inclusive sense of “or”.



ARTICLE II
THE MERGER
Section 2.01 The Merger.

(a) At the Effective Time, the Merger Sub shall merge with and into the Company in accordance with Delaware Law (the “Merger”), whereupon the
separate existence of the Merger Sub shall cease, and the Company shall be the surviving corporation (the “Surviving Corporation”).

(b) At the Closing, the Company and the Merger Sub shall cause the Certificate of Merger to be executed, acknowledged and filed with the Secretary of
State of the State of Delaware and make all other filings or recordings required by Delaware Law in connection with the Merger. The Merger shall become effective
at such time as the Certificate of Merger is duly filed with the Secretary of State of the State of Delaware or at such later time as is specified in the Certificate of
Merger (the “Effective Time”).

(c) From and after the Effective Time, the Surviving Corporation shall succeed to all the assets, rights, privileges, powers and franchises and be subject
to all of the liabilities, restrictions, disabilities and duties of each of the Company and the Merger Sub, all as provided under Delaware Law.

Section 2.02 Conversion of Capital Stock. At the Effective Time, by virtue of the Merger and without any action on the part of the holders thereof:

(a) Each share of Company Stock issued and outstanding immediately prior to the Effective Time shall be converted into the right to receive in cash
without interest (i) the Per Share Portion of the Closing Cash Proceeds, payable to the holder thereof by the Purchaser in accordance with the procedures set forth
in Section 2.03, (ii) the Per Share Portion of the General Escrow Funds and Adjustment Escrow Funds distributed to the Representative (on behalf of the
Stockholders and Optionholders) pursuant to the terms of the Escrow Agreement and (iii) the Per Share Portion of any unused portion of the Representative
Holdback Amount released by the Representative in its sole discretion. For purposes of this Agreement, the term “Closing Cash Proceeds” means (i) Ninety-Seven
Million Five Hundred Thousand Dollars ($97,500,000.00) (the “Transaction Price™), minus (ii) the amount of Funded Indebtedness outstanding as of the close of
business on the day immediately prior to the Closing Date, minus (iii) the amount of Capital Lease Obligations outstanding as of the close of business on the day
immediately prior to the Closing Date, plus (iv) the amount of Cash as of the close of business on the day immediately prior to the Closing Date, plus (v) the
aggregate exercise price of all outstanding Options as to which the Per Share Portion of the Closing Cash Proceeds (excluding, for this purpose, the Representative
Holdback Amount) exceeds the applicable exercise price per share of such Option (the “In The Money Options™), minus (vi) the Representative Holdback Amount,
minus (vii) all Transaction Expenses, minus (viii) the General Escrow Amount, minus (ix) the Adjustment Escrow Amount, minus (x) the Deferred Option Bonus
Amount, minus (xi) the Closing Net Tax Amount, plus (xii) the Performance Bonus Tax Amount plus (xiii) the aggregate amount of all filing fees and local counsel
fees payable in connection with the filings
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described in the first sentence of Section 10.04(a). The Transaction Price is subject to adjustment pursuant to Section 3.03(a) below. The aggregate consideration to
which holders of Company Stock become entitled pursuant to this Section 2.02(a) is collectively referred to herein as the “Common Merger Consideration” and,
together with the Option Merger Consideration, the “Merger Consideration.”

(b) Each share of Company Stock held immediately prior to the Effective Time by the Company as treasury stock or by the Merger Sub shall be
canceled, and no payment shall be made with respect thereto.

(c) Each share of the Merger Sub’s common stock issued and outstanding immediately prior to the Effective Time shall be converted into and become
one (1) validly issued, fully paid and non-assessable share of Common Stock, par value One Dollar ($1.00) per share, of the Surviving Corporation.

Section 2.03 Exchange of Certificates: Lost Certificates: Paying Agent. The Purchaser shall act as paying agent (a) in effecting the exchange of cash for
certificates which, immediately prior to the Closing, represented shares of Company Stock (“Certificates™) and which are converted into the right to payment
pursuant to Section 2.02 and (b) in effecting the payments in consideration for the cancellation of Options as set forth in Section 2.04. At or after the Effective
Time, each Stockholder shall surrender to the Purchaser Certificates, duly endorsed in blank or accompanied by duly executed stock powers, together with a duly
executed Letter of Transmittal, representing the number of shares of Company Stock held by such holder. On the later of the Closing Date or one (1) Business Day
after surrender of such Certificates, the Purchaser shall pay each Stockholder who has surrendered his, her or its Certificates, duly endorsed in blank or
accompanied by duly executed stock powers, together with a duly executed Letter of Transmittal, and each Optionholder the amount of cash to which he, she or it
is entitled under Section 2.02 or Section 2.04, as applicable. Surrendered Certificates shall forthwith be canceled. Until so surrendered and exchanged, each such
Certificate shall represent solely the right to receive the Merger Consideration into which the shares it theretofore represented shall have been converted pursuant to
Section 2.02, and the Surviving Corporation shall not be required to pay the holder thereof the cash to which he, she or it would otherwise have been entitled.
Notwithstanding the foregoing, if any such Certificate shall have been lost, stolen or destroyed, then, upon the making of an affidavit of such fact by the Person
claiming such certificate to be lost, stolen or destroyed and the providing of an indemnity by such Person, in form and substance reasonably satisfactory to the
Purchaser, against any claim that may be made against it with respect to such certificate, the Purchaser shall issue, in exchange for such lost, stolen or destroyed
Certificate, the Merger Consideration to be paid in respect of the shares of Company Stock represented by such Certificate, as contemplated by this ARTICLE I1.

Section 2.04 Options. The Company shall cause all outstanding Options to be canceled as of the Effective Time, and at the Effective Time (x) each In The
Money Option Holder that has delivered to the Purchaser an Option Cancellation Agreement shall become entitled to receive in respect of such outstanding In The
Money Option: (a) an amount in cash equal to the product of (i) the excess of the Per Share Portion of the Closing Cash Proceeds over the applicable exercise price
per share of such Option, multiplied by (ii) the number of shares of Company Stock such holder could have purchased if such holder had exercised such Option in
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full (and paid the applicable exercise price in respect thereof) immediately prior to such time (the “Exercisable Shares), which amount shall be payable to the holder
thereof at the Closing (b) an amount in cash equal to the product of (i) the Per Share Portion of the General Escrow Funds and Adjustment Escrow Funds
distributed to the Representative (on behalf of the Stockholders and Optionholders) pursuant to Section 3.03 or otherwise, multiplied by (ii) the Exercisable Shares of
such Optionholder, and (c) and an amount in cash equal to the product of (i) the Per Share Portion of any portion of the Representative Holdback Amount released
by the Representative in its sole discretion multiplied by (i) the Exercisable Shares of such Optionholder; and (y) each holder of an Option that is not an In The
Money Option (together with the In The Money Optionholders, the “Optionholders™) shall be entitled to receive no consideration in respect thereof. Prior to the
Closing Date, the Company shall obtain all consents necessary to give effect to the transactions set forth in the foregoing sentence. The aggregate consideration to
which Optionholders become entitled pursuant to this Section 2.04 is collectively referred to herein as the “Option Merger Consideration.” The Purchaser and the
Company (and any other Person that has any withholding obligation with respect to any payment made pursuant to this Section 2.04) shall be entitled to deduct and
withhold from any payments to be made pursuant to this Section 2.04 any Taxes required to be deducted and withheld with respect to the making of such payments
under the Code or any other applicable provision of Law. To the extent that amounts are so withheld, such withheld amounts shall be treated for all purposes of this
Agreement as having been paid to such Optionholder on behalf of whom such deduction and withholding was made. In order to ensure compliance with all
applicable Tax withholding requirements, the Representative, the Purchaser and the Surviving Corporation have determined that the Representative may pay or direct
payment of any funds which are to be paid to or for the benefit of the Optionholders (including any portion of the General Escrow Funds, Adjustment Escrow
Funds and any portion of the Representative Holdback Amount released by the Representative) to the Surviving Corporation and have such amounts paid through the
payroll systems of the Purchaser and/or the Surviving Corporation. Upon payment of any such amounts to the Surviving Corporation, the Representative shall be
relieved of its obligation to pay such amounts to the Optionholders and the Surviving Corporation shall pay on the next regularly scheduled payroll date after the date
of such distribution to each Optionholder the amount of such funds received on behalf or for the benefit of the Optionholders multiplied by the percentage set forth
opposite such Optionholder’s name on the attached Optionholders Schedule under the caption “Percentage of Outstanding Options™ (after taking into account all
applicable Tax withholding requirements with respect to such Optionholder pursuant to this Section 2.04).

Section 2.05 Certificate of Incorporation. As of the Effective Time, the certificate of incorporation of the Surviving Corporation shall be amended and restated
to read the same as the certificate of incorporation of the Merger Sub as in effect immediately prior to the Effective Time (except that ARTICLE I thereof shall read
(The name of the Corporation is “Fluid Routing Solutions Holding Corp.”) and, as so amended and restated, shall be the certificate of incorporation of the Surviving
Corporation until amended in accordance with applicable Law.

Section 2.06 Bylaws. The bylaws of the Merger Sub in effect at the Effective Time shall be the bylaws of the Surviving Corporation (except that the title
thereof shall read “Bylaws of “Fluid Routing Solutions Holding Corp.”) and, as so amended and restated, shall be the bylaws of the Surviving Corporation until
amended in accordance with applicable Law.

16



Section 2.07 Directors and Officers. From and after the Effective Time, until successors are duly elected or appointed in accordance with applicable Law (or
their earlier resignation or removal), the directors and officers of the Merger Sub immediately prior to the Effective Time shall be the directors and officers, as
applicable, of the Surviving Corporation.

ARTICLE III

THE CLOSING: MERGER CONSIDERATION ADJUSTMENT

Section 3.01 The Closing. The closing of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement (the “Closing”) shall take place at the offices of Kirkland & Ellis
LLP located at 300 North LaSalle Street, Chicago, Illinois 60654 at 10:00 a.m. Central Time on the second Business Day following full satisfaction or due waiver of
all of the closing conditions set forth in ARTICLE IV hereof (other than those to be satisfied at the Closing) or on such other date as is mutually agreeable to the
Purchaser and the Company in writing. The date of the Closing is referred to herein as the “Closing Date.”

Section 3.02 The Closing Transactions. Subject to the terms and conditions set forth in this Agreement, the parties hereto shall consummate the following
transactions (the “Closing Transactions”) at the Closing:

(a) the Company and the Merger Sub shall cause the Certificate of Merger to be executed and filed with the Secretary of State of the State of Delaware;

(b) the Purchaser shall deliver to each holder of Company Stock such holder’s portion of the Common Merger Consideration (as determined in
accordance with Section 2.02(a)), by wire transfer of immediately available funds to the account(s) designated by the Representative;

(c) the Purchaser shall deliver to the Company an aggregate amount equal to the Option Merger Consideration (for distribution by the Company to each
Optionholder of such holder’s portion of the Option Merger Consideration (as determined in accordance with Section 2.04)), by wire transfer of immediately
available funds to the account(s) designated by the Representative;

(d) the Purchaser shall repay, or cause to be repaid, on behalf of the Company, all amounts necessary to discharge fully the then-outstanding balance of
all Funded Indebtedness identified on the certificate delivered pursuant to Section 4.01(e)(iii) by wire transfer of immediately available funds to the account(s)
designated by the holders of such Funded Indebtedness;

(e) the Purchaser shall deliver (i) the General Escrow Amount to the Escrow Agent for deposit into an escrow account (the “General Escrow
Account”) established pursuant to the terms of the Escrow Agreement and (ii) the Adjustment Escrow Amount to the Escrow Agent for deposit into an escrow
account (the “Adjustment Escrow Account”) established pursuant to the terms of the Escrow Agreement;
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(f) the Purchaser shall deliver the Representative Holdback Amount to the Representative;

(g) the Purchaser shall pay, on behalf of the Company, all Transaction Expenses to each Person who is owed a portion thereof (it being understood that
all such payments shall be deductions from the Transaction Price as set forth in Section 2.02 hereof);

(h) the Purchaser shall deliver to the Company an aggregate amount equal to the Deferred Option Bonus Amount (for distribution by the Company to
each Optionholder who is owed a portion thereof as set forth on the Deferred Option Bonus Amount Schedule), by wire transfer of immediately available funds to
the account(s) designated by the Representative; and

(i) the Purchaser, the Merger Sub, the Company and the Representative (on behalf of the Stockholders and the Optionholders) shall make such other
deliveries as are required by ARTICLE IV hereof.

For the avoidance of doubt, and notwithstanding anything contained herein to the contrary, the failure of any Stockholder or Optionholder to
satisty any of the deliveries set forth in Section 2.03, Section 2.04 or Section 4.01(k) shall not affect the Purchaser’s obligations to deliver to any other Stockholder
or Optionholder the portion of the Merger Consideration to which such other Stockholder or Optionholder is entitled at Closing.

Section 3.03 Net Working Capital Adjustment.

(a) At least three (3) Business Days prior to the Closing Date, the Company shall prepare and deliver to the Purchaser a statement of its good-faith
estimate of (x) the Company’s Net Working Capital (calculated consistently with the Target Net Working Capital, using the same accounting methods, policies,
practices, procedures or estimation methods as those used for the purpose of determining the Target Net Working Capital) as of the close of business on the day
immediately prior to the Closing Date (the “Estimated Closing Net Working Capital”’) based on the Company’s books and records and other information then available
and (y) the Net Tax Amount (the “Closing Net Tax Amount”). At the Closing and calculated on a basis consistent with the Net Working Capital Schedule:

(i) if the Estimated Closing Net Working Capital is less than the Target Net Working Capital, the Transaction Price shall be reduced by an
amount equal to such deficiency; and

(ii) if the Estimated Closing Net Working Capital exceeds the Target Net Working Capital, the Transaction Price shall be increased by an
amount equal to such excess.

(b) As promptly as practicable after the Closing, but in no event later than sixty (60) days after the Closing Date, the Purchaser shall prepare and deliver
to the Representative (on behalf of the Stockholders and Optionholders) a statement of Net Working Capital of the Company as of the close of business on the day
immediately prior to the Closing Date (the “Statement™), which shall be prepared in accordance with GAAP and on a basis consistent with the Net Working Capital

Schedule (the “Closing Net Working Capital”).
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(c) The post-Closing purchase price adjustment as set forth in this Section 3.03 is not intended to permit the introduction of different accounting
methods, policies, practices, procedures or estimation methods for the purpose of determining the amount of the Closing Net Working Capital from those used in
determining the amount of the Target Net Working Capital, it being the intent of the parties hereto that the Closing Net Working Capital shall be and will be calculated
consistently with the Target Net Working Capital in order to allow a meaningful comparison of the Closing Net Working Capital to the Target Net Working Capital.
Notwithstanding anything else in this Agreement to the contrary, (i) to the extent that the Statement corrects an error or an inconsistency, or noncompliance with an
accounting procedure that was used in the calculation of the Target Net Working Capital, then either the Closing Net Working Capital or Target Net Working Capital
shall be reduced or increased as a result of such error, inconsistency or noncompliance, as appropriate, to reflect such error, inconsistency or noncompliance, and
(ii) if the same item would be reflected differently on the Statement than in the calculations of the Target Net Working Capital set forth on the Net Working Capital
Schedule, the parties hereto will equitably adjust the calculation of either the Closing Net Working Capital or Target Net Working Capital so as to result in consistent
treatment.

(d) The Surviving Corporation and the Purchaser shall (i) permit the Representative and its representatives to have full access to the books, records and
other documents (including work papers, schedules, financial statements, memoranda, etc.) pertaining to or used in connection with the preparation of the Statement
and provide the Representative with copies thereof (as reasonably requested by the Representative) and (ii) provide the Representative and its representatives full
access to the Purchaser’s and the Surviving Corporation’s employees and accountants as reasonably requested by the Representative (including making the
Surviving Corporation’s chief financial officer and accountants available to respond to reasonable written or oral inquiries of the Representative or its representatives)
with respect to the Statement or the matters set forth therein. If the Representative disagrees with any part of the Purchaser’s calculation of the Closing Net
Working Capital as set forth on the Statement, the Representative shall, within sixty (60) days after the Representative’s receipt of the Statement, notify the
Purchaser in writing of such disagreement by setting forth the Representative’s calculation of the Closing Net Working Capital and describing in reasonable detail the
basis for such disagreement (an “Objection Notice”). If an Objection Notice is delivered to the Purchaser, then the Purchaser and the Representative shall negotiate
in good faith to resolve their disagreements with respect to the computation of the Closing Net Working Capital. In the event that the Purchaser and the
Representative are unable to resolve all such disagreements within thirty (30) days after the Purchaser’s receipt of such Objection Notice, the Purchaser and the
Representative shall submit such remaining disagreements to Deloitte LLP, or a nationally-recognized valuation or consulting firm as is acceptable to the Purchaser
and the Representative (the “Valuation Firm”).

(e) The Purchaser and the Representative shall use commercially reasonable efforts to cause the Valuation Firm to resolve all remaining disagreements
with respect to the computation of the Closing Net Working Capital as soon as practicable, but in any event shall direct the Valuation Firm to render a reasoned
written determination within sixty (60) days after its retention. The Valuation Firm shall consider only those items and amounts in the Surviving Corporation’s
certified public accountants’ and the Representative’s respective calculations of the Closing Net Working Capital that are identified as being items and amounts to
which the
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Surviving Corporation’s certified public accountants and the Representative have been unable to agree. In resolving any disputed item, the Valuation Firm may not
assign a value to any item greater than the greatest value for such item claimed by either party or less than the smallest value for such item claimed by either party.
The Valuation Firm’s determination of the Closing Net Working Capital shall be based solely on written materials submitted by the Purchaser and the Representative
(Le., not on independent review) and on the definition of “Net Working Capital” included herein. The determination of the Valuation Firm shall be conclusive and
binding upon the parties hereto and shall not be subject to appeal or further review.

() The costs and expenses of the Valuation Firm in determining the Closing Net Working Capital shall be borne by the Purchaser, on the one hand, and
the Representative (on behalf of the Stockholders and the Optionholders), on the other hand, based upon the percentage which the portion of the contested amount
not awarded to each party bears to the amount actually contested by such party. For example, if the Purchaser claims the Closing Net Working Capital is $1,000 less
than the amount determined by the Representative, and the Representative contests only $500 of the amount claimed by the Purchaser, and if the Valuation Firm
ultimately resolves the dispute by awarding the Purchaser $300 of the $500 contested, then the costs and expenses of the Valuation Firm will be allocated sixty
percent (60%) (i.e., 300 + 500) to the Representative (on behalf of the Stockholders and Optionholders) and forty percent (40%) (i.e., 200 + 500) to the Purchaser.
In connection with its determination of Closing Net Working Capital, the Valuation Firm shall, pursuant to the terms of this Section 3.03(f), also determine the
allocation of its fees and expenses between the Purchaser and the Representative (on behalf of the Stockholders and the Optionholders), which such determination
shall be conclusive and binding upon the parties hereto.

(g) Within five (5) Business Days after the Closing Net Working Capital is finally determined pursuant to this Section 3.03:

(1) if the Closing Net Working Capital is less than the Estimated Closing Net Working Capital, the Purchaser and the Representative shall cause
the Escrow Agent (i) to pay to the Purchaser from the Adjustment Escrow Funds an amount (which in no case shall exceed the amount of the Adjustment Escrow
Funds) equal to such deficiency, (ii) to pay to the Purchaser from the General Escrow Funds an amount (if any) (which in no case shall exceed the amount of the
General Escrow Funds) equal to the amount by which such deficiency exceeds the amount paid to the Purchaser pursuant to clause (i) above and (iii) to pay to the
Representative (on behalf of the Stockholders and the Optionholders) the amount (if any) by which the amount of the Adjustment Escrow Funds is greater than such
deficiency; and

(i) if the Closing Net Working Capital is greater than the Estimated Closing Net Working Capital, the Purchaser shall pay to the Representative
(on behalf of the Stockholders and Optionholders) an amount (the “Company Adjustment Amount™) equal to such excess.

b}

Any payment to be made pursuant to this Section 3.03(g) (the “Purchase Price Adjustments”) shall include interest on the excess or deficiency, as applicable, at a
rate per annum equal to the prime rate of interest reported from time to time in The Wall Street Journal, calculated on the basis of the actual number of days elapsed
over three hundred sixty (360), from the Closing Date
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to the date of payment. All Purchase Price Adjustments, other than payments of stated interest, shall (x) be treated by all parties for tax purposes as adjustments to
the Transaction Price and (y) be made by wire transfer of immediately available funds to the account(s) designated by the Purchaser or the Representative, as
applicable. The payments described in Section 3.03(g)(i) shall be the sole and exclusive remedy of the Purchaser for any and all claims arising under this Agreement
with respect to this Section 3.03.

ARTICLE IV

CONDITIONS TO CLOSING

Section 4.01 Conditions to the Purchaser’s and the Merger Sub’s Obligations. The obligations of the Purchaser and the Merger Sub to consummate the
transactions contemplated by this Agreement are subject to the satisfaction or waiver of the following conditions at or prior to the Effective Time:

(a) (X) the representations and warranties set forth in ARTICLE V of this Agreement, other than the Capitalization Representations, which are qualified
by materiality shall be true and correct, and those not qualified by materiality shall be true and correct in all material respects, in each case, as of the date of this
Agreement and as of the Closing Date as though made as of such date, except (i) to the extent that the amount of any Losses resulting from the failure of such
representations and warranties to be true and correct would not reasonably be expected to exceed the General Escrow Amount and (ii) for those representations and
warranties which expressly relate to an earlier date (in which case such representations and warranties qualified by materiality shall be true and correct, and those
not qualified by materiality shall be true and correct in all material respects, in each case, as of such earlier date except to the extent that the amount of any Losses
resulting from the failure of such representations and warranties to have been true and correct as of such earlier date would not reasonably be expected to exceed
the General Escrow Amount) and (Y) the Capitalization Representations are true and correct as of the date of this Agreement and as of the Closing Date as though
made as of such date;

(b) the Company shall have performed and complied with in all material respects all of the covenants and agreements required to be performed and
complied with by it under this Agreement at or prior to the Closing;

(c) all consents which are set forth on the attached Required Authorizations Schedule shall have been obtained by the Company;

(d) no action or proceeding before any Governmental Body shall be pending wherein an unfavorable Order would prevent the performance of this
Agreement or the consummation of any of the transactions contemplated hereby, declare unlaw ful the transactions contemplated by this Agreement or cause such
transactions to be rescinded;
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(e) the Company shall have delivered to the Purchaser each of the following:

(i) a certificate signed by an officer of the Company, dated as of the Closing Date, certifying that the conditions specified in Sections 4.01(a)
and 4.01(b) have been satisfied,;

(ii) a certificate signed by the Secretary or Assistant Secretary of the Company, dated as of the Closing Date, certifying (A) that the certificates
of incorporation (or equivalent governing documents) of the Company and each of its Subsidiaries attached as exhibits to such certificate have not been amended or
rescinded since the date of such certification and remain in full force and effect as of the Closing, (B) that the bylaws (or equivalent governing documents) of the
Company and each of its Subsidiaries attached as exhibits to such certificate have not been amended or rescinded since the respective dates of such bylaws (or
equivalent governing documents) and remain in full force and effect as of the Closing, (C) that the copies of the resolutions adopted by the board of directors of the
Company regarding this Agreement and the transactions contemplated hereby and attached as one (1) or more exhibits to such certificate are genuine, complete,
accurate and remain in full force and effect as of the Closing, and (D) as to the incumbency of, and the names and signatures of the officers of, the Company
authorized to execute and deliver this Agreement and the Company Documents on behalf of the Company;

(iii) a certificate signed by an officer of the Company, dated as of the Closing Date, setting forth the Company’s good faith estimate of (a) the
Funded Indebtedness and (b) the Transaction Expenses;

(iv) certified copies of the certificate of incorporation of the Company and each of its domestic Subsidiaries issued and certified by the
Secretary of State of the State of Delaware (or, in the case of entities not incorporated in Delaware, equivalent organizational documents issued and certified by an
equivalent official) not more than ten (10) Business Days prior to the Closing Date; and

(v) good-standing certificates for the Company and each of its domestic Subsidiaries issued and certified by the Secretary of State of the State
of Delaware (or, in the case of entities not incorporated in Delaware, equivalent documents issued and certified by an equivalent official) dated not more than ten
(10) Business Days prior to the Closing Date;

() the Certificate of Merger shall have been duly filed with the Secretary of State of the State of Delaware;
(g) the Escrow Agreement shall have been executed by the Escrow Agent and the Representative and shall have been delivered to the Purchaser;

(h) the Company shall have delivered to the Purchaser appropriate payoff letters from the holders of Funded Indebtedness and shall have made
arrangements reasonably satisfactory to the Purchaser for such holders of Funded Indebtedness to deliver all related Lien releases to the Purchaser;
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(i) there shall not have been or occurred any events, changes, occurrences or circumstances that, individually or in the aggregate, have had or would
reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect since the date of the Latest Balance Sheet;

(j) that certain Consulting Agreement, dated as of March 27, 2009, by and between the Company and the Sun Manager (the “Consulting Agreement”)
shall have been terminated pursuant to the Consulting Termination Agreement;

(k) the Company shall have entered into an Option Cancellation Agreement with each Optionholder;

(1) the Company or its Subsidiaries, as applicable, shall have entered into a Success Fee Agreement Release with the employee who is a party to the
Success Fee Agreement and a Bonus Agreement Release with each Person who is a party to a Bonus Agreement;

(m) the Non-Solicitation Agreement shall have been executed by each of the Representative and the Affiliate of the Representative set forth in Exhibit G
and shall have been delivered to the Purchaser;

(n) if required pursuant to Section 10.03(g), the Company shall have delivered to the Purchaser evidence that the Section 280G Stockholder Vote
described in Section 10.03(g) has occurred; and

(o) with respect to the Owned Real Property, the Purchaser shall have received all customary title affidavits, transfer documentation, if any, certificates
and other standard documentation executed by the Company as may be reasonably necessary for the Purchaser’s title company to be irrevocably committed to issue
title insurance policies or updates to policies for each parcel of the Owned Real Property, each in a form reasonably acceptable to Purchaser, insuring title to such
Real Property, free and clear of all Liens other than Permitted Liens, providing for deletion of the so called “standard exceptions,” and including the following
owner’s policy endorsements as applicable and commercially available at the Purchaser’s sole cost: contiguity, “same as survey,” ALTA comprehensive, access, tax
parcel and utility/facility, non-imputation, easement and zoning.

Section 4.02 Conditions to the Company’s Obligations. The obligation of the Company to consummate the transactions contemplated by this Agreement is
subject to the satisfaction or waiver of the following conditions at or prior to the Effective Time:

(a) the representations and warranties set forth in ARTICLE VI of this Agreement qualified as to materiality shall be true and correct, and those not
qualified by materiality shall be true and correct in all material respects, in each case, as of the date of this Agreement and as of the Closing Date, except to the extent
that such representations and warranties expressly speak as of an earlier date (in which case such representations and warranties qualified as to materiality shall be
true and correct, and those not qualified by materiality shall be true and correct in all material respects, in each case, on and as of such earlier date);
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(b) the Purchaser and the Merger Sub shall have performed and complied with in all material respects all the covenants and agreements required to be
performed and complied with by them under this Agreement at or prior to the Closing;

(c) all consents which are set forth on the attached Required Authorizations Schedule shall have been obtained,

(d) no action or proceeding before any Governmental Body shall be pending wherein an unfavorable Order would prevent the performance of this
Agreement or the consummation of any of the transactions contemplated hereby, declare unlawful the transactions contemplated by this Agreement or cause such
transactions to be rescinded;

(e) the Purchaser shall have delivered to the Representative (on behalf of the Stockholders and the Optionholders) a certificate, dated as of the Closing
Date, certifying that the conditions specified in Sections 4.02(a) and 4.02(b) have been satisfied;

(f) the Purchaser shall have delivered to the Representative (on behalf of the Stockholders and Optionholders) a certificate signed by an officer of the
Purchaser, dated as of the Closing Date, certifying (A) that the certificate of incorporation of the Purchaser attached as an exhibit to such certificate has not been
amended or rescinded since the date of such certification and remains in full force and effect as of the Closing, (B) that the bylaws of the Purchaser attached as an
exhibit to such certificate have not been amended or rescinded since the date of such bylaws and remain in full force and effect as of the Closing, (C) that the copies
of the resolutions adopted by the board of directors of the Purchaser regarding this Agreement and the transactions contemplated hereby and attached as one (1) or
more exhibits to such certificate are genuine, complete, accurate and remain in full force and effect as of the Closing, and (D) as to the incumbency of, and the
names and signatures of, the officers of the Purchaser authorized to execute and deliver this Agreement and the Purchaser Documents on behalf of the Purchaser;

(g) the Purchaser shall have delivered to the Representative (on behalf of the Stockholders and Optionholders) a certificate signed by an officer of the
Merger Sub, dated as of the Closing Date, certifying (A) that the certificate of incorporation of the Merger Sub attached as an exhibit to such certificate has not been
amended or rescinded since the date of such certification and remains in full force and effect as of the Closing, (B) that the bylaws of the Merger Sub attached as an
exhibit to such certificate have not been amended or rescinded since the date of such bylaws and remain in full force and effect as of the Closing, (C) that the copies
of the resolutions adopted by the board of directors of the Merger Sub and the stockholders of the Merger Sub regarding this Agreement and the transactions
contemplated hereby and attached as one (1) or more exhibits to such certificate are genuine, complete, accurate and remain in full force and effect as of the
Closing, and (D) as to the incumbency of, and the names and signatures of the officers of the Purchaser authorized to execute and deliver this Agreement and the
Merger Sub Documents on behalf of the Merger Sub;

(h) the Escrow Agreement shall have been executed by the Escrow Agent and the Purchaser and shall have been delivered to the Company;
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(i) the Merger Consideration, the General Escrow Amount, the Adjustment Escrow Amount, the Representative Holdback Amount and all other
payments required to be made by the Purchaser hereunder shall have been delivered by the Purchaser pursuant to the terms of this Agreement; and

(j) the Certificate of Merger shall have been duly filed with the Secretary of State of the State of Delaware.

Section 4.03 Conditions to All Parties’ Obligations. The obligation of each of the Company, the Purchaser and the Merger Sub to consummate the transactions
contemplated by this Agreement is subject to the satisfaction or waiver of the following conditions as of at or prior to the Effective Time:

(a) the Stockholder Approval shall have been delivered by the Company to the Purchaser;

(b) the applicable waiting periods under the HSR Act shall have expired or been terminated, and all other Governmental Consents that are required for
the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby and set forth on the Governmental Consents Schedule shall have been made and obtained; and

(c) this Agreement shall not have been terminated in accordance with Section 9.01.
ARTICLE V
REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF THE COMPANY

The Company represents and warrants to the Purchaser that the statements in this ARTICLE V are correct and complete as of the date of this Agreement,
except as set forth in the schedules accompanying this ARTICLE V (each, a “Schedule” and, collectively, the “Disclosure Schedules™). The Disclosure Schedules
have been arranged for purposes of convenience in separate sections corresponding to the sections of this ARTICLE V; however, information disclosed on one
section of the Disclosure Schedules shall be deemed to be disclosed on another section of the Disclosure Schedules or be deemed to be an exception to another
representation and warranty in this ARTICLE V, in each case, if the relevance of such information to such other section of the Disclosure Schedules is reasonably
apparent on its face. Capitalized terms used in the Disclosure Schedules and not otherwise defined therein have the meanings given to them in this Agreement.
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Section 5.01 Organization and Corporate Power. The Company is a corporation duly organized, validly existing and in good standing under the Laws of the
State of Delaware, and the Company has all requisite corporate power and authority to own, lease and operate its properties and to carry on its businesses as now
conducted. The Company is duly qualified to do business as a foreign corporation and is in good standing (or its equivalent) in every jurisdiction in which its
ownership of property or the conduct of business as now conducted requires it to qualify, except where the failure to be so qualified would not be material to the
Company and its Subsidiaries, taken as a whole.

Section 5.02 Subsidiaries. The attached Subsidiary Schedule sets forth the name of each Subsidiary of the Company and, with respect to each Subsidiary of
the Company, the jurisdiction in which it is incorporated or organized, the number of shares of its authorized capital stock or other equity interests, the number and
class of shares or other equity interests thereof duly issued and outstanding, the names of all stockholders and other equity owners and the number of shares of
stock or other equity securities owned by each stockholder and the amount of equity owned by each equity owner. The Subsidiary Schedule also sets forth the
jurisdictions, if any, in which each Subsidiary is qualified to do business. Each Subsidiary of the Company is a duly organized and validly existing corporation or
other entity in good standing under the laws of the jurisdiction of its incorporation or organization and is duly qualified to do business as a foreign corporation or
entity and is in good standing (or its equivalent) in every jurisdiction in which the conduct of its business as now conducted or the ownership of its properties
requires it to qualify, except where the failure to be so qualified would not be material to the Company and its Subsidiaries, taken as a whole. Each Subsidiary of the
Company has all requisite corporate or entity power and authority to own its material properties and carry on its business as presently conducted in all material
respects. The outstanding shares of capital stock or other equity interests of each Subsidiary of the Company are validly issued (and, in the case of each Subsidiary
of the Company which is a domestic corporation, fully paid and non-assessable), and were not issued in violation of any purchase or call option, right of first
refusal, subscription right, preemptive right or similar right. All such shares or other equity interests represented as being owned by the Company or any of its
Subsidiaries pursuant to this Section 5.02 are owned by them free and clear of any Liens, except as set forth on the attached Subsidiary Schedule. Except as set
forth on the Subsidiary Schedule, there is no existing option, warrant, call, right or Contract to which any Subsidiary of the Company is a party requiring, and there
are no convertible securities of any Subsidiary of the Company outstanding which upon conversion would require, the issuance of any shares of capital stock or
other equity interests of any Subsidiary of the Company or other securities convertible into shares of capital stock or other equity interests of any Subsidiary of the
Company. The Company does not own or hold, directly or indirectly, any capital stock, partnership interest, joint venture interest or equity interest or securities of,
or the right to acquire any capital stock, partnership interest, joint venture interest or other equity interest in any Person other than the Subsidiaries of the Company
listed in the attached Subsidiary Schedule.

Section 5.03 Authorization; No Breach.

(a) The Company has full corporate power and authority to execute and deliver this Agreement and each other agreement, document, instrument or
certificate contemplated by this Agreement to be executed by the Company in connection with the
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transactions contemplated by this Agreement (the “Company Documents”), to perform its obligations hereunder and thereunder and to consummate the transactions
contemplated hereby and thereby. The execution, delivery and performance of this Agreement and each of the Company Documents by the Company and the
consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby and thereby have, other than the Stockholder Approval, been duly and validly authorized and approved by all
requisite corporate action, and no other corporate proceedings on its part are necessary to authorize the execution, delivery or performance of this Agreement. This
Agreement has been, and each of the Company Documents will be at or prior to the Closing, duly and validly authorized, executed and delivered by the Company,
and assuming that each of this Agreement and the Company Documents is a valid and binding obligation of the other parties hereto and thereto, this Agreement
constitutes, and each of the Company Documents when so executed and delivered will constitute, a legal, valid and binding obligation of the Company, enforceable
against the Company in accordance with its respective terms, subject to bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, moratorium and similar Laws relating to or affecting
creditors’ rights or to general principles of equity.

(b) Except for the Stockholder Approval and as set forth on the attached Authorization Schedule, the execution, delivery and performance of this
Agreement and the Company Documents by the Company and the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby and thereby, or compliance by the
Company or its Subsidiaries with any of the provisions hereof or thereof, do not and will not conflict with, result in any material breach of, require any notice under,
constitute a material default under (with or without notice or lapse of time or both), result in a material violation of, result in the creation of any Lien upon any
material properties or assets of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries under, give rise to any right of termination, cancellation or acceleration of any material
obligation or to loss of a material benefit under, or give rise to any obligation of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries to make any material payment under, any
provision of (i) the Company’s or any of its Subsidiaries’ articles of incorporation, by-laws or other organizational documents, (ii) any Contract required to be set
forth on the attached Contracts Schedule; (iii) any Permit required to be set forth on the Compliance with Laws Schedule; (iv) any Order applicable to the Company
or any of its Subsidiaries or any of the material properties or assets of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries; or (v) any applicable Law to which the Company or
any of its Subsidiaries is subject.

(c) Except as set forth on the attached Authorization Schedule, no material authorization, consent, approval, exemption, waiver, Order, Permit or other
action by, authorization of, declaration or filing with, or notification to any Governmental Body is required on the part of the Company or its Subsidiaries in
connection with the execution, delivery and performance of this Agreement and the Company Documents, respectively, the compliance by the Company and its
Subsidiaries with any of the provisions hereof and thereof, or the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby or thereby, except for compliance with the
applicable requirements of the HSR Act and Other Antitrust Regulations.

Section 5.04 Capital Stock.

(a) The authorized capital stock of the Company consists of (i) 1,200,000 shares of Voting Common Stock, of which 992,666 shares are issued and
outstanding as of the date hereof and are held of record as indicated on the attached Stockholders Schedule
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(ii) 1,900,000 shares of Non-Voting Common Stock, of which 7,334 shares are issued and outstanding as of the date hereof and are held of record as indicated on
the attached Stockholders Schedule and 85,000 are issuable upon exercise of outstanding Options as of the date hereof and are held of record as indicated on the
Stockholders Schedule and (iii) 100,000 shares of Preferred Stock, of which no shares are issued or outstanding as of the date hereof. All of the issued and
outstanding shares of Company Stock are validly issued and are fully paid and non-assessable and were not issued in violation of any purchase or call option, right of
first refusal, subscription right, preemptive right or similar rights. The attached Stockholders Schedule sets forth the identity of the holders of each outstanding share
of Company Stock and the number of shares held by each such Person. All of the outstanding shares of Company Stock are owned of record by the holders as set
forth in the attached Stockholders Schedule.

(b) The attached Optionholders Schedule sets forth the identity of the holders of each outstanding Option and the respective number of shares of
Company Stock subject to each such outstanding Option and the applicable exercise price, expiration date and vesting date. Except for the Options described in the
attached Optionholders Schedule, there are no (i) existing options, warrants, scrip, rights to subscribe to, purchase rights, calls or commitments of any character
whatsoever relating to or requiring the issuance, sale or transfer of any shares of capital stock of the Company or securities containing any equity features of the
Company or other securities convertible into, exchangeable for or evidencing the right to subscribe for or purchase shares of capital stock or other equity securities
of the Company or (ii) Contracts, commitments, understandings or arrangements by which the Company is bound requiring the issuance of capital stock of the
Company or securities containing any equity features of the Company or options, warrants, scrip, rights to subscribe to, purchase rights, calls or commitments of
any character whatsoever relating to or requiring the issuance, sale or transfer of any shares of capital stock of the Company or securities containing any equity
features of the Company or other securities convertible into, exchangeable for or evidencing the right to subscribe for or purchase shares of capital stock or other
equity securities of the Company. Except as set forth in the attached Optionholders Schedule, there are no outstanding stock appreciation, phantom stock, profit
participation or similar rights with respect to the Company or any of its Subsidiaries. There are no bonds, debentures, notes or other indebtedness of the Company or
its Subsidiaries having the right to vote or consent (or, convertible into, or exchangeable for, securities having the right to vote or consent) on any matters on which
stockholders (or other equityholders) of the Company or its Subsidiaries may vote. Except as set forth on the Stockholders Schedule or Optionholders Schedule,
there are no voting trusts, irrevocable proxies or other Contracts or understandings to which the Company or any Subsidiary of the Company or any Stockholder or
the Representative is a party or is bound with respect to the voting or consent of any shares of Company Stock or the equity interests of any Subsidiary of the
Company.

Section 5.05 Financial Statements.

(a) The attached Financial Statements Schedule consists of: (a) the Company’s unaudited consolidated balance sheet as of December 31, 2011,
(the “Latest Balance Sheet”) and the related consolidated statements of income and cash flows for the eight (8) month period then ended and (b) the Company’s
audited consolidated balance sheets and audited consolidated statements of income and cash flows for the fiscal years ended March 31, 2010 and March 31, 2011
(the documents in clauses (a) and (b) above are referred to herein collectively as
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the “Financial Statements™). The Financial Statements are based upon the information contained in the Company’s and its Subsidiaries’ books and records, were
prepared in conformity with GAAP, and present fairly in all material respects the consolidated financial condition and results of operations and cash flows of the
Company and its Subsidiaries as of the times and for the periods referred to therein, subject solely in the case of the unaudited financial statements to (i) the absence
of footnote disclosures and other presentation items and (ii) changes resulting from normal year-end adjustments.

(b) All books, records and accounts of the Company and its Subsidiaries are accurate, complete and maintained in all material respects in accordance
with all applicable Laws.

Section 5.06 Absence of Certain Developments. Except as set forth on the attached Developments Schedule, since the date of the Latest Balance Sheet,
(i) there have not been any events, changes, occurrences or circumstances that, individually or in the aggregate, have had or would reasonably be expected to have a
Material Adverse Effect and (ii) the Company and its Subsidiaries have conducted their respective businesses in the Ordinary Course of Business in all material
respects. Except as set forth on the Developments Schedule and except as expressly contemplated by this Agreement, since the date of the Latest Balance Sheet,
neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries has engaged in any material transaction that was not in the Ordinary Course of Business. Without limiting the
generality of the foregoing, and except as set forth on the Developments Schedule and except as expressly contemplated by this Agreement, since the date of the
Latest Balance Sheet, neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries has:

(a) amended or modified its certificate of incorporation or bylaws (or equivalent organizational documents)j;

(b) issued, sold or delivered any of its capital stock or any options, warrants, convertible or exchangeable securities, subscriptions, rights, stock
appreciation rights, calls or commitments of any kind with respect to its capital stock;

(c) entered into, amended or modified any employment or consulting agreement which provides for annual base compensation in excess of $50,000
(except for compensation increases and decreases in the Ordinary Course of Business) or which is not terminable at will with no further liability or material increase
in the coverage or benefits available under any (or create any new) Plan (other than any employment or consulting agreement as set forth in this Section 5.06(c)) or
otherwise materially modified, amended or terminated any Plan except as may be required to comply with applicable Law;

(d) entered into or modified any collective bargaining agreement, side letter, representation or neutrality agreement, representation or election agreement,
or other Contract with any labor union or other representative of the employees of the Company or of any of its Subsidiaries;

(e) declared, set aside, paid or made any dividend or other distribution or payment to its stockholders with respect to any shares of its capital stock or
other securities or ownership interests or any repurchase, redemption or other acquisition of any outstanding share of its capital stock or other securities or
ownership interest;
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(f) adopted a plan of liquidation, dissolution, bankruptcy, merger, consolidation or other reorganization;
(g) made any change in its accounting methods, principles or practices, other than in a manner consistent with GAAP;

(h) made any loan or advance to any of its officers, directors, employees or consultants (other than in the Ordinary Course of Business) or made any
loan, advance, capital contribution or nvestment in any Person (other than the Company or any of its wholly owned Subsidiaries) or paid any fees or expenses to
any Stockholder or any director, officer, partner, stockholder or Affiliate of any Stockholder;

(i) made or modified any commitment to pay severance to any of its officers, directors, employees or consultants;

(j) made or committed to make any capital expenditures or capital additions or betterments in excess of $250,000 in any one case or $750,000 in the
aggregate;

(k) incurred any indebtedness for borrowed money (other than indebtedness that will be Funded Indebtedness at the time of Closing);

(1) made any acquisition of all or any material part of the assets, properties, capital stock or business of any other Person, other than purchases of
mventory in the Ordinary Course of Business;

(m) incurred any damage, destruction or loss, whether or not covered by insurance, with respect to its property and assets having a replacement cost
of more than $50,000 for any single loss or $100,000 for all such losses;

(n) other than in the Ordinary Course of Business, failed to promptly pay and discharge material current liabilities except where disputed in good faith;

(o) canceled or compromised any debt or claim or amended, canceled, terminated, relinquished, waived or released any Contract or right which is
material to the Company and its Subsidiaries taken as a whole;

(p) been named as a defendant in, instituted or settled any Proceeding where the amount at issue was in excess of $100,000;

(q) (i) made any change in the Tax reporting or accounting principles, practices or policies, including with respect to (A) depreciation or amortization
policies or rates or (B) the payment of accounts payable or the collection of accounts receivable, (i) settled or compromised any Tax liability, (iii) made, changed or
rescinded any Tax election, (iv) surrendered any right in respect of Taxes, (v) amended any Tax Return or (vi) consented to any extension or waiver of the limitation
period applicable to any claim or assessment in respect of Taxes; or
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(r) entered into any Contract to do anything set forth in clauses (a) through (q) of this Section 5.06.
Section 5.07 Title to Properties.

(a) The Company and its Subsidiaries hold good and marketable title to, or hold a valid leasehold interest in, all of the material personal property used by
them in the conduct of their business, free and clear of all Liens, except for Permitted Liens and Liens that will be terminated at or prior to the Closing. Each such
item of material personal property is in operable condition and repair, subject to normal wear and tear.

(b) The attached Leased Real Property Schedule contains a list of all real property leased, licensed or operated through a use agreement by the Company
and its Subsidiaries (the “Leased Real Property”). The Company has delivered to Purchaser a true and complete copy of the underlying lease or respective agreement
with respect to each parcel of Leased Real Property (each, a “Lease”). Except as set forth on the Leased Real Property Schedule, with respect to each of the Leases:
(i) either the Company or one (1) of its Subsidiaries has a valid and enforceable (in accordance with its terms) leasehold interest in each Leased Real Property leased
by it; (ii) there are no existing material defaults thereunder by the Company or its Subsidiaries (as applicable) or, to the Company’s knowledge, the lessor thereof;
and (iii) no event has occurred which (with notice, lapse of time or both) would constitute a material breach or default thereunder by the Company or its Subsidiaries
(as applicable) or, to the Company’s knowledge, any other party.

(c) The attached Owned Real Property Schedule, contains a list of all real property owned, in whole or in part, by the Company and its Subsidiaries (the
“Owned Real Property”). With respect to each parcel of Owned Real Property:

(i) either the Company or a Subsidiary of the Company holds good and marketable title to such parcel of Owned Real Property, free and clear
of all Liens, other than (A) real estate Taxes and installments of special assessments not yet delinquent, (B) public roads and highways, (C) other encumbrances and
exceptions set forth on the Owned Real Property Schedule, and (D) Permitted Liens;

(ii) to the Company’s knowledge, there are no leases, subleases, licenses, concessions or other agreements (other than as may be a matter of
record disclosed by the title commitments made available to the Purchaser by the Company prior to the date hereof) granting to any party or parties the right of use
or occupancy of any portion of such parcel of Owned Real Property; and

(iii) to the Company’s knowledge, there are no outstanding options or rights of first refusal to purchase any Owned Real Property, any portion
thereof or interest therein (other than as may be a matter of record disclosed by the title commitments made available to the Purchaser by the Company prior to the
date hereof).
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(d) During the past three (3) years there has not been any material prolonged interruption in the delivery of adequate service of any utilities required in
the operation of the business of the Company and its Subsidiaries currently conducted at the Real Property and, to the knowledge of the Company or its Subsidiaries,
no fact or condition exists which would reasonably be expected to cause any material interruption during the current operating season.

Section 5.08 Tax Matters. The Company and its Subsidiaries have filed all Tax Returns which are required to be filed by them in accordance with all
applicable Laws. Except as set forth on the attached Taxes Schedule, (i) all material Taxes due and owing by the Company and its Subsidiaries (whether or not
shown as due and owing on any Tax Return) have been fully and timely paid to the appropriate taxing authority; (ii) all such Tax Returns are true, correct and
complete in all material respects; (iii) all material Taxes which the Company or any of its Subsidiaries is obligated to withhold from amounts owing to any employee,
independent contractor, creditor, stockholder or other third party have been fully paid and timely remitted to the appropriate taxing authority; (iv) no material
deficiency or proposed adjustment which has not been paid or resolved for any amount of Tax has been asserted or assessed by any taxing authority of any
Governmental Body against the Company or any of its Subsidiaries; (v) neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries has consented to extend the time in which
any Tax may be assessed or collected by any taxing authority or any Governmental Body, which extension is still in effect; (vi) there are no ongoing or pending Tax
audits (or any Tax audits that have been threatened in writing) by any taxing authority or any Governmental Body against the Company or any of its Subsidiaries;
(vii) neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries is a party to or bound by, or has any obligation under any Tax allocation, sharing, indemnity or similar Contract;
(viii) neither the Company nor any its Subsidiaries (A) has been a member of an affiliated, consolidated, combined or unitary group other than a group the common
parent of which was the Company or (B) has any liability for the Taxes of any Person (other than the Company or its Subsidiaries) under Treas. Reg. §1.1502-6 (or
any similar provision of state, local, or foreign Law), as a transferee or successor, by contract, or otherwise; (ix) neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries is
a party to any agreement, contract, arrangement or plan that has resulted or would result, separately or in the aggregate, in the payment of any “excess parachute
payment” within the meaning of Code §280G (or any corresponding provision of state, local or foreign income Tax Law), but excluding any payments made or to be
made pursuant to any employment agreement or other Contracts entered into or negotiated by the Purchaser, the Merger Sub or any of their respective Affiliates
who are Affiliates prior to the Closing; (x) neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries is currently a beneficiary of any extension of time within which to file any
Tax Return; (xi) there are no Liens for Taxes upon the assets or properties of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries, except for Permitted Liens; (xii) neither the
Company nor any of its Subsidiaries has received notice of any claim by any taxing authority or Governmental Body in a jurisdiction where the Company or such
Subsidiary of the Company does not file Tax Returns that it is or may be subject to taxation by that taxing authority or Governmental Body; (xiii) neither the
Company nor any of its Subsidiaries will be required to include any material item of income in, or exclude any material item of deduction from, taxable income for
any period or portion thereof ending after the Closing Date (A) under Code §481 (or any similar provision of state, local or foreign Law) as a result of change in
method of accounting for the Pre-Closing Tax Period, (B) pursuant to the provisions of any agreement entered into with any taxing authority or pursuant to a
“closing agreement” as defined in Code §7121 (or any similar provision of state, local or foreign Law) executed on or prior to the Closing Date, (C) as a result
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of any intercompany transactions or any excess loss account described in Treas. Reg. §1.1502-19 (or any similar provision of state, local or foreign Law), (D) as a
result of the installment method of accounting, the completed contract method of accounting or the cash method of accounting with respect to a transaction that
occurred prior to the Closing Date, (E) as a result of any prepaid amount received on or prior to the Closing Date or (F) the discharge of any indebtedness on or
prior to the Closing Date under Code §108(i); (xiv) neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries has distributed the stock of another Person, or has not had its
stock distributed by another Person, in a transaction that was purported or intended to be governed in whole or in part by Sections 355 or 361 of the Code; and
(xv) neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries has participated in any “listed transaction” as defined in Code §6707A or Treas. Reg. §1.6011-4.

Section 5.09_Contracts and Commitments.

(a) Except as set forth on the attached Contracts Schedule and except for purchase orders entered into in the Ordinary Course of Business, neither the
Company nor any of its Subsidiaries is a party to any:

(i) collective bargaining agreement, neutrality or representation agreement, or other Contract with any labor union or association representing
employees of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries;

(ii) bonus, pension, profit sharing, retirement or other form of deferred compensation plan, other than as set forth in section (a) of the
Employee Benefits Schedule;

(iii) Contract concerning the purchase of any shares of Company Stock and Options, or any other Contract or plan relating to the purchase of
stock, options or any other securities of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries;

(iv) Contract for the employment of any officer, individual employee or other person, or the hiring of an individual as an independent
contractor, providing for base compensation in excess of $75,000 per annum;

(v) Contract relating to the incurrence, assumption or guarantee of any indebtedness or borrowing of money or to mortgaging, pledging or
otherwise placing a Lien (other than a Permitted Lien) on any portion of the assets of the Company or any Subsidiary of the Company, other than any guaranty by
the Company or any Subsidiary of the Company of any obligations of the Company or any of its wholly owned Subsidiaries;

(vi) Contract under which the Company or any of its Subsidiaries is lessee of, or holds or operates any personal property owned by any other
party, for which the annual rental exceeds $100,000;

(vii) Contract under which the Company or any of its Subsidiaries is lessor of or permits any third party to hold or operate any property, real or
personal, for which the annual rental exceeds $100,000;

(viii) Contract or group of related Contracts with the same party for the purchase of products or services by the Company or any Subsidiary of
the Company, under which the undelivered balance of such products and services has a selling price in excess of $100,000;
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(ix) Contract or group of related Contracts with the same party for the sale of products or services by the Company or any Subsidiary of the
Company under which the undelivered balance of such products or services has a sales price in excess of $250,000;

(x) Contract (including purchase orders entered into in the Ordinary Course of Business) containing covenants of the Company or any
Subsidiary of the Company not to compete in any line of business or with any Person in any geographical area or not to solicit or hire any person with respect to
employment or covenants of any other Person not to compete with the Company or any Subsidiary of the Company in any line of business or in any geographical
area;

(xi) Contract relating to the licensing of Intellectual Property by the Company or any of its Subsidiaries to a third party or by a third party to the
Company or any of its Subsidiaries, other than licenses for off-the-shelf software;

(xii) other Contract affecting the Company’s or any of its Subsidiaries’ ability to use or disclose any Intellectual Property material to the
Company and its Subsidiaries;

(xiil) Contract relating to any joint venture;

(xiv) Contract for the sale of any of the assets of the Company or any Subsidiary of the Company other than in the Ordinary Course of
Business or for the grant to any Person of any preferential rights to purchase any of the assets of the Company or any Subsidiary of the Company other than in the
Ordinary Course of Business;

(xv) Contract providing for the acquisition (by merger, purchase of stock or assets or otherwise) by the Company or any Subsidiary of the
Company of any operating business or material assets or the capital stock of any other Person;

(xvi) Contract obligating the Company or any Subsidiary of the Company to provide or obtain products of services for a period of one year or
more or requiring the Company or any of its Subsidiaries to purchase or sell a stated portion of its requirements or outputs;

(xvii) Contract under which the Company or any Subsidiary of the Company has made material advances or loans to any other Person; and

(xviii) Contract (or group of related Contracts) which involve the expenditure of more than $100,000 annually or $250,000 in the aggregate by
the Company or any Subsidiary of the Company or require performance by any party more than one year from the date hereof.

(b) Each of the Contracts listed or required to be listed on the Contracts Schedule is in full force and effect, and is the legal, valid and binding obligation
of the Company or the Subsidiary of the Company which is party thereto, and, to the knowledge of the Company,
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of the other parties thereto enforceable against each of them in accordance with its terms. Neither the Company nor any Subsidiary of the Company (as applicable)
is in material default under any Contract listed on the Contracts Schedule, and, to the knowledge of the Company, the other party to each of the Contracts listed on
the Contracts Schedule is not in material default thereunder and no event has occurred that with the lapse of time or the giving of notice or both would constitute a
material breach or default on the part of the Company, or any Subsidiary of the Company or, to the knowledge of the Company, any other party thereunder. To the
knowledge of the Company, no party to any Contract listed on the Contracts Schedule has exercised any termination rights with respect thereto, and no party has
given notice of any significant dispute with respect to any Contract listed on the Contracts Schedule. The Company has made available to Purchaser true, correct
and complete copies of each Contract listed on the Contracts Schedule, together with all amendments, modifications or supplements thereto.

Section 5.10 Intellectual Property.

(a) All registered trademarks, applications to register trademarks, copyrights, Internet domain names, patents and patent applications owned by the
Company or any of its Subsidiaries are set forth on the attached Intellectual Property Schedule (together with all other Intellectual Property owned or used by the
Company or any of its Subsidiaries, the “Company Intellectual Property”). No Company Intellectual Property set forth on the Intellectual Property Schedule has been
abandoned. All renewal and maintenance fees, taxes, annuities and other fees payable in respect of the Company Intellectual Property set forth on the Intellectual
Property Schedule and due before Closing have been paid in full through Closing.

(b) To the knowledge of the Company, (i) the operation of the Company and its Subsidiaries as currently conducted, including the manufacture, use,
sale and importation of products of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries and the possession, use, disclosure, copying or distribution of any information, data,
products or other tangible or intangible in the possession of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries, and the possession or use of the Company Intellectual Property
has not and does not infringe, misappropriate, dilute, violate or otherwise conflict with any Intellectual Property right of any other Person, and (ii) the operation of
the Company and its Subsidiaries does not constitute unfair competition or a deceptive or unfair trade practice. To the knowledge of the Company, the Company
Intellectual Property is not being infringed by any Person. Since March 27, 2009, neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries has received any written claim or
notice indicating that the Company or any of its Subsidiaries has infringed or misappropriated the Intellectual Property of any other Person.

(c) Except as set forth on the Intellectual Property Schedule, to the knowledge of the Company, the Company and its Subsidiaries have the full and
exclusive right to use the Company Intellectual Property owned by the Company for the life thereof and for any purpose, free from (i) any Liens (except for
Permitted Liens) and (ii) any requirement of any past, present or future royalty payments, license fees, charges or other payments, conditions or restrictions. As of
and from and after the Closing, the Surviving Corporation shall own or have the right, or a license, to use all of the Company Intellectual Property, in each case free
from Liens (except for Permitted Liens) and on the same terms and conditions as in effect prior to the Closing.

35



(d) To the Company’s knowledge, no director, stockholder, employee, consultant, agent or other representative of the Company and any of its
Subsidiaries owns or claims any personal rights in, nor has any such Person made application for, any of the Company Intellectual Property.

(e) To the Company’s knowledge, the Company and its Subsidiaries have taken commercially reasonable steps necessary to protect, preserve and
maintain the confidentiality of all trade secrets and confidential business information included in the Company Intellectual Property owned by the Company.

Section 5.11 Litigation. Except as set forth on the attached Litigation Schedule, there are no Proceedings pending or, to the Company’s knowledge, threatened
against the Company or any of its Subsidiaries (or to the knowledge of the Company, pending or threatened against any of the officers, directors or employees of the
Company or any of its Subsidiaries with respect to their business activities on behalf of the Company and its Subsidiaries), or to which the Company or any of its
Subsidiaries is otherwise a party, before or by any Governmental Body. Except as set forth on the attached Litigation Schedule, neither the Company nor any of its
Subsidiaries is subject to any outstanding Order, and neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries is in material breach or violation of any such Order.

Section 5.12 Governmental Consents. etc. The attached Governmental Consents Schedule sets forth a true and complete list of all material Permits of, or
filings with or declarations or notifications to, each Governmental Body that are required in connection with any of the execution, delivery or performance of this
Agreement by the Company and its Subsidiaries or the consummation by the Company and its Subsidiaries of the Merger and any other transactions contemplated
hereby, other than pursuant to the HSR Act and Other Antitrust Regulations (collectively, the “Governmental Consents™). Except for the requirements of the HSR
Act and Other Antitrust Regulations, the filing of the Certificate of Merger with the Secretary of State of the State of Delaware, and except for the Governmental
Consents set forth on the attached Governmental Consents Schedule, no material Permit of, or declaration or notification to or filing with, any Governmental Body is
required in connection with any of the execution, delivery or performance of this Agreement by the Company and its Subsidiaries or the consummation by the
Company and its Subsidiaries of the Merger and any other transaction contemplated hereby.

Section 5.13 Employee Benefit Plans.

(a) Except as listed on section (a) of the attached Employee Benefits Schedule, neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries maintains or contributes
or has any material liability with respect to (i) any nonqualified deferred compensation or retirement plans, (ii) any qualified “defined contribution plans” (as such
term is defined under Section 3(34) of ERISA), (iii) any qualified “defined benefit plans” (as such term is defined under Section 3(35) of ERISA), (iv) any “welfare
benefit plans” (as such term is defined under Section 3(1) of ERISA) (the “Welfare Plans”), (v) any other severance pay, salary continuation, bonus, incentive, stock
option, retirement, pension, profit sharing or deferred compensation plans, contracts, programs or arrangements or (vi) any other material employee benefit plans,
contracts programs or arrangements, or any voluntary employees’ beneficiary associations under
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Section 501(c)(9) of the Code (all of the above to which the Company or any of its Subsidiaries maintains, contributes or has any liability with respect to are
individually or collectively referred to herein as a “Plan” or the “Plans,” respectively). Each Plan which is intended to meet the requirements of a “qualified plan”
under Section 401(a) of the Code, has received a determination letter or is subject to an opinion letter from the IRS that such Plan meets the qualification
requirements set forth in Section 401(a) of the Code to be so qualified, and each trust created thereunder has been determined by the IRS to be exempt from tax
under the provisions of Section 501(a) of the Code, and, to the knowledge of the Company, nothing has occurred since the date of any such determination that
could reasonably be expected to adversely affect the qualified status of such Plan. The Plans have been maintained and operated in material compliance with their
terms and related documents and in compliance in form and in operation in all material respects with the requirements of the Code, ERISA, and all other applicable
law.

(b) Copies of the following materials, to the extent applicable, have been delivered or made available to Purchaser: (i) all current plan documents for
each Plan or, in the case of an unwritten Plan, a written description thereof, (ii) all determination letters from the IRS with respect to any of the U.S. Plans, (iii) all
current summary plan descriptions, summary of material modifications and the three most recent annual reports on Form 5500 (including all schedules and
attachments) with respect to any Plans, (iv) all related trust agreements, insurance contracts, and other material documents and other funding arrangements
associated with any Plan and (v) all material correspondence relating to a Plan between the Company, its Subsidiaries or their representatives and any Governmental
Body with respect to any audit, investigation or correction associated with any applicable Plan.

(c) With respect to the Plans, (i) all required contributions have been made or properly accrued on or before the Closing Date, (ii) there are no actions,
suits, claims, audits, examinations or proceedings pending or, to the Company’s knowledge, threatened, other than routine claims for benefits, (iii) there have been
no “prohibited transactions” (as that term is defined in Section 406 of ERISA or Section 4975 of the Code) that could result in any material liability or excise tax
under ERISA or the Code being imposed on the Company or its Subsidiaries and (iv) all material reports, returns and similar documents required to be filed with any
Governmental Body or distributed to any Plan participant have been timely filed or distributed.

(d) Neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries has, nor, to the Company’s knowledge, has any of their respective directors, officers or employees
or any other “fiduciary,” as such term is defined in Section 3 of ERISA, committed any material breach of fiduciary responsibility imposed by ERISA or any other
applicable Law with respect to the Plans which would subject the Purchaser, the Company or their Subsidiaries or any of their respective directors, officers or
employees to any material liability under ERISA or any applicable Law.

(e) Neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries has incurred any material liability for any Tax or civil penalty imposed by Section 4975 of the Code
or Section 502 of ERISA which has not been satisfied in full.

(f) Neither the Company nor any Subsidiary of the Company maintains, contributes to or has any liability with respect to (i) a “defined benefit plan” as
defined in
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Section 3(35) of ERISA, (ii) a pension plan subject to the funding standards of Section 302 of ERISA or Section 412 of the Code or (iii) a “multiemployer plan” as
defined in Section 4001(a)(3) of ERISA or Section 414(f) of the Code or a “multiple employer plan” within the meaning of Section 210(a) of ERISA or

Section 413(c) of the Code. Neither the Company nor any Subsidiary of the Company has any or will have any Lability with respect to any “employee benefit plan”
(as defined in Section 3(3) of ERISA) solely by reason of being treated as a single employer under Section 414 of the Code with any trade, business or entity, prior
to the Closing, other than the Company and its Subsidiaries.

(g) Neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries has communicated (whether orally or in writing) generally to employees or specifically to any
employee regarding (i) any future increase of benefit levels (or creation of new benefits) with respect to the Plans beyond those reflected in such Plans or (ii) the
adoption or creation of any new benefit plan.

(h) None of the Plans obligates the Company or its Subsidiaries to provide a current or former employee (or any dependent thereof) any life insurance
or medical or health benefits after his or her termination of employment with the Company or any of its Subsidiaries, other than as required under Part 6 of Subtitle B
of Title I of ERISA, Section 4980B of the Code or any similar state Law.

(1) With respect to each Welfare Plan that is a group health plan benefiting any current or former employee of the Company that is subject to
Section 4980B of the Code, the Company has complied in all material respects with the continuation coverage requirements of Section 4980B of the Code and Part 6
of Subtitle B of Title I of ERISA.

(j) Except as listed on section (j) of the attached Employee Benefits Schedule, the execution and performance of this Agreement will not (i) constitute a
stated triggering event under any Plan that will result in any material payment (whether of severance pay or otherwise) becoming due from the Company or its
Subsidiary to any current or former officer, employee, director or consultant (or dependents of such Persons) or (ii) accelerate the time of payment or vesting, or
increase the amount of compensation due to any current or former officer, employee, director or consultant (or dependents of such Persons) of the Company or its
Subsidiaries.

(k) Each Plan and any other payment or arrangement for which the Company or its Subsidiaries has liability that is subject to Section 409A of the Code
is in documentary compliance with and has been operated in compliance with Section 409A of the Code except to the extent any failure to comply would not
reasonably be expected to result in a material liability to the Company or its Subsidiaries, and no Person has a right to any gross up or indemnification from the
Company or any of its Subsidiaries with respect to any such Plan, payment or arrangement subject to Section 409A of the Code.

Section 5.14 Insurance. The attached Insurance Schedule sets forth each insurance policy maintained by the Company and its Subsidiaries on their properties,
assets, products, business or personnel. Except as set forth on the attached Insurance Schedule, to the knowledge of the Company, no event relating to the
Company or any of its Subsidiaries has occurred which would reasonably be expected to result in any material retroactive upward adjustment in premiums under any
such insurance policies. Excluding insurance policies that have expired and
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been replaced in the Ordinary Course of Business, no such insurance policy has been cancelled within the last two years and, to the knowledge of the Company, no
threat has been made by an insurance provider to cancel any insurance policy of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries during such period. Neither the Company
nor any of its Subsidiaries is in material default with respect to any provision contained in any insurance policy or has failed to give any notice or present any material
claim under any insurance policy in due and timely fashion.

Section 5.15 Labor and Employment Matters.

(a) Union and Employee Contracts. Except as disclosed on the attached Labor and Employment Matters Schedule: (i) the Company and its Subsidiaries
are not party to or bound by any union contract, collective bargaining agreement, or other similar type of Contract; (i) the Company and its Subsidiaries have not
agreed to recognize any union or other collective bargaining representative or to remain neutral in any attempts to organize its employees, no demand for recognition
by any union or group of employees is currently pending and there are no representation proceedings or petitions seeking a representation proceeding presently
pending or, to the Company’s knowledge, threatened to be brought or filed, with the National Labor Relations Board,; (iii) no union or collective bargaining
representative has been certified as representing any employees of the Company and its Subsidiaries; (iv) to the Company’s knowledge, since March 27, 2009, no
organizational attempt has been made or threatened on behalf of any labor union or collective bargaining representative with respect to any employees of the
Company and its Subsidiaries; and (v) since March 27, 2009, neither the Company and its Subsidiaries, nor, to the Company’s knowledge, any of their respective
predecessors has experienced any labor strike, slowdown, work stoppage or other material labor dispute and, to the Company’s knowledge, no such labor dispute is
threatened.

(b) Unemployment and Social Security. The Company and its Subsidiaries have no outstanding material liability for any payment to any trust or other
fund or to any Governmental Body, with respect to unemployment compensation benefits or social security or similar governmentally mandated benefits or
obligations for employees (other than routine payments to be made in the Ordinary Course of Business). The Company has made available to the Purchaser a
complete and accurate list of pending claims against the Company and any of its Subsidiaries under any workers compensation plan or policy or for long-term
disability.

(¢) Compliance and Investigations. Neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries is a party to, or otherwise bound by, any material consent decree
with or order by any Governmental Body relating to employees or employment practices. Neither the Company nor its Subsidiaries have received since March 27,
2009 any written notice of intent by any Governmental Body responsible or the enforcement of labor, employment or immigration laws to conduct an investigation
relating to the Company and any of its Subsidiaries and, to the Company’s knowledge, no such investigation is in progress.

(d) Effect of Other Agreements. To the Company’s knowledge, no current employee, current officer or director, or current consultant or independent
contractor of the Company and its Subsidiaries is a party to, or is otherwise bound by, any agreement or arrangement, including any confidentiality, non-competition
or proprietary rights agreement, between such employee, officer, director, consultant or independent contractor and any other
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Person that in any way materially and adversely affects (i) the performance of his or her duties as an employee, officer, director, consultant or independent
contractor of the Company and its Subsidiaries, or (i) the ability of the Company and its Subsidiaries to conduct its business as currently conducted and proposed to
be conducted.

(e) Independent Contractors. The Company and its Subsidiaries utilize the services of independent contractors in the operation of the Company’s and its
Subsidiaries’ business. The Company and its Subsidiaries have complied in all material respects with all applicable Laws for classifying such individuals as
independent contractors and not employees.

Section 5.16 Environmental Compliance and Conditions. Except as set forth on the attached Environmental Compliance Schedule:

(a) the Company and its Subsidiaries are, and have been since March 27, 2009, in material compliance with all Environmental Laws, including with
respect to its operations at and occupancy of the real property listed on the Leased Real Property Schedule and the Owned Real Property Schedule;

(b) except as has been fully resolved prior to the date hereof or which would not reasonably be expected to result in material ongoing or future liability,
neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries has received written notice from any Governmental Body asserting or alleging any actual or alleged material violation
of or material liability including any material investigatory, corrective or remedial obligation under Environmental Laws applicable to its operations or the real property
listed on the Leased Real Property Schedule and the Owned Real Property Schedule, any real property formerly owned or leased by the Company or its Subsidiaries,
or any off-site treatment, storage, disposal or recycling locations to which the Company or its Subsidiaries sent Hazardous Materials;

(c) neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries is subject to any current or, to the Company’s knowledge, threatened claim, Order, directive,
request for information, demand letter or complaint asserting a remedial obligation or actual or potential material liability under Environmental Laws, including with
respect to conditions at any of the real property listed on the Leased Real Property Schedule and the Owned Real Property Schedule or any real property formerly
owned or leased by the Company or its Subsidiaries or any off-site treatment, storage, disposal or recycling locations to which the Company or its Subsidiaries sent
Hazardous Materials;

(d) the Company and its Subsidiaries have obtained and are, and have been since March 27, 2009, in material compliance with all permits, licenses and
authorizations required under Environmental Laws for its business operations, including its use and occupancy of the real property listed on the Leased Real Property
Schedule and the Owned Real Property Schedule;

(e) neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries nor any of their agents or contractors has caused, nor to the Company’s knowledge has any other
Person caused, any Release of any Hazardous Material at, on, under or migrating from the Real Property or any real property formerly owned or leased by the
Company or any of its Subsidiaries which requires
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investigation, assessment, cleanup or remediation or any other type of response action by the Company or any of its Subsidiaries under any Environmental Law or
pursuant to any applicable lease agreements;

(f) neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries has entered into any contract whereby the Company or any such Subsidiary has expressly assumed
or provided indemnification for any material liability of any other Person pursuant to or arising from any Environmental Law; and

(g) the Company and each of its Subsidiaries have made available to the Purchaser copies of all previously conducted environmental compliance audits,
environmental site assessments, asbestos surveys, and reports regarding any material Release of Hazardous Materials at, upon or from the Real Property or any real
property formerly owned or leased by the Company or its Subsidiaries, which are in its possession or control.

This Section 5.16 contains the sole and exclusive representations and warranties of the Company with respect to any matters arising under any
Environmental Laws or with respect to Releases of Hazardous Materials.

Section 5.17 Affiliated Transactions. Except as set forth on the attached Affiliated Transactions Schedule, to the Company’s knowledge, no employee, officer,
director, stockholder, equity holder or Affiliate of the Company or its Subsidiaries (collectively, the “Related Persons™) (i) is a party to any Contract or transaction
with the Company or its Subsidiaries or has any interest in any material property used by the Company or its Subsidiaries, (ii) in each case, other than in the
Ordinary Course of Business, owes any material amount to the Company or any of its Subsidiaries nor does the Company or any of its Subsidiaries owe any material
amount to, nor has the Company or any of its Subsidiaries committed to make any loan or extend or guarantee credit to or for the benefit of, any Related Person,

(iii) owns any material property or right, tangible or intangible, that is used by the Company or any of its Subsidiaries or (iv) has any claim or cause of action against
the Company or any of its Subsidiaries.

Section 5.18 Brokerage. Except as set forth on the attached Brokerage Schedule, there are no claims for brokerage commissions, finders’ fees or similar
compensation or payments in connection with the transactions contemplated by this Agreement based on any Contract made by or on behalf of the Company.

Section 5.19 Permits; Compliance with Laws.

(a) The attached Compliance with Laws Schedule sets forth a true and complete list of all material Permits which are required for the operation of the
business of the Company and its Subsidiaries as presently conducted. Except as set forth on the attached Permits Schedule, each of the Company and its
Subsidiaries holds and is in compliance, in all material respects, with all such Permits. Neither the Company nor its Subsidiaries have received written notice of any
Proceedings pending or, to the knowledge of the Company, threatened, relating to the suspension, revocation or modification of any Permit listed on the attached
Permits Schedule.
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(b) Except as set forth on the attached Compliance with Laws Schedule, (i) the Company and its Subsidiaries are in compliance, in all material respects,
with all Laws applicable to their respective businesses, operations and assets and (ii) neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries has, since March 27, 2009,
received any written notice of any action or proceeding against it alleging any material failure to comply with any Law.

Section 5.20 Employees. The Company has made available to the Purchaser a list of all of the officers, employees, contractors and consultants of the
Company and its Subsidiaries, along with their respective employing entity, their title, date of hire (or contracting), active or inactive status, annual base
compensation or hourly wage rate and incentive bonus compensation, in each case as of February 26, 2012. Section (a) of the attached Employees Schedule lists all
of the officers and employees of the Company and its Subsidiaries with an annual base compensation in excess of $100,000 (the “Covered Employees”). Since the
date of the Latest Balance Sheet, there has not been any material change in the compensation of any Covered Employee (except for compensation increases and
decreases in the Ordinary Course of Business). In the past year, neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries has taken any action which would constitute a
“plant closing” or “mass layoff” within the meaning of WARN or issued any notification of a plant closing or mass layoff required by WARN. Except as listed on
section (b) of the Employees Schedule, to the Company’s knowledge, no employee, consultant or independent contractor for the Company or its Subsidiaries has
any present intention to terminate his or her employment relationship or engagement with the Company or its Subsidiaries.

Section 5.21 Bank Accounts. The attached Bank Accounts Schedule sets forth a complete and correct list of the names and locations of all banks and the
numbers of all of the bank accounts of the Company and its Subsidiaries, together with the names of all Persons authorized to draw thereon or to have access
thereto and the authorized signatories for such accounts. Except as set forth on the attached Bank Accounts Schedule, no Person holds a power of attorney to act
on behalf of the Company or any Subsidiary of the Company with respect to such bank accounts.

Section 5.22 Indebtedness. The attached Indebtedness Schedule sets forth all of the Funded Indebtedness of the Company and its Subsidiaries.

Section 5.23 Product Warranty; Product Liability.

(a) Except as set forth on the Product Liability Schedule, neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries has any material Lability arising out of any
injury to individuals or property as a result of the ownership, possession or use of any product designed, manufactured, assembled, repaired, maintained, delivered,
sold or installed, or services rendered, by or on behalf of the Company or any Subsidiary of the Company.

(b) Except as set forth on the Product Warranty Schedule, (i) each product manufactured, sold or delivered by the Company or any Subsidiary of the
Company in conducting its business has been manufactured and sold in conformity in all material respects with all product specifications, all warranties and all
applicable Laws and (ii) neither the Company nor any Subsidiary of the Company has any material liability for replacement or repair of any such products or other
damages in connection therewith not reserved against on the Latest Balance Sheet or the Statement.
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Section 5.24 Accounts Receivable. All of the accounts and notes receivable of the Company and its Subsidiaries represent amounts receivable for merchandise
actually delivered or services actually provided (or, in the case of non-trade accounts or notes represent amounts receivable in respect of other bona-fide business
transactions), have arisen from bona-fide transactions in the Ordinary Course of Business, and have reserves which have been calculated in a manner consistent with
past practice.

Section 5.25 Inventory. Subject to the reserves set forth on the Latest Balance Sheet, as of the date of this Agreement the inventory of the Company and its
Subsidiaries consists of a quantity and quality usable and salable in the Ordinary Course of Business in all material respects.

Section 5.26 Customers and Suppliers. The Customers Schedule contains an accurate and complete list of the ten (10) largest customers of the businesses of
the Company and its Subsidiaries, measured on a consolidated basis by the dollar amount of purchases thereby, for the twelve-month period ended November 30,
2011 (the “Business Customers®), showing the total dollar sales by the Company and its Subsidiaries to each such customer during such period. The Suppliers
Schedule contains an accurate and complete list of the ten (10) largest suppliers of the businesses of the Company and its Subsidiaries, measured on a consolidated
basis by the dollar amount of purchases therefrom, for the twelve-month period ended November 30, 2011 (the “Business Suppliers”), showing the total dollar
purchases by the Company and its Subsidiaries to from such supplier during such period. Except as set forth on the Customers Schedule or the Suppliers Schedule,
since the date of the Latest Balance Sheet, to the knowledge of the Company, none of the Business Customers or Business Suppliers has terminated or has given
written notice to the Company or any Subsidiary of the Company that it will or intends to terminate its Contract or relationship with the Company or any Subsidiary
of the Company.

Section 5.27 Corporate Records. The Company has made available to the Purchaser true, correct and complete copies of the articles of incorporation and by-
laws or equivalent organizational documents of the Company and its Subsidiaries, in each case, as amended and in effect on the date hereof, including all
amendments thereto.

Section 5.28 Stockholder Approval. The only vote of holders of Company Stock necessary to approve and adopt this Agreement, the Merger and the
transactions contemplated by this Agreement is the adoption of this Agreement by the Stockholders holding a majority of the outstanding shares of Voting Common
Stock.
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ARTICLE VI
REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF THE PURCHASER
The Purchaser and the Merger Sub represent and warrant to the Stockholders (including the Representative), the Optionholders and the Company that:

Section 6.01 Organization and Corporate Power. The Purchaser is a corporation duly organized, validly existing and in good standing under the Laws of the
State of Ohio, with full corporate power and authority to execute and deliver this Agreement and each other agreement, document, instrument or certificate
contemplated by this Agreement to be executed by the Purchaser in connection with the transactions contemplated by this Agreement (the “Purchaser Documents”)
and to perform its obligations hereunder and thereunder and to consummate the transactions contemplated hereby and thereby. The Merger Sub is a corporation duly
organized, validly existing and in active status under the Laws of the State of Delaware, with full corporate power and authority to enter into this Agreement and
each other agreement, document, instrument or certificate contemplated by this Agreement to be executed by the Merger Sub in connection with the transactions
contemplated by this Agreement (the “Merger Sub Documents™) and to perform its obligations hereunder and thereunder and to consummate the transactions
contemplated hereby and thereby.

Section 6.02 Authorization. The execution, delivery and performance of this Agreement and each of the Purchaser Documents or the Merger Sub Documents
(as applicable) by the Purchaser and the Merger Sub and the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby and thereby have been duly and validly
authorized and approved by all requisite corporate action, and no other corporate proceedings on their part are necessary to authorize the execution, delivery or
performance of this Agreement. This Agreement has been, and each of the Purchaser Documents or the Merger Sub Documents (as applicable) will be at or prior to
the Closing, duly and validly authorized, executed and delivered by the Purchaser and the Merger Sub (as applicable), and assuming that each of this Agreement, the
Purchaser Documents and the Merger Sub Documents is a valid and binding obligation of the other parties hereto and thereto, this Agreement constitutes, and each
of the Purchaser Documents or the Merger Sub Documents (as applicable) when so executed and delivered will constitute, a legal, valid and binding obligation of the
Purchaser and the Merger Sub, enforceable against the Purchaser and the Merger Sub in accordance with its respective terms, subject to bankruptcy, insolvency,
reorganization, moratorium and similar Laws relating to or affecting creditors’ rights or to general principles of equity.

Section 6.03 Governmental Bodies: Consent No Violation. Except for compliance with the requirements of the HSR Act and Other Antitrust Regulations, the
filing of the Certificate of Merger with the Secretary of State of the State of Delaware and the Governmental Consents set forth on the attached Governmental
Consents Schedule, (a) neither the Purchaser nor the Merger Sub is required to submit any notice, report, declaration or other filing with any Governmental Body in
connection with the execution, delivery or performance by it of this Agreement or the consummation of the Merger and any other transactions contemplated hereby,
(b) no authorization, consent, approval, exemption, waiver, Order, Permit or other action by, or authorization of, any Governmental Body or any other Person is
required to be obtained by the
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Purchaser or the Merger Sub in connection with its execution, delivery and performance of this Agreement or the consummation by the Purchaser and the Merger
Sub of the Merger and any other transactions contemplated hereby and (c) neither the Purchaser nor the Merger Sub is subject to or obligated under its certificate of
incorporation or its bylaws (or equivalent governing documents), any applicable Law, or rule or regulation of any Governmental Body, or any material agreement or
instrument, or any franchise or Permit, or subject to any Order which would be breached or violated in any material respect by the Purchaser’s or the Merger Sub’s
execution, delivery or performance of this Agreement and the Purchaser Documents or the Merger Sub Documents (as applicable).

Section 6.04 Litigation. As of the date of this Agreement, there are no Proceedings pending or, to the Purchaser’s knowledge, overtly threatened against the
Purchaser or the Merger Sub, or to which the Purchaser, the Merger Sub or any of their respective Affiliates is otherwise a party, before or by any Governmental
Body, which would adversely affect the Purchaser’s or the Merger Sub’s performance under this Agreement or the consummation of the transactions contemplated
hereby. There are no Proceedings pending or, to the Purchaser’s knowledge, overtly threatened against the Purchaser or the Merger Sub, or to which the Purchaser,
the Merger Sub or any of their respective controlled Affiliates is otherwise a party, before or by any Governmental Body, which would adversely affect the
Purchaser’s or the Merger Sub’s performance under this Agreement or the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby.

Section 6.05 Brokerage. There are no claims for brokerage commissions, finders’ fees or similar compensation or payments in connection with the
transactions contemplated by this Agreement based on any Contract made by or on behalf of the Purchaser or the Merger Sub.

Section 6.06 Investment Representation. The Purchaser is acquiring the Company Stock for its own account with the present intention of holding such
securities for investment purposes and not with a view to, or for sale in connection with, any distribution of such securities in violation of any federal or state
securities Laws.

Section 6.07 Financing. The Purchaser and the Merger Sub each shall have at the Closing sufficient inmediately available funds to pay the full Transaction
Price and to make all other payments required by the terms hereof, to pay all related fees and expenses in connection with this Agreement and the transactions
contemplated hereby and to otherwise consummate the transactions contemplated hereby.

Section 6.08 Solvency. The Purchaser is, and immediately after giving effect to the transactions contemplated by this Agreement (and assuming the
representations and warranties in ARTICLE V are true and correct), the Surviving Corporation and each of its Subsidiaries will be able to pay their respective debts
as they become due and will own property which has a fair saleable value greater than the amounts required to pay their respective debts (including a reasonable
estimate of the amount of all contingent liabilities). The Purchaser is, and immediately after giving effect to the transactions contemplated by this Agreement (and
assuming the representations and warranties in ARTICLE V are true and correct), the Surviving Corporation and each of its Subsidiaries will have adequate capital to
carry on their respective businesses. No transfer of property is being made and no obligation is being incurred in connection with the transactions contemplated by
this Agreement with the intent to hinder, delay or defraud either present or future creditors of the Purchaser, the Company or its Subsidiaries.
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ARTICLE VII
COVENANTS OF THE COMPANY
Section 7.01 Conduct of the Business.

(a) From the date hereof until the Effective Time, the Company shall use its commercially reasonable efforts to conduct its and its Subsidiaries’
business in the Ordinary Course of Business, except as set forth on the Covenants Exceptions Schedule.

(b) From the date hereof until the Effective Time, except as otherwise contemplated by this Agreement, as set forth on the Covenants Exceptions
Schedule or as consented to in writing by the Purchaser, the Company shall not, and shall cause its Subsidiaries not to:

(i) issue, sell or deliver any shares of its or any of its Subsidiaries’ capital stock (other than with respect to the exercise of Options outstanding
as of the date hereof) or issue, sell or deliver any securities convertible into, or options with respect to, or warrants to purchase or rights to subscribe for, any
shares of its or any of its Subsidiaries’ capital stock;

(ii) declare, set aside, make, pay or effect any recapitalization, reclassification, stock dividend (or other distribution or payment on equity),
stock split, combination or like change in its capitalization or amend the terms of any outstanding securities of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries;

(iii) amend its or any of its Subsidiaries’ certificate of incorporation or bylaws (or equivalent organizational documents);

(iv) except pursuant to any Contract existing as of the date hereof concerning the purchase of any shares of Company Stock or any Options,
make any redemption or purchase of any shares of its or any of its Subsidiaries’ capital stock;

(v) other than in the Ordinary Course of Business, as required under the terms of any Contract or Plan or as may be required to comply with
applicable Law (A) increase the salary or other compensation of any employee of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries, (B) increase the coverage or benefits
available under any (or create any new) Plan or otherwise modify or amend or terminate any Plan in a manner that would reasonably be expected to materially
increase the cost to the Company or its Subsidiaries, or (C) enter into any employment or consulting arrangement not terminable at will with no further material
liability with any employee or independent contractor;

(vi) other than with respect to any existing revolving credit facilities, issue, create, incur, assume, guarantee, endorse or otherwise become
liable or responsible with respect to any Funded Indebtedness;
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(vii) acquire any properties or assets or sell, assign, license, transfer, convey, lease or otherwise dispose of any of the properties or assets of,
or used by, the Company and its Subsidiaries, other than in the Ordinary Course of Business;

(viii) enter into or agree to enter into any merger or consolidation with any Person, engage in any new business or invest in, make a loan,
advance or capital contribution to, or otherwise acquire the securities, of any other Person (other than the Company or any of its wholly owned Subsidiaries);

(ix) cancel or compromise any material debt or claim or waive or release any material right of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries except in
the Ordinary Course of Business;

(x) enter into any commitment for capital expenditures of the Company and its Subsidiaries in excess of $200,000 for any individual
commitment and $500,000 for all commitments in the aggregate, unless required by a Lease;

(xi) except as otherwise required by Law, enter into, amend or modify or terminate any Contract with any labor union or other labor or
collective bargaining agreement of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries or, through negotiation or otherwise, make any commitment or incur any material liability
to any labor organization with respect to the Company or any of its Subsidiaries;

(xii) enter into any Contract that restricts the ability of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries to compete with or conduct any business or line
of business in any geographic area or solicit the employment of any Persons;

(xiii) other than in the Ordinary Course of Business, terminate, amend, restate or supplement or waive any material rights under any
(A) Contract set forth on the Contracts Schedule or (B) material Permit;

(xiv) settle or compromise any pending or threatened Proceeding or any claim or claims for, an amount individually in excess of $50,000, or in
the aggregate, in excess of $100,000; or

(xv) take any action with the primary purpose of adversely affecting the ability of the parties to consummate the transactions contemplated by
this Agreement.

Section 7.02 Access to Books and Records. From the date hereof until the Effective Time or the earlier termination of this Agreement, the Company shall
provide the Purchaser and its authorized representatives (the “Purchaser’s Representatives™) with full access at all reasonable times and upon reasonable advance
notice to the offices, properties (including reasonable access to the Leased Real Property and the Owned Real Property), books and records of the Company and its
Subsidiaries in order for the Purchaser to have the opportunity to make such investigation as it shall reasonably desire to make of the affairs of the Company and its
Subsidiaries; provided that such access does not unreasonably interfere with the normal operations of the Company; provided further that all requests for access
shall be directed to John Carson or such other person as the Company may designate from time to time. Neither the
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Company nor any of the Stockholders (including the Representative) and Optionholders make any representation or warranty as to the accuracy of any information
(if any) provided pursuant to this Section 7.02, and neither the Purchaser nor the Merger Sub may rely on the accuracy of any such information, in each case other
than as expressly set forth in the Company’s representations and warranties contained in ARTICLE V. The information provided pursuant to this Section 7.02 will be
used solely for the purpose of effecting the transactions contemplated hereby, and will be governed by all the terms and conditions of the Confidentiality Agreement.

Section 7.03 Regulatory Filings. Subject to Section 10.04, the Company shall (a) make or cause to be made all filings and submissions under any material
Laws applicable to the Company and its Subsidiaries for the consummation of the transactions contemplated herein, (b) coordinate and cooperate with the Purchaser
in exchanging such information and providing such assistance as the Purchaser may reasonably request in connection with all of the foregoing and (c) (i) supply
promptly any additional information and documentary material that may be reasonably requested in connection with such filings, (ii) make any further filings
pursuant thereto that may be reasonably necessary, proper or advisable in connection therewith, and (iii) take all commercially reasonable actions necessary to obtain
all required clearances.

Section 7.04 Conditions. The Company shall use commercially reasonable efforts to cause the conditions set forth in Section 4.01 to be satisfied and to
consummate the transactions contemplated herein as soon as reasonably possible after the satisfaction of the conditions set forth in ARTICLE IV (other than those
to be satisfied at the Closing); provided that neither the Company nor the Representative shall be required to expend any material funds to obtain any third-party or
governmental consents required under Section 4.01(c) or 4.03(b).

Section 7.05 Exclusive Dealing.

(a) Except in connection with any exercise of Options, during the period from the date of this Agreement through the Closing or the earlier termination
of this Agreement pursuant to Section 9.01, the Representative and the Company shall not, and shall direct and use commercially reasonable efforts not to permit
their respective Subsidiaries or any of their respective directors, officers, employees, representatives or agents (collectively, the “Company Representatives”) to,
directly or indirectly, (i) discuss, intentionally encourage, negotiate, undertake, initiate, authorize, reccommend, propose or enter into, whether as the proposed
surviving, merged, acquiring or acquired corporation or otherwise, any transaction involving a merger, consolidation, business combination, purchase or disposition
of any material amount of the assets of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries other than in the Ordinary Course of Business or any capital stock or other ownership
mterests of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries other than the transactions contemplated by this Agreement (an

‘Acquisition Transaction”), (ii) furnish or cause
to be furnished, to any Person, any information concerning the business, operations, properties or assets of the Company or its Subsidiaries in connection with an
Acquisition Transaction or (iii) otherwise cooperate in any way with, or intentionally assist or participate in, facilitate or encourage, any effort or attempt by any
other Person to do or seek any of the foregoing.

(b) The Representative and the Company shall (and the Representative and the Company shall use commercially reasonable efforts to cause their
Company Representatives
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to, and the Company shall cause its Subsidiaries to) immediately cease and cause to be terminated any existing discussions or negotiations with any Persons (other
than Purchaser or its Affiliates or any of their respective directors, officers, employees, representatives or agents) conducted heretofore with respect to any
Acquisition Transaction.

Section 7.06_Notification. From the date hereof until the Closing, the Company shall disclose to the Purchaser in writing promptly upon the discovery thereof
any matter arising after the date hereof that, if existing on the date of this Agreement, would have been required to be set forth in the Disclosure Schedules. Such
disclosures may take the form of amendments or supplements to the attached Disclosure Schedules in the form of “Updated Schedules” delivered to the Purchaser;
provided, that if an Updated Schedule is delivered pursuant to this Section 7.06 and the Company acknowledges in writing that the Purchaser has the right to
terminate this Agreement pursuant to Section 9.01(d) as a result of the disclosure set forth in such Updated Schedule, then unless the Purchaser elects by written
notice to the Company and the Representative to exercise such termination right within five (5) Business Days after delivery of such written acknowledgement, the
Company’s representations and warranties shall be deemed modified, amended and supplemented by such Updated Schedule and the disclosures set forth in such
Updated Schedule shall not be the basis of any Loss or indemnification claim by any Purchaser Indemnified Party and shall not be the basis for a termination of this
Agreement by the Purchaser pursuant to Article IX hereof. For the avoidance of doubt, no Updated Schedule shall contain any matter that existed as of the date of
this Agreement, whether or not known to the Company.

Section 7.07 Financing Cooperation. From the date hereof until the Closing Date, the Company shall, and shall cause its Subsidiaries to, use commercially
reasonable efforts to provide the Purchaser and the Merger Sub such assistance and information to the extent (a) reasonably necessary to complete the Debt
Financing; (b) reasonably requested by the Purchaser or the Merger Sub in connection with the Debt Financing, including using its commercially reasonably efforts
in (i) assisting in preparation for and participation in a reasonable number of meetings, presentations, road shows, due diligence sessions (including accounting due
diligence sessions) and sessions with rating agencies, prospective lenders, and investors; (ii) assisting with the preparation of materials for rating agency
presentations, bank information memoranda and similar documents required in connection with the Debt Financing (including the marketing thereof); (iii) obtaining
customary appraisals, surveys, title insurance and other documentation and items with respect to the Company’s owned real estate to the extent reasonably required
by the Debt Financing as reasonably requested by the Purchaser or the Merger Sub and, if requested by the Purchaser or the Merger Sub, to cooperate with and
assist the Purchaser and the Merger Sub in obtaining such documentation and items; (iv) facilitating the pledge and perfection of liens and the providing of
guarantees supporting the Debt Financing; (v) taking such actions reasonably promptly as are reasonably requested by the Purchaser or the Merger Sub to facilitate
the satisfaction on a timely basis of all conditions to obtaining the Debt Financing; and (vi) causing its independent auditors to cooperate with the Debt Financing;
provided, however, that, irrespective of the above, (w) whether or not the transactions contemplated by this Agreement or the Debt Financing are consummated, the
Purchaser shall reimburse the Company at least two (2) Business Days prior to Closing (or notwithstanding any provision to the contrary in this Agreement such
amount shall increase the Closing Cash Proceeds) for all out-of-pocket fees, costs and expenses incurred in connection with the
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obligations under this Section 7.07, (x) no obligation of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries under any certificate, document or instrument entered into in
connection with this Section 7.07 shall be effective until the Effective Time and none of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries shall be required to take any action
under any certificate, document or instrument entered into in connection with this Section 7.07 that is not contingent upon the Closing (including the entry into any
agreement that is effective before the Effective Time) or that would be effective prior to the Effective Time, (y) nothing in this Section 7.07 shall require such
cooperation to the extent it would interfere unreasonably with the business or operations of the Company or its Subsidiaries and (z) all financing documents and any
certificates relating to the Debt Financing, whether or not in respect of the Company and its Subsidiaries, will be executed by representatives of the Purchaser. The
Company hereby consents to the reasonable use of all of its and its Subsidiaries’ logos, names, and trademarks in connection with the Debt Financing in a manner
customary for financing transactions of this kind. The Company shall, and shall cause its Subsidiaries to, use commercially reasonable efforts to obtain, at the
Purchaser’s sole cost and expense, prior to the Closing, estoppel certificates, landlord waivers and collateral access agreements (if requested by the Purchaser’s
lender), non-disturbance agreements (for each Leased Real Property that is subleased by the Company or its Subsidiaries), and subordination, non-disturbance and
attornment agreements related to the Leased Real Property, as reasonably requested by the Purchaser, each in a form reasonably acceptable to the Purchaser;
provided, however, that the failure to obtain any of the foregoing shall not be deemed a default under this Agreement. The Purchaser shall indemnify the Company
and the Seller Indemnification Parties against and hold them harmless from any Losses suffered or incurred by the Company or any such Seller Indemnification
Party to the extent arising from any action of such Person taken pursuant to this Section 7.07.

ARTICLE VIII
COVENANTS OF THE PURCHASER

Section 8.01 Access to Books and Records. For a six (6) year period following the Closing, the Purchaser shall, and shall cause the Surviving Corporation to,
provide the Stockholders (including the Representative), the Optionholders and their agents with reasonable access (for the purpose of examining and copying and
subject to reasonable and customary confidentiality restraints), during normal business hours, and upon reasonable advance notice, to the books and records of the
Surviving Corporation and its Subsidiaries solely with respect to periods or occurrences prior to the Closing Date in connection with any insurance claims by,
Proceedings against or governmental investigations of, the Stockholders (including the Representative), the Optionholders, the Company, its Subsidiaries or any of
their Affiliates or with respect to any rights or obligations under this Agreement, the Company Documents, the Purchaser Documents or the Merger Sub Documents
or any other legitimate and reasonable business purpose and (i) reasonable access, during normal business hours, and upon reasonable advance notice, to employees
of the Purchaser, the Surviving Corporation, and their Affiliates for purposes of better understanding such books and records, in each case, subject to the execution
by the Stockholders, the Representative or Optionholders and their agents, as the case may be, of a reasonable and customary confidentiality agreement in form and
substance reasonably satisfactory to the Purchaser. Unless otherwise consented to in writing by the Representative, neither the Purchaser nor the Surviving
Corporation shall, for a period of six (6) years following
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the Closing Date, destroy, alter or otherwise dispose of any of the books and records of the Company for any period prior to the Closing Date without first offering
to surrender to the Representative such books and records or any portion thereof which the Purchaser or the Surviving Corporation may intend to destroy, alter or
dispose of.

Section 8.02 Notification. From the date hereof until the Closing Date, the Purchaser shall disclose to the Company and the Representative in writing any
material variances from the representations and warranties contained in ARTICLE VI promptly upon discovery thereof.

Section 8.03 Director and Officer Liability and Indemnification.

(a) Prior to or simultaneously with the Closing, the Company shall, or shall cause the Surviving Corporation to purchase from an insurance carrier with
the same or better credit rating as the Company’s current insurance carrier with respect to directors’ and officers’ liability insurance a prepaid insurance policy (i.e.,
“tail coverage”) which provides liability insurance coverage for the individuals who were officers, directors and similar functionaries of the Company and its
Subsidiaries at or prior to the Effective Time on no less favorable terms (including in amount and scope) as the policy or policies presently maintained by the
Company and its Subsidiaries for the benefit of such individuals for an aggregate period of not less than six (6) years with respect to claims arising from acts, events
or omissions that occurred at or prior to the Closing, including with respect to the transactions contemplated by this Agreement; provided, that, 50% of the cost of
such policy shall be borne by the Purchaser and 50% of the cost of such policy shall be borne by the Company (which amount, if unpaid at Closing, shall be a
Transaction Expense); provided, further, that, the aggregate price of such insurance policy shall not exceed Thirty Thousand Dollars ($30,000.00).

(b) For a period of six (6) years after the Closing, the Purchaser shall not, and shall not permit the Surviving Corporation or any of its Subsidiaries to,
amend, repeal or otherwise modify any provision in the Surviving Corporation’s or any of its Subsidiaries’ certificate or articles of incorporation or bylaws (or
equivalent governing documents) relating to the exculpation or indemnification of any officers, directors or similar functionaries (unless to provide for greater
exculpation or indemnification or unless required by Law), it being the intent of the parties hereto that the current and former officers, directors and similar
functionaries of the Company and its Subsidiaries shall continue to be entitled to such exculpation and indemnification (including with respect to advancement of
expenses) to the full extent of the Law. The Purchaser agrees and acknowledges that this Section 8.03 shall be binding on the Purchaser’s successors and assigns.

(c) If the Surviving Corporation, its Subsidiaries or any of their respective successors or assigns (i) shall consolidate with or merge into any other
Person and shall not be the continuing or surviving corporation or entity of such consolidation or merger or (ii) shall transfer all or substantially all of its properties
and assets to any Person, then, and in each such case, proper provisions shall be made so that the successors and assigns of the Surviving Corporation and its
Subsidiaries shall assume all of the obligations set forth in this Section 8.03.

(d) Notwithstanding anything in this Agreement to the contrary, if any claim, action, suit, proceeding or investigation (whether arising before, at or after
the Closing Date) is
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made against any individuals who were officers, directors or similar functionaries of the Company or its Subsidiaries at or prior to the Effective Time or any other
party covered by directors’ and officers’ liability insurance, on or prior to the sixth (6th) anniversary of the Effective Time, the provisions of this Section 8.03 shall
continue in effect until the final disposition of such claim, action, suit, proceeding or investigation.

(e) The obligations under this Section 8.03 shall not be terminated or modified in such a manner as to affect adversely any indemnitee to whom this
Section 8.03 applies without the consent (which shall not be unreasonably withheld) of such affected indemnitee. The provisions of this Section 8.03 are intended
for the benefit of, and will be enforceable by (as express third party beneficiaries), each current and former officer, director or similar functionary of the Company
and its Subsidiaries and his or her heirs and representatives, heirs, successors and assigns and are in addition to, and not in substitution for, any other rights to
indemnification or contribution that any such person may have had by contract or otherwise.

Section 8.04 Regulatory Filings. Subject to Section 10.04, the Purchaser shall (a) make or cause to be made all filings and submissions under any material
Laws applicable to the Purchaser for the consummation of the transactions contemplated herein, (b) coordinate and cooperate with the Company in exchanging such
information and providing such assistance as the Company may reasonably request in connection with all of the foregoing, and (c) (i) supply promptly any additional
information and documentary material that may be reasonably requested in connection with such filings, (ii) make any further filings pursuant thereto that may be
reasonably necessary, proper, or advisable in connection therewith and (iii) take all commercially reasonable actions necessary to obtain all required clearances.

Section 8.05 Conditions.

The Purchaser shall use commercially reasonable efforts to cause the conditions set forth in Section 4.02 to be satisfied and to consummate the transactions
contemplated herein as soon as reasonably possible after the satisfaction of the conditions set forth in ARTICLE IV (other than those to be satisfied at the Closing);
provided that the Purchaser shall not be required to expend any material funds to obtain any third-party or governmental consents required under Section 4.03(b).

Section 8.06 Contact with Business Relations. The Purchaser hereby agrees that it is not authorized to and shall not (and shall not permit any of its employees,
agents, representatives or Affiliates to) contact (a) any officer, director or employee of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries or (b) any customer, supplier,
distributor or other party with a material business relationship with the Company or any of its Subsidiaries other than contacts made in the ordinary course of
business of the Purchaser that are unrelated to the Company, this Agreement or the transactions contemplated hereby, in each case, prior to the Closing without the
prior written consent of the Company.

Section 8.07 Continuing Confidentiality. The Purchaser agrees and acknowledges that, prior to the Closing. it remains bound by that certain Confidentiality
Agreement, dated as of September 21, 2011, with Angle Advisors, as representative for the Company (the “Confidentiality Agreement™) and that it shall be
responsible for any breaches of the Confidentiality Agreement by any of the Purchaser’s Representatives.
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Section 8.08 Payment of Accrued Bonuses. The Purchaser agrees that it shall cause the Surviving Corporation to pay to the Retained Employees, no later than
June 15, 2012, the amount of any year-end performance bonuses payable to such Retained Employees which are accrued in the finally determined Closing Net
Working Capital.

ARTICLE IX
TERMINATION

Section 9.01 Termination. This Agreement may be terminated and the Merger abandoned at any time prior to the Effective Time as follows and in no other
manner:

(a) by mutual written consent of the Purchaser and the Merger Sub, on the one hand, and the Company, on the other hand;

(b) by the Purchaser and the Merger Sub, on the one hand, and the Company, on the other hand, if there shall be in effect any Order restraining,
enjoining or otherwise prohibiting the Merger or the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby, which Order shall have become final and non-
appealable, it being agreed that the parties hereto shall promptly appeal any adverse determination which is not final or non-appealable and pursue such appeal with
reasonable diligence; provided, however, that the right to terminate this Agreement under this Section 9.01(b) shall not be available to a party if such Order was
primarily due to the failure of such party to perform any of its obligations under this Agreement;

(c) by the Purchaser and the Merger Sub, on the one hand, or by the Company, on the other hand, if the Closing shall not have occurred on or before
the date that is sixty (60) calendar days after the date of this Agreement (the “Outside Date”); provided, however, that no termination may be made under this
Section 9.01(¢) if the failure to close shall be caused by the action or inaction of the terminating party;

(d) by the Purchaser and the Merger Sub, if the Company or the Representative shall have breached or failed to perform any of its representations,
warranties, covenants or agreements set forth in this Agreement, or if any representation or warranty of the Company or the Representative shall have become
untrue, in either case such that the conditions set forth in Sections 4.01(a) and 4.01(b) hereof would not be satisfied or, if such breach is curable by the
Stockholders, the Optionholders or the Company through the exercise of commercially reasonable efforts, such breach shall not have been cured within ten
(10) Business Days following receipt by the Company and the Representative of notice of such breach from the Purchaser; or

(e) by the Representative and the Company, if the Purchaser or the Merger Sub shall have breached or failed to perform any of its representations,
warranties, covenants or agreements set forth in this Agreement, or if any representation or warranty of the Purchaser or the Merger Sub shall have become untrue,
in either case such that the conditions set forth in Sections 4.02(a) and 4.02(b) hereof would not be satisfied or, if such breach is curable by the Purchaser or the
Merger Sub through the exercise of commercially reasonable efforts, such breach shall not have been cured within ten (10) Business Days following receipt by the
Purchaser of notice of such breach from the Company or the Representative;
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(f) by the Purchaser and the Merger Sub, if the Company does not deliver the Stockholder Approval within one (1) Business Day following the date of
this Agreement; or

(g) by the Purchaser or the Company if there have been events, changes, occurrences or circumstances that, individually or in the aggregate, have had
or would reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect.

Section 9.02 Effect of Termination. If this Agreement is terminated pursuant to Section 9.01, this Agreement shall become void and of no further force and
effect (other than this Section 9.02, Article I (Definitions) and Article XIII (Miscellaneous) hereof, which shall survive the termination of this Agreement) without
any liability or obligation on the part of any party hereto, (a) other than liabilities and obligations under the Confidentiality Agreement and (b) except that no such
termination shall relieve any party hereto of any liability for damages resulting from fraud or any willful breach by such party of this Agreement. For purposes of
clarification, the parties hereto agree that if the Purchaser and the Merger Sub do not close the transactions contemplated hereby in accordance with the terms of
this Agreement in circumstances in which all of the closing conditions set forth in Section 4.01 and Section 4.03 have been satisfied, such election shall be deemed
to be a willful breach of this Agreement.

Section 9.03 Procedure Upon Termination. In the event of termination and abandonment by the Purchaser and the Merger Sub, on the one hand, or the
Company and the Representative, on the other hand, or both, pursuant to Section 9.01, written notice thereof shall forthwith be given to the other party or parties.

ARTICLE X

ADDITIONAL AGREEMENTS AND COVENANTS

Section 10.01 Acknowledgment by the Purchaser.

(a) Each of the Purchaser and the Merger Sub acknowledges that it has conducted to its satisfaction an independent investigation and verification of the
financial condition, results of operations, assets, liabilities, properties and projected operations of the Company and its Subsidiaries, and, in making its determination
to proceed with the transactions contemplated by this Agreement, the Purchaser and the Merger Sub have relied solely on the results of their own independent
investigation and verification and the representations and warranties of the Company expressly and specifically set forth in ARTICLE V, as qualified by the attached
Disclosure Schedules. The representations and warranties by the Company expressly and specifically set forth in ARTICLE V constitute the sole and exclusive
representations, warranties, and statements of any kind of any of the Company in connection with the transactions contemplated hereby, and the Purchaser and the
Merger Sub understand, acknowledge and agree that all other representations, warranties, and statements of any kind or nature expressed or implied (including any
relating to the future or historical financial condition, results of operations, prospects, assets or liabilities of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries, or
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the quality, quantity or condition of the Company’s or its Subsidiaries’ assets) are specifically disclaimed by the Company and the Stockholders (including the
Representative) and the Optionholders. THE PURCHASER, THE MERGER SUB AND THEIR RESPECTIVE NON-RECOURSE PARTIES EACH UNDERSTANDS,
ACKNOWLEDGES AND AGREES THAT NONE OF THE STOCKHOLDERS (INCLUDING THE REPRESENTATIVE), THE OPTIONHOLDERS NOR ANY OF
THEIR RESPECTIVE NON-RECOURSE PARTIES (EXCEPT FOR THE COMPANY), HAVE MADE ANY REPRESENTATIONS, WARRANTIES OR
STATEMENTS OF ANY KIND OR NATURE EXPRESS OR IMPLIED (INCLUDING ANY RELATING TO THE FUTURE OR HISTORICAL FINANCIAL
CONDITION, RESULTS OF OPERATIONS, PROSPECTS, ASSETS OR LIABILITIES OF THE COMPANY OR ANY OF ITS SUBSIDIARIES OR THE
QUALITY, QUANTITY OR CONDITION OF THE COMPANY’S OR ITS SUBSIDIARIES’ ASSETS) TO THE PURCHASER AND THE MERGER SUB IN
CONNECTION WITH THE TRANSACTIONS CONTEMPLATED HEREBY. Neither any of the Stockholders or the Optionholders nor, except for the
representations and warranties of the Company expressly set forth in ARTICLE V, the Company make or provide, and the Purchaser and the Merger Sub hereby
waive, any warranty or representation, express or implied, as to the quality, merchantability, fitness for a particular purpose, conformity to samples, or condition of
the Company’s or its Subsidiaries’ assets or any part thereof. THE PURCHASER AND THE MERGER SUB SPECIFICALLY ACKNOWLEDGE AND AGREE
THAT, EXCEPT FOR THE REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF THE COMPANY SET FORTH IN ARTICLE V, (X) THE PURCHASER AND THE
MERGER SUB ARE ACQUIRING THE COMPANY ON AN “AS IS, WHERE IS” BASIS AND (Y) NONE OF THE COMPANY, THE STOCKHOLDERS
(INCLUDING THE REPRESENTATIVE), THE OPTIONHOLDERS NOR ANY OTHER PERSON (INCLUDING, ANY EQUITYHOLDER, OFFICER, DIRECTOR,
MANAGER, EMPLOYEE OR AGENT OF ANY OF THE FOREGOING, WHETHER IN ANY INDIVIDUAL, CORPORATE OR ANY OTHER CAPACITY) IS
MAKING, AND NEITHER THE PURCHASER NOR THE MERGER SUB IS RELYING ON, ANY REPRESENTATIONS, WARRANTIES, OR OTHER
STATEMENTS OF ANY KIND WHATSOEVER, WHETHER ORAL OR WRITTEN, EXPRESS OR IMPLIED, STATUTORY OR OTHERWISE, AS TO ANY
MATTER CONCERNING THE COMPANY OR ANY OF ITS SUBSIDIARIES, THIS AGREEMENT OR THE TRANSACTIONS CONTEMPLATED HEREBY, OR
THE ACCURACY OR COMPLETENESS OF ANY INFORMATION PROVIDED TO (OR OTHERWISE ACQUIRED BY) THE PURCHASER OR THE MERGER
SUB OR ANY OF THE PURCHASER’S REPRESENTATIVES.

(b) Neither the Company, nor any of the Stockholders (including the Representative) or Optionholders, nor any equityholder, officer, director, manager,
employee or agent of any of the foregoing, whether in an individual, corporate or any other capacity, will have or be subject to any liability or indemnification
obligation to the Purchaser or the Merger Sub or any other Person resulting from (nor shall the Purchaser or the Merger Sub have any claim with respect to) the
distribution to the Purchaser or the Merger Sub, or the Purchaser’s or the Merger Sub’s use of, or reliance on, any information, documents, projections, forecasts
or other material made available to the Purchaser or the Merger Sub in certain “data rooms,” confidential information memoranda or management presentations in
expectation of, or in connection with, the transactions contemplated by this Agreement, regardless of the legal theory under which such liability or obligation may be
sought to be imposed, whether sounding in contract or tort, or whether at law or in equity, or otherwise.
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(¢) In connection with the investigation by the Purchaser and the Merger Sub of the Company and its Subsidiaries, the Purchaser and the Merger Sub
have received or may receive from the Company or its Subsidiaries certain projections, forward-looking statements and other forecasts and certain business plan
information. The Purchaser and the Merger Sub acknowledge that there are uncertainties inherent in attempting to make such estimates, projections and other
forecasts and plans, that the Purchaser and the Merger Sub are familiar with such uncertainties, that the Purchaser and the Merger Sub are taking full responsibility
for making their own evaluation of the adequacy and accuracy of all estimates, projections and other forecasts and plans so furnished to it (including the
reasonableness of the assumptions underlying such estimates, projections, forecasts or plans), and that the Purchaser and the Merger Sub shall have no claim against
anyone with respect thereto, other than claims with respect to fraud. Accordingly, the Purchaser and the Merger Sub acknowledge that neither the Company nor any
of the Stockholders (including the Representative) or the Optionholders, nor any equityholder, officer, director, manager, employee or agent of any of the foregoing,
whether in an individual, corporate or any other capacity, make any representation, warranty, or other statement with respect to, and neither the Purchaser nor the
Merger Sub is relying on, such estimates, projections, forecasts or plans (including the reasonableness of the assumptions underlying such estimates, projections,
forecasts or plans).

(d) The Purchaser, on behalf of itself and all of its Affiliates (including the Company and its Subsidiaries after the Closing), releases the Sun Manager,
its Affiliates and each of their respective equityholders, officers, managers, directors, employees or agents, whether in any individual, corporate or other capacity,
effective as of the Closing from any and all Losses of any kind so whatsoever in connection with any actions taken or omitted to be taken at any time prior to the
Closing, including with respect to the Consulting Agreement, except as provided in Section 11.01.

(e) Notwithstanding anything contained herein, the Purchaser is not releasing any right or claims it may have against the Stockholders, the
tionholders or any other Person, with respect to fraud.
y P

Section 10.02 Further Assurances. From time to time, as and when requested by any party hereto and at such party’s expense, any other party shall execute
and deliver, or cause to be executed and delivered, all such documents and instruments and shall take, or cause to be taken, all such further or other actions as such
requesting party may reasonably deem necessary or desirable to evidence and effectuate the transactions contemplated by this Agreement.

Section 10.03 Employees and Employee Benefits.

(a) Salary and Wages. All employees of the Company and its Subsidiaries (including those employees on approved leaves of absence) who are employed
by the Company and its Subsidiaries immediately following the Closing Date are referred to as “Retained Employees.” The Retained Employees (other than those
Retained Employees who have entered into employment agreements with the Purchaser or the Surviving Corporation in connection with
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the Merger) shall be provided at least the same base wages, annual base salary and annual rate of bonus potential (determined as a percentage of annual base salary)
(but excluding any equity plan program or arrangement and any sale or transaction-based bonuses) provided to each such employee on the Closing Date until
December 31, 2012. Nothing in this Section 10.03(a) or any other provision of this Agreement shall obligate the Purchaser, the Company or its Subsidiaries to
continue the employment of any such Retained Employee for any specific period.

(b) Employee Benefits. As of the Closing Date through December 31, 2012, the Purchaser shall provide, or shall cause the Company to provide, the
Retained Employees (other than those Retained Employees who have entered into employment agreements with the Purchaser or the Surviving Corporation in
connection with the Merger) with employee benefits (other than any equity-based compensation) that are substantially similar in the aggregate to the benefits
provided to such Retained Employees, as a whole, immediately prior to the Closing Date. Notwithstanding the foregoing or any other provision to the contrary, in no
event shall the Purchaser or the Company be required to provide the Retained Employees with any equity-based compensation, defined benefit pension plan, retiree
medical benefits or any other retiree welfare benefits and any such benefits provided to Retained Employees prior to the Closing Date will not be taken into account
when determining whether Purchaser has satisfied its obligation set forth in the preceding sentence.

(c) Employee Service Credit. The Purchaser shall give, or cause the Company to give, each Retained Employee credit under any benefit plan or
personnel policies that cover the Retained Employee after the Closing Date, including any vacation, sick leave and severance policies, for purposes of eligibility,
vesting and entitlement to vacation, sick leave and severance benefits (but not for purposes of benefit accrual, other than vacation, sick leave and severance benefits)
for the Retained Employee’s service with the Company and its Subsidiaries prior to the Closing Date. If any of the Welfare Plans are terminated prior to the end of
the plan year that includes the Closing Date, (i) the Purchaser shall use reasonable commercial efforts to cause any preexisting-condition limitations, waiting periods,
evidence of insurability or other exclusions or limitations not imposed on the Retained Employee by the corresponding Welfare Plans immediately prior to the Closing
Date to be waived under any similar replacement plan covering the Retained Employee and (ii) the Purchaser shall use commercially reasonable efforts to cause the
Retained Employees to be credited with any expenses that were covered by Welfare Plans and paid by the Retained Employees for purposes of determining
deductibles, copays and other applicable limits under any similar replacement plans covering the Retained Employees to the extent such replacement plans have the
same plan year as the applicable Welfare Plan.

(d) Vacation Pay and Personal Holidays. The Purchaser shall cause the Company to continue to credit to each Retained Employee all vacation and
personal holiday pay that the Retained Employee is entitled to use but has not used as of the Closing Date (including any earned vacation or personal holiday pay to
be used in future years), and shall assume all liability for the payment of such amounts to the extent accrued in the Closing Net Working Capital as finally determined
pursuant to Section 3.03.

(e) Labor Agreements. As of and after the Closing, the Surviving Corporation or its relevant Subsidiaries will continue (for so long as such contracts
are in effect) to be bound by the agreements set forth in subsection (i) of the Contracts Schedule.
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(f) No Employment Rights or Third Party Beneficiaries. Nothing set forth in this Section 10.03 shall (i) create any third party beneficiary or other rights
in any employee or former employee (including any beneficiary or dependent thereof) of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries or any other Person other than the
parties hereto and their respective successors and permitted assigns, (ii) constitute or create an employment agreement or (iii) constitute or be deemed to constitute
an amendment to any Plan or any employee benefit plan sponsored or maintained by the Purchaser or its Affiliates.

(g) Prior to the Closing Date, the Company shall submit to a stockholder vote the right of any Disqualified Individual to receive any and all payments (or
other benefits) contingent on the consummation of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement (within the meaning of Section 280G(b)(2)(A)(i) of the Code)
(each such payment, a “Parachute Payment”), in a manner that satisfies the stockholder approval requirements under Section 280G(b)(5)(B) of the Code and the
regulations promulgated thereunder (a “Section 280G Stockholder Vote™). The parties agree that for purposes of this Agreement, the definition of Parachute Payment
shall exclude any payments made or to be made pursuant to any employment agreement or other Contracts entered into or negotiated by the Purchaser, the Merger
Sub or any of their respective Affiliates who are Affiliates prior to the Closing (“Purchaser Payments”). Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this
Section 10.03(g) or otherwise in this Agreement, the parties acknowledge and agree that any Section 280G Stockholder Vote (if required pursuant to this
Section 10.03(g)) shall establish the right of such Disqualified Individual to receive the Parachute Payments. In addition, in connection with the Section 280G
Stockholder Vote, (i) within ten (10) days after the date hereof, the Purchaser shall provide the Company with all information and documents necessary to allow the
Company to determine whether the Purchaser Payments, together with all Parachute Payments, could reasonably be considered to be “parachute payments” within
the meaning of Section 280G(b)(2) of the Code, (ii) within ten (10) days after the date hereof, the Company shall provide the Purchaser with all information and
documents requested by the Purchaser to determine whether the Parachute Payments, together with the Purchaser Payments, could reasonably be considered to be
“parachute payments” within the meaning of Section 280G(b)(2) of the Code, and (iii) the Company shall provide adequate disclosure to all Stockholders entitled to
vote of all material facts concerning all Parachute Payments that, but for such vote, could be deemed “excess parachute payments” to a Disqualified Individual under
Section 280G of the Code in a manner that satisfies Section 280G(b)(5)(B)(ii) of the Code and the regulations promulgated thereunder. Prior to providing the
Stockholders with any materials necessary to comply with such Section 280G Stockholder Vote, the Company shall provide the Purchaser with a draft of all
disclosure documents related to the Section 280G Stockholder Vote and Disqualified Individual waivers in sufficient time to allow Purchaser to comment thereon.
The Company shall incorporate into such documents any reasonable comments that are timely provided by Purchaser, and the Company acknowledges that such
comments may include additional language to be added to the disclosure documents, waivers, stockholder consent and related documents in order to submit any
Purchaser Payments to the Section 280G Stockholder Vote in order to determine the right of such Disqualified Individual to receive such Purchaser Payments.
Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Section 10.03(g) or otherwise in this Agreement, if the Parachute Payments (not taking into account the Purchaser
Payments) will not be considered “parachute payments” within the meaning of Section 280G(b)(2) of the Code, the Company will not be required to submit the
Parachute Payments to the Section 280G Stockholder Vote unless either the Company or the Purchaser has
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determined in good faith that the Purchaser Payments, together with the Parachute Payments, could reasonably be considered to be “parachute payments” within the
meaning of Section 280G(b)(2) of the Code and in the case of such a determination by Purchaser, Purchaser has notified the Company of its determination.

Section 10.04 Antitrust Notification.

(a) The Company and the Purchaser shall, as promptly as practicable and before the expiration of any relevant legal deadline, but in no event later than
two (2) Business Days following the execution and delivery of this Agreement, file with (i) the United States Federal Trade Commission (the “FTC”) and the
United States Department of Justice (“DQJ”), the notification and report form required for the transactions contemplated hereby and any supplemental information
requested in connection therewith pursuant to the HSR Act, which forms shall specifically request early termination of the waiting period prescribed by the HSR Act
and (ii) any other Governmental Body, any other filings, reports, information and documentation required for the transactions contemplated hereby pursuant to any
Other Antitrust Regulations. Each of the Company and the Purchaser shall furnish to each other’s counsel such necessary information and reasonable assistance as
the other may request in connection with its preparation of any filing or submission that is necessary under the HSR Act and any Other Antitrust Regulations. The
Purchaser and the Company shall initially share equally in the payment of all filing fees and local counsel fees payable in connection with the filings described in the
first sentence of this Section 10.04(a); provided, that if the Closing occurs, the Purchaser shall reimburse the Stockholders and the Optionholders at Closing for all
such amounts paid by the Company as an increase in the Closing Cash Proceeds pursuant to Section 2.02(a).

(b) The Company and the Purchaser shall use their commercially reasonable efforts to promptly obtain any clearance required under the HSR Act and
any Other Antitrust Regulations for the consummation of this Agreement, the Merger and the transactions contemplated hereby and shall keep each other apprised of
the status of any communications with, and any inquiries or requests for additional information from any Governmental Body and shall comply promptly with any
such inquiry or request. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Agreement, neither the Purchaser nor any of its Affiliates (which for purposes of this
sentence shall include the Company) shall be required, in connection with the matters covered by this Section 10.04, (i) to commence or defend any litigation, (ii) to
hold separate (including by trust or otherwise) or divest any of their respective businesses, product lines or assets, (iii) to agree to any limitation on the operation or
conduct of their or the Company’s or any of its Subsidiaries” respective businesses or (iv) to waive any of the conditions set forth in Article IV of this Agreement;
provided, however, that at the request of the Company, the Purchaser and its Affiliates shall be obligated to administratively contest any ruling, Order, Proceeding or
other action of the FTC or the DOJ pursuant to the HSR Act respecting the transactions contemplated by this Agreement.

(c) The parties hereto commit to instruct their respective counsel to cooperate with each other and use commercially reasonable efforts to facilitate and
expedite the identification and resolution of any issues arising under the HSR Act and any Other Antitrust Regulations at the earliest practicable dates. Such
commercially reasonable efforts and cooperation include counsel’s undertaking (i) to keep each other appropriately informed of
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communications from and to personnel of the reviewing Governmental Bodies, and (ii) to confer with each other regarding appropriate contacts with and response
to personnel of such Governmental Bodies and the content of any such contacts or presentations. Neither the Company nor the Purchaser shall participate in any
meeting or discussion with any Governmental Body with respect of any such filings, applications, investigation, or other inquiry without giving the other party prior
notice of the meeting or discussion and, to the extent permitted by the relevant Governmental Body, the opportunity to attend and participate in such meeting or
discussion (which, at the request of either the Purchaser or the Company, shall be limited to outside antitrust counsel only). The Company and the Purchaser shall
each approve in the content of any presentations, white papers or other written materials to be submitted to any Governmental Body in advance of any such
submission.

ARTICLE XI

INDEMNIFICATION

Section 11.01 Indemnification. From and after the Closing (but subject to the provisions of this ARTICLE XI and the Escrow Agreement), the Purchaser will
be indemnified from the General Escrow Funds in respect of any and all losses, liabilities, claims, obligations, demands, judgments, damages, interest, fines,
penalties, suits, actions, causes of action, assessments, awards, costs and expenses (including costs of investigation and defense and reasonable attorneys’ and other
professionals’ fees), whether or not involving a third-party claim (individually, a “Loss” and, collectively, “Losses”) suffered or incurred by the Purchaser and any
of its Affiliates (including the Surviving Corporation) and their respective officers, directors, employees, stockholders, agents, attorneys, representatives, successors
and assigns (collectively, the “Purchaser Indemnified Parties™) to the extent arising from (w) any inaccuracy in any representation or warranty of the Company
contained in this Agreement (including the Disclosure Schedules), the Company Documents or in any other document or agreement delivered hereunder, (x) any
nonfulfillment or breach of any covenant or agreement of the Company or the Representative contained in this Agreement, the Company Documents or in any other
document or agreement delivered hereunder requiring performance prior to the Closing, (y) any nonfulfillment or breach of any covenant or agreement of the
Representative contained in this Agreement, the Company Documents or in any other document or agreement delivered hereunder requiring performance subsequent
to the Closing and (z) any Transaction Expenses and Funded Indebtedness not taken into account in the calculation of Closing Cash Proceeds, as increased or
decreased by any Purchase Price Adjustments; provided that the Purchaser’s right to assert claims against the General Escrow Funds pursuant to this Section 11.01
and Section 12.02 shall be subject to the following limitations:

(a) the Purchaser Indemnified Parties shall not be entitled to recover under clause (w) or (x) of this Section 11.01 for an individual claim or group of
related claims with respect to any Losses unless and until the amount of Losses that otherwise would be payable pursuant to clause (w) or (x) of this Section 11.01
with respect to such claim or group of related claims exceeds Twenty-Five Thousand Dollars ($25,000.00) (the “Per Claim Threshold”), and then the Purchaser
Indemnified Parties shall be entitled to recover only for the excess over the Per Claim Threshold, it being understood that any such individual claims or group of
related claims for amounts less than the Per Claim Threshold shall be ignored in determining whether the Basket has been exceeded,
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(b) the Purchaser Indemnified Parties shall not be entitled to recover under clause (w) or (x) of this Section 11.01 until the total amount which the
Purchaser Indemnified Parties would otherwise recover under clause (w) or (x) of this Section 11.01 (but for this Section 11.01(b)) exceeds on a cumulative basis
an amount equal to Five Hundred Thousand Dollars ($500,000.00) (the “Basket™), and then only to the extent of any such excess, it being understood that any
individual claims or group of related claims for amounts less than the Per Claim Threshold shall be ignored in determining whether the Basket has been exceeded;

(c) the Purchaser Indemnified Parties shall not be entitled to recover under this Section 11.01 with respect to any Losses arising under Environmental
Laws or otherwise with respect to Releases of Hazardous Materials as a result of the following occurring after the Closing Date: (i) any negligent actions by or on
behalf of any of the Purchaser Indemnified Parties which exacerbate or otherwise increase the cost associated with any environmental conditions occurring or in
existence at or associated with any Real Property on or prior to the Closing Date, (ii) any disclosure or reporting by or on behalf of the Purchaser to any
Governmental Body or to any other Person unless (A) required by any Environmental Law or (B) required by a Governmental Body, (iii) testing or sampling of soil,
groundwater or other environmental media by or on behalf of the Purchaser Indemnified Parties or any other Person (other than a landlord of the Purchaser) at the
Real Property unless (A) required by any Environmental Law, (B) required by a Governmental Body, (C) required by the landlord pursuant to any applicable Lease
provided that the Purchaser first undertake reasonable measures to dispute any such landlord demands for sampling to the extent not otherwise required under
Environmental Laws, (D) necessary in connection with the defense or resolution of a third-party claim, provided that the Purchaser first undertakes reasonable
measures to avoid any such third-party-claim-related sampling to the extent not otherwise required under Environmental Laws, (E) conducted in connection with any
construction, repair or maintenance projects, but only to the extent conditions observed reasonably indicate a potential material Release of Hazardous Materials or
threat to human health which could require response action or personal protective measures under Environmental Laws, (F) necessary in connection with
maintaining and/or using any groundwater wells existing at the Real Property as of the Closing Date, (iv) any material changes in use at any Real Property or (v) the
closure or cessation in whole or in substantial part of the Company’s or its Subsidiaries’ operations at any Real Property;

(d) the Purchaser Indemnified Parties shall not be entitled to recover under this Section 11.01 or Section 12.02, and no Losses related thereto shall be
aggregated for purposes of Section 11.01(a) or 11.01(b), with respect to (i) any Loss which would not have arisen but for any change in the accounting policies,
practices or procedures adopted by the Purchaser or its Affiliates after the Closing Date or (i) any Loss which would not have arisen but for any alteration or repeal
or enactment of any Law after the Closing Date;

(e) the Purchaser Indemnified Parties shall only be entitled to recover under clause (w) of this Section 11.01 or Section 12.02 for any breach of any
representations and warranties regarding Taxes for Losses with respect to taxable periods or portions thereof that end (or are deemed pursuant to Section 12.04(b)
to end) on or before the Closing Date; and
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(f) in no event shall the aggregate amount of Purchaser’s claims made pursuant to this Section 11.01 and Section 12.02 exceed the amount of the
General Escrow Funds from time to time (the “Cap”).

The Purchaser agrees that in the event of any breach giving rise to an indemnification obligation under this Section 11.01 or
Section 12.02, the Purchaser shall take and cause its Affiliates (including the Surviving Corporation and its Subsidiaries) to take, or cooperate with the
Representative, if so requested by the Representative, in order to take, commercially reasonable efforts to mitigate Losses after becoming aware of any event which
could reasonably be expected to give rise to any Losses that are indemnifiable or recoverable hereunder or in connection herewith (including taking steps to prevent
any contingent liability from becoming an actual liability). Except as set forth in the following sentence, for purposes of determining the inaccuracy of any
representations or warranty and calculating the amount of any Losses hereunder with respect thereto, any materiality or Material Adverse Effect qualifications
contained in the representations and warranties shall be disregarded. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the materiality or Material Adverse Effect qualifications shall not
be disregarded with respect to any of the following representations or warranties of the Company: (i) the representations and warranties contained in clause (i) of
Section 5.06 (Absence of Certain Developments) and (ii) the representations and warranties in the certificate to be delivered by the Company pursuant to
Section 4.01(e)(i) with respect to the representations and warranties set forth in clause (i) above.

Section 11.02 Exclusive Remedy.

(a) The Purchaser acknowledges and agrees that, from and after the Closing, its sole and exclusive remedy with respect to any and all monetary claims
(other than claims for fraud) relating (directly or indirectly) to the subject matter of this Agreement or the transactions contemplated hereby (including relating to any
exhibit, Schedule or document delivered hereunder), regardless of the legal theory under which such liability or obligation may be sought to be imposed, whether
sounding in contract or tort, or whether at law or in equity, or otherwise, shall be pursuant to the provisions set forth in this ARTICLE XI, ARTICLE XII and the
provisions of the Escrow Agreement. In furtherance of the foregoing, the Purchaser hereby waives, from and after the Closing, to the fullest extent permitted under
applicable Law, any and all rights, claims and causes of action it may have against the Stockholders (including the Representative), the Optionholders and any
Affiliate, equityholder, officer, manager, director, employee or agent of any of the foregoing, whether in any individual, corporate or any other capacity (collectively,
the “Seller Indemnification Parties”) relating (directly or indirectly) to the subject matter of this Agreement or the transactions contemplated hereby (including
relating to any exhibit, Schedule or document delivered hereunder) arising under or based upon any federal, state, local or foreign statute, Law or ordinance or
otherwise, including any rights, claims or causes of action with respect to any environmental, health or safety matters (including all matters arising under the
Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation and Liability Act of 1980, as amended).

(b) Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in this Agreement, the Purchaser shall have no right to indemnification under Section 11.01 or
Section 12.02 with respect to any Loss or alleged Loss to the extent the amount of such Loss or alleged Loss is included in the Transaction Expenses paid at Closing
or in the calculation of Funded Indebtedness or Closing Net Working Capital or the Closing Net Tax Amount.
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(c) Except for the Purchaser pursuant to Section 3.02(e), no Person (including the Stockholders and the Optionholders and their respective Affiliates)
shall have any obligation to fund the General Escrow Account or the Adjustment Escrow Account.

(d) The parties hereto agree that the provisions in this Agreement relating to indemnification, and the limits imposed on the Purchaser’s remedies with
respect to this Agreement and the transactions contemplated hereby (including Section 10.01 and this Section 11.02) were specifically bargained for between
sophisticated parties and were specifically taken into account in the determination of the amounts to be paid to the Stockholders (including the Representative) and
the Optionholders hereunder. The Purchaser may not avoid the limitations on liability set forth in this Article XI by seeking damages for breach of contract, tort or
pursuant to any other theory of liability.

(e) Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in this Agreement, the Company and the Representative, on the one hand, and the Purchaser and
the Merger Sub, on the other hand, acknowledge and agree that a breach of this Agreement would cause irreparable damage to the other parties and that the other
parties will not have an adequate remedy at law. Therefore, the obligations of the parties under this Agreement, including to consummate the Merger and the
transactions contemplated hereby, shall be enforceable by a decree of specific performance issued by any court of competent jurisdiction, and appropriate injunctive
relief may be applied for and granted in connection therewith. Such remedies shall, however, be cumulative and not be exclusive and shall be in addition to any other
remedies which any party may have under this Agreement, the Company Documents, the Purchaser Documents, the Merger Sub Documents or otherwise.

Section 11.03 Indemnification by the Purchaser. The Purchaser shall indemnify the Seller Indemnification Parties against and hold them harmless from any
Losses suffered or incurred by any such Seller Indemnification Party to the extent arising from (i) any breach or misrepresentation of any representation or warranty
of the Purchaser or the Merger Sub contained in this Agreement, the Purchaser Documents, the Merger Sub Documents or in any other document or agreement
delivered hereunder, (ii) any nonfulfillment or breach of any covenant of the Purchaser or the Merger Sub contained in this Agreement or in any exhibit, Schedule or
document delivered hereunder requiring performance on or prior to the Closing Date; and (iii) any nonfulfillment or breach of any covenant of the Purchaser or the
Surviving Corporation contained in this Agreement or in any exhibit, Schedule or document delivered hereunder requiring performance on or after the Closing Date.
Any indemnification pursuant to this Section 11.03 shall be delivered to the Representative (on behalf of the Stockholders and the Optionholders) by wire transfer of
immediately available funds to an account designated by the Representative within five (5) days after the determination thereof.

Section 11.04 Termination of Indemnification. The obligations to indemnify and hold harmless a party hereto in respect of a breach of representation or
warranty or covenant shall terminate when the applicable representation or warranty or covenant terminates pursuant to Section 11.07; provided, however, that such
obligations to indemnify and hold harmless shall not
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terminate with respect to any item as to which the Indemnified Party shall have, prior to the expiration of the applicable period, previously made a claim by delivering
a written notice (stating in reasonable detail the nature of, and factual and legal basis for, any such claim for indemnification, and the provisions of this Agreement
upon which such claim for indemnification is made) to the Indemnifying Party. In order to determine the validity or the amount of any such claim, the Purchaser
shall, and shall cause the Surviving Corporation to, provide the Representative and its representatives full access, upon the reasonable request of the Representative,
to (i) all books, records and other documents (including work papers, memoranda, financial statements, Tax Returns, Tax schedules and work papers, Tax rulings,
and other determinations, etc.) relating to or containing information relevant to such claim and (ii) the Purchaser’s and the Surviving Corporation’s employees,
accountants and other professional advisors (including making the Surviving Corporation’s chief financial officer, accountants and attorneys available to respond to
reasonable written or oral inquiries of the Representative and its representatives); provided, that, (i) the provision of such information and access shall be subject to
the execution by the Representative of a reasonable and customary confidentiality agreement in form and substance reasonably satisfactory to the Purchaser and
(i) notwithstanding the foregoing clause (i), in no event shall the Purchaser or the Surviving Corporation be required to disclose any materials to the extent that
doing so would cause a risk of loss of attorney-client privilege to the Purchaser or its Subsidiaries; provided, further, that notwithstanding any provision to the
contrary, the Representative shall not be prohibited from using any such information to determine the validity of any claim, pursuing any claim or contesting the
validity of any claim.

Section 11.05 Procedures Relating to Indemnification.

(a) In order for a Person (the “Indemnified Party”) to be entitled to any indemnification provided for under this Agreement in respect of a Proceeding
instituted or any claim or demand made by any Person against the Indemnified Party (a “Third-Party Claim”), such Indemnified Party must notify the indemnifying
party (the “Indemnifying Party”) in writing, and in reasonable detail (including a description of the claim, the amount thereof (if known and quantifiable) and the
basis thereof and the provisions of this Agreement upon which such claim for indemnification is made), of the Third-Party Claim as promptly as reasonably possible
after receipt, but in no event later than ten (10) Business Days after receipt, by such Indemnified Party of notice of the Third-Party Claim; provided that failure to
give such notification on a timely basis shall not release, waive or otherwise affect the indemnification provided hereunder except to the extent the Indemnifying
Party shall have been actually prejudiced as a result of such failure. Thereafter, the Indemnified Party shall deliver to the Indemnifying Party, within five (5) Business
Days after the Indemnified Party’s receipt thereof, copies of all notices and documents (including court papers) received by the Indemnified Party relating to the
Third-Party Claim.

(b) The Indemnifying Party shall have the right, exercisable by written notice to the Indemnified Party within twenty (20) Business Days after receipt of
a written notice from the Indemnified Party of the commencement or assertion of any Third-Party Claim in respect of which indemnification may be sought
hereunder and all other information in the Indemnified Party’s possession or control relating to such Third-Party Claim reasonably requested by the Indemnifying
Party, to assume and conduct the defense of such Third-Party Claim in accordance
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with the limits set forth in this Agreement with counsel selected by the Indemnifying Party and reasonably acceptable to the Indemnified Party; provided, however,
that, except for any claim in respect of Taxes, (i) prior to assuming control of such defense the Indemnifying Party shall verify to the Indemnified Party in writing
that such Indemnifying Party shall be responsible for all Losses relating to such Third-Party Claim subject to the limitations set forth in this Article X1, (ii) the
Indemnifying Party may not assume and conduct the defense of such Third-Party Claim to the extent such Third-Party Claim seeks equitable relief (other than
equitable claims that are ancillary to a claim for monetary damages) and (iii) the Indemnifying Party may not assume and conduct the defense of such Third-Party
Claim if an adverse determination would reasonably be expected to either (x) have a material and adverse effect on the business, operations or financial condition of
the Indemnified Party or (y) in the event the Indemnifying Party is the Stockholders and Optionholders, result in the then-remaining General Escrow Funds covering
less than eighty percent (80%) of the Losses relating to such Third-Party Claim. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Representative (on behalf of the Stockholders
and the Optionholders) shall continue to be entitled to assert any limitation on any claims against the General Escrow Funds made by the Purchaser Indemnified
Parties in accordance with Sections 11.01, 11.02 and 12.02. Should an Indemnifying Party so elect to assume the defense of a Third-Party Claim, the Indemnifying
Party shall not be liable to the Indemnified Party for legal expenses subsequently incurred by the Indemnified Party in connection with the defense thereof. If the
Indemnifying Party assumes such defense, the Indemnified Party shall have the right to participate in the defense thereof and to employ counsel, at its own expense,
separate from the counsel employed by the Indemnifying Party, it being understood, however, that the Indemnifying Party shall control such defense. The
Indemnifying Party shall be liable for the fees and expenses of counsel employed by the Indemnified Party for any period during which the Indemnifying Party has
not assumed the defense thereof. If the Representative (on behalf of the Stockholders and the Optionholders) is the Indemnifying Party, the reasonable expenses of
the Representative incurred in defending a Third-Party Claim (or any participation in a Third-Party Claim that could result in Losses to the Representative) shall be
reimbursed, when and as incurred from the Representative Holdback Amount. If the Indemnifying Party chooses to defend any Third-Party Claim, all the parties
hereto shall cooperate in the defense or prosecution of such Third-Party Claim. Such cooperation shall include the retention and (upon the Indemnifying Party’s
request), subject to Section 11.04, the provision to the Indemnifying Party of records and information which are reasonably relevant to such Third-Party Claim, and
making employees and other representatives and advisors available on a mutually convenient basis to provide additional information and explanation of any material
provided hereunder. If the Indemnifying Party shall control the defense of any Third-Party Claim then the Indemnifying Party shall be entitled to settle such Third-
Party Claim; provided, that, the Indemnifying Party shall obtain the prior written consent of the Indemnified Party (which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld
or delayed) before entering into any settlement if such settlement (i) does not include as an unconditional term thereof the giving by the claimant or the plaintiff to the
Indemnified Party of a complete release from all liability with respect to such Third-Party Claim, (ii) grants any injunctive or equitable relief, or (iii) would reasonably
be expected to materially and adversely affect the business of the Indemnified Party. Whether or not the Representative shall have assumed the defense of a Third-
Party Claim, neither the Purchaser nor any of its Affiliates shall admit any liability with respect to, or settle, compromise or discharge, any Third-Party Claim for
which any sums are recoverable from the General Escrow Funds pursuant to Sections 11.01, 11.02 and 12.02 without
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the prior written consent of the Representative (which, in the event the Representative has not assumed the defense of such Third-Party Claim consent, shall not be
unreasonably withheld or delayed).

(c) A claim for indemnification pursuant to Article XI or Article XII for any matter not involving a Third-Party Claim may be asserted by notice to the
Indemnifying Party.

Section 11.06 Losses Net of Tax Benefits and Insurance. The amount of any and all Losses under this ARTICLE XI shall be determined net of (i) any Tax
Benefits actually realized by any party seeking indemnification hereunder arising from the deductibility of any such Losses and (ii) any amounts recovered or
recoverable by the Indemnified Party under insurance policies, indemnities or other reimbursement arrangements with respect to such Losses. The Indemnified Party
shall seek full recovery under all insurance policies covering any Loss to the same extent as they would if such Loss were not subject to indemnification hereunder.
If, in any taxable year up to and including the taxable year in which the General Escrow Account is fully released, the Indemnified Party receives a Tax Benefit after
an indemnification payment is made to it that was not taken into account at the time the indemnification payment was made, the Indemnified Party shall promptly pay
to the Representative (on behalf of the Stockholders and the Optionholders) the amount of such Tax Benefit at such time or times as and to the extent that such Tax
Benefit is realized by the Indemnified Party. In the event that an insurance or other recovery is made by any Indemnified Party with respect to any Loss for which
any such Person has been indemnified hereunder, then a refund equal to the aggregate amount of the recovery shall be promptly made to the applicable Indemnified
Person. Each party hereto waives, to the extent permitted under its applicable insurance policies, any subrogation rights that its insurer may have with respect to any
indemnifiable Losses. Except to the extent actually paid to an unrelated third party in connection with a Third-Party Claim, in no event shall any of the Purchaser
Indemnified Parties be entitled to recover against the Stockholders or Optionholders or Representatives or any of their respective Affiliates, equityholders, directors,
officers, managers, employees or agents, including with respect to the General Escrow Funds, regardless of the legal theory under which such liability or obligation
may be sought to be imposed, whether sounding in contract or tort, or whether at law or in equity, or otherwise, for any amounts in respect of punitive damages or
Losses that arise solely from the special circumstances of any Purchaser Indemnified Party that have not been communicated to the Company. Any indemnity
payment under this Agreement shall be treated as an adjustment to the Transaction Price for Tax purposes unless otherwise required by Law.

Section 11.07 Survival. The representations and warranties of the Company set forth in ARTICLE V of this Agreement shall survive the Closing solely for
purposes of Section 11.01 and shall terminate on the close of business on the date that is eighteen months after the Closing Date (the “Expiration Date”). The
covenants of the Company and of the Representative contained in this Agreement which are to be performed prior to the Closing shall survive the Closing solely for
purposes of Section 11.01 and shall terminate on the close of business on the first anniversary of the Closing Date. The covenants of the Purchaser, the Company
and the Representative contained in this Agreement which are to be performed at or after the Closing shall survive the Closing in accordance with their respective
terms. The indemnity pursuant to clause (z) of Section 11.01 shall terminate on the close of business on the date that is eighteen months after the Closing Date. No
claim for indemnification hereunder for breach of any
representations, warranties, covenants, agreements and other provisions may be made after the expiration of the applicable survival period set forth in this
Section 11.07.
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ARTICLE XII

TAX MATTERS

Section 12.01 Preparation and Filing of Tax Returns; Payment of Taxes.

(a) The Company shall prepare and timely file all Tax Returns of the Company or any Subsidiary of the Company required to be filed (taking into
account extensions) prior to the Closing Date.

(b) Subject to Section 12.01(c), the Purchaser shall prepare or cause to be prepared and timely file or cause to be filed all other Tax Returns with
respect to the Company or any Subsidiary of the Company or in respect of their business, assets or operations. The Representative, on behalf of the Stockholders
and Optionholders, shall upon reasonable notice by the Purchaser pay to the Purchaser at least three (3) days prior to the due date for any such other Tax Return the
amount of any Income Tax for any Pre-Closing Tax Period or Pre-Closing Straddle Period to the extent any such Income Tax is not accrued as a liability in the
Closing Net Tax Amount; provided, that none of the Stockholders or the Optionholders shall have any liability pursuant to Section 11.01 or Section 12.02 for any
amounts paid pursuant to this Section 12.01(b). To the extent that the Closing Net Tax Amount exceeds the aggregate amount of Income Tax shown as due and
owing on all Income Tax Returns for the Pre-Closing Tax Period and the Pre-Closing Straddle Period (the “Net Tax Amount Excess”), the Purchaser shall pay over
the Net Tax Amount Excess, without setoff, to the Representative for the benefit of the Stockholders and Optionholders no more than three (3) days after the due
date for the U.S. federal income Tax Return of the Company for the taxable period that ends on the Closing Date; provided, however, that if any Income Tax Return
for the Pre-Closing Tax Period includes a Tax Benefit in respect of any year-end performance bonuses paid to the Retained Employees pursuant to Section 8.08,
then the Net Tax Amount Excess shall not include any such Tax Benefit included in the calculation of the Performance Bonus Tax Amount.

(c) Any Tax Return for Income Taxes to be prepared and filed after the Closing Date for taxable periods beginning before the Closing Date (“Pre-
Closing Tax Returns”) shall be prepared on a basis consistent with the past practices of the Company and its Subsidiaries unless otherwise required by Law. Any net
operating loss shall be carried back to the fullest extent permitted by Law, and no election will be made for such net operating losses to only be carried forward
unless otherwise requested by the Representative. Any net operating loss shall be carried forward where a carry back of such net operating loss is not permitted by
Law. The Purchaser shall provide the Representative for review and comment with a copy of all proposed Pre-Closing Tax Returns (and such additional information
regarding such Tax Return as may reasonably be requested by the Representative) at least thirty (30) days prior to the filing of such Tax Return, except that in the
case of a Pre-Closing Tax Return related to Income Taxes due within ninety (90) days following the Closing Date, the copy shall be provided to the Representative
within ten (10) days prior to the filing. The Purchaser and the Representative shall use good faith efforts to resolve any dispute regarding the preparation of such
Pre-Closing
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Tax Returns. If the Purchaser and the Representative are unable to resolve any dispute regarding the preparation of such Pre-Closing Tax Returns, they shall refer
such dispute to the Valuation Firm, whose determination shall be final and conclusive on the parties hereto, in accordance with the procedures set forth in

Section 3.03; provided, however, that if the Valuation Firm does not resolve any disputed items prior to the deadline for filing, such Pre-Closing Tax Return shall be
filed reflecting the Purchaser’s comments subject to amendment upon resolution by the Valuation Firm.

Section 12.02 Tax Indemnification. Subject to the limitations set forth in ARTICLE XI (including, without limitation, those set forth in Section 11.02(b) and
Section 11.01(f)), the Purchaser, the Company, the Surviving Corporation and the Subsidiaries shall be indemnified (through claims against the General Escrow
Funds) against the following Taxes and Losses, without duplication, with respect to the Surviving Corporation, the Company or any Subsidiary:

(a) any and all Income Taxes (or the nonpayment thereof) due and payable by the Surviving Corporation, the Company or any Subsidiary of the
Company for any Pre-Closing Tax Period or Pre-Closing Straddle Period;

(b) all Income Taxes of any member of an affiliated, combined or unitary group of which the Company or any Subsidiary of the Company is or was a
member on or prior to the Closing Date, including pursuant to Treas. Reg. §1.1502-6 or any analogous or similar state, local or foreign Law for any Pre-Closing Tax
Period or Pre-Closing Straddle Period; and

(c) any and all Income Taxes of any Person (other than the Company or any Subsidiary of the Company ) imposed on the Company or any Subsidiary
of the Company as a transferee or successor, by contract or pursuant to any Law, which Income Taxes relate to an event or transaction occurring on or before the
Closing Date.

Section 12.03 Certain Post-Closing Payments and Post-Closing Actions.

(a) Any Tax Benefits with respect to the Tax Deductions shall be for the account of the Stockholders and the Optionholders, and within five (5) days
after the Purchaser, the Surviving Corporation, the Company or any of its Subsidiaries actually recognizes any Tax Benefit from the Tax Deductions, the Purchaser
shall pay to the Representative on behalf of the Stockholders and the Optionholders any such Tax Benefit (including, for the avoidance of doubt, any Tax Benetit
generated from the carryback or carryforward of a net operating loss arising from the Tax Deductions).

(b) Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in Section 12.01(c), the Purchaser, the Surviving Corporation, the Company and its Subsidiaries shall
reasonably cooperate with the Representative in obtaining all Tax Benefits relating to the Tax Deductions, including through the filing of amended Tax Returns or
refund claims as prepared by the Representative with respect to Pre-Closing Tax Periods, at the expense of the Representative, it being understood that (i) in the
event that a Tax Return for a Pre-Closing Tax Period reflects a net operating loss or tax credit that can be carried back to another Pre-Closing Tax Period, the
Purchaser, the Surviving Corporation, the Company and its Subsidiaries shall do so at the Representative’s discretion and (i) such refunds shall be claimed in cash
rather than as a credit against future Tax liabilities.
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(c) Unless otherwise required by Law, an amended Income Tax Return with respect to the Pre-Closing Tax Period or the Pre-Closing Portion of any
Straddle Period shall be filed by Purchaser, the Surviving Corporation, the Company or any Subsidiary without the consent of the Representative, not to be
unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed.

Section 12.04 Allocation of Certain Taxes.

(a) If the Surviving Corporation or the Company is permitted, but not required, under applicable foreign, state or local Income Tax Laws to treat the
Closing Date as the last day of a taxable period, such day shall be treated as the last day of a taxable period.

(b) For purposes of this Agreement, the portion of Tax with respect to the income, property or operations of the Company and its Subsidiaries that is
attributable to any Tax period that begins on or before the Closing Date and ends after the Closing Date (a “Straddle Period”) will be apportioned between the period
of the Straddle Period that extends before the Closing Date through the Closing Date (the “Pre-Closing Straddle Period™) and the period of the Straddle Period that
extends from the day after the Closing Date to the end of the Straddle Period (the “Post-Closing Straddle Period™) in accordance with this Section 12.04(b). The
portion of such Tax attributable to the Pre-Closing Straddle Period will (i) in the case of any Taxes other than sales or use taxes, value-added taxes, employment
taxes, withholding taxes, and any Tax based on or measured by income, receipts or profits earned during a Straddle Period, be deemed to be the amount of such Tax
for the entire taxable period multiplied by a fraction, the numerator of which is the number of days in the Pre-Closing Straddle Period and denominator of which is
the number of days in the Straddle Period, and (ii) in the case of any sales or use taxes, value-added taxes, employment taxes, withholding taxes, and any Tax based
on or measured by income, receipts or profits earned during a Straddle Period, be deemed equal to the amount that would be payable if the Straddle Period ended on
and included the Closing Date. The portion of Tax attributable to a Post-Closing Straddle Period shall be calculated in a corresponding manner. For purposes of
computing the Income Taxes attributable to the two portions of a taxable period pursuant to this Section 12.04, the amount of any exemption, deduction, credit or
other item that is calculated on an annual basis shall be allocated between the two portions of the period in proportion to the number of days in each portion. To the
extent that any Tax for a Straddle Period is based on the greater of a Tax on net income, on the one hand, and a Tax measured by net worth or some other basis not
otherwise measured by income, on the other hand, the portion of such Tax related to the Pre-Closing Straddle Period and the Post-Closing Straddle Period will be
determined based on the foregoing and based on the manner in which the actual Tax liability for the entire Straddle Period is determined. In the case of a Tax that is
(i) paid for the privilege of doing business during a period (a “Privilege Period”) and (ii) computed based on business activity occurring during an accounting period
ending prior to such Privilege Period, any reference to a “Tax period,” a “tax period,” or a “taxable period” shall mean such accounting period and not such Privilege
Period.

(¢) Notwithstanding the foregoing, any deduction attributable to the payment of the Option Merger Consideration, Deferred Option Bonus Amount,
Transaction Expenses and
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any other amounts deductible for income Tax purposes arising in connection with the consummation of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement shall be
allocated to the taxable period or the portion of the taxable period ending on the Closing Date to the fullest extent allowed by Law.

Section 12.05 Transfer Taxes. At the Closing or, if due thereafter, promptly when due, all gross receipts, transfer Taxes, gains Taxes, real property transfer
Taxes, sales Taxes, use Taxes, excise Taxes, stamp Taxes, conveyance Taxes and any other similar Taxes applicable to, arising out of or imposed upon the
transactions contemplated hereunder shall be paid one-half by the Representative and one-half by the Purchaser. The Purchaser shall prepare any Tax Returns with
respect to such Taxes, which shall be paid one-half by the Representative and one-half by the Purchaser, and the Representative shall cooperate with the Purchaser
in the preparation of such Tax Returns.

Section 12.06 Cooperation on Tax Matters.

(a) The Purchaser, on the one hand, and the Representative, on behalf of the Stockholders and the Optionholders, on the other hand, and their
respective Affiliates shall cooperate in (i) the preparation of all Tax Returns for any Tax periods and (ii) the conduct of any Tax Proceeding, for which one party
could reasonably require the assistance of the other party in obtaining any necessary information. Such cooperation shall include, but not be limited to, furnishing
prior years’ Tax Returns or return preparation packages illustrating previous reporting practices or containing historical information relevant to the preparation of
such Tax Returns, and furnishing such other information within such party’s possession reasonably requested by the other party as is relevant to the preparation of
the Tax Returns or the conduct of the Tax Proceeding. Such cooperation and information also shall include promptly forwarding copies of appropriate notices and
forms or other communications received from or sent to any Governmental Body which relate to the Surviving Corporation, the Company or any Subsidiary of the
Company, and providing copies of all relevant Tax Returns, together with accompanying schedules and related workpapers, documents relating to rulings or other
determinations by any Governmental Body and records concerning the ownership and tax basis of property, which the requested party may possess.

(b) At its election, the Representative shall control any Tax Proceeding that relates solely to Income Taxes for any Pre-Closing Tax Period for which
the Purchaser, the Company, the Surviving Corporation or any of the Subsidiaries of the Company may be indemnified pursuant to Section 11.01 or Section 12.02.
The party with the greater economic stake shall control any Tax Proceedings that relate to Income Taxes for any Pre-Closing Tax Period or Straddle Period but do
not relate solely to any Pre-Closing Tax Period with respect to the Surviving Corporation, the Company or any Subsidiary of the Company. For the avoidance of
doubt, taxable periods after those involved in the Tax Proceeding shall be considered in the determination of which party has the greater economic stake in any Tax
Proceedings that relate to any Straddle Period. The Representative shall consult with the Purchaser regarding any Tax Proceeding with respect to the Surviving
Corporation, the Company or any Subsidiary of the Company, provide the Purchaser with information and documents related thereto, permit the Purchaser or its
representative to participate in any such Tax Proceeding, and not settle any such issue without the consent of the Purchaser (which consent shall not be
unreasonably withheld,
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conditioned or delayed). In the event that (i) the Representative does not elect to control a Tax Proceeding that relates to any Pre-Closing Tax Period or (ii) the Tax
Proceeding does not relate solely to a Pre-Closing Tax Period and Purchaser has the greater economic stake and, in either case, for which the Purchaser could assert
a claim pursuant to Section 11.01 or Section 12.02, the Purchaser shall control such Tax Proceeding, and with respect to any Tax Proceeding that relates solely to
any Pre-Closing Tax Period, at the expense of the Representative., The Purchaser shall consult with the Representative regarding any Tax Proceeding with respect to
the Surviving Corporation, the Company or any Subsidiary of the Company, provide the Representative with information and documents related thereto, permit the
Representative or his representative to participate in any such Tax Proceeding, and not settle any such issue without the consent of the Representative (which
consent shall not be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed).

(c) Prior to the Closing Date, the Company shall provide the Representative and the Purchaser with the statement described in Treas. Reg. §1.897-2(h)
(1)(i) to the effect that that the Company does not constitute a U.S. real property interest as defined in Code §897(c) in form and substance reasonably satisfactory
to the Representative and the Purchaser. Within thirty (30) days of providing the statement to the Representative, as required by Treas. Reg. §1.897-2(h)(2), the
Company or, if after the Closing, the Purchaser shall cause the Surviving Corporation, to file with the Internal Revenue Service the notice described in Treas. Reg.
§1.897-2(h), naming the Representative or its applicable Affiliate as the foreign interest holder requesting the statement, and shall furnish a copy of such filing to the
Representative.

Section 12.07 Section 338 of the Code. No party to this Agreement shall make an election under Section 338 of the Code with respect to the transactions
contemplated by this Agreement.

Section 12.08 Post-Closing Transactions not in Ordinary Course. The Purchaser agrees to report all transactions not in the Ordinary Course of Business
occurring on the Closing Date after the Purchaser’s purchase of the Company’s stock as occurring on the day following the Closing Date to the extent permitted by
Treas. Reg. §1.1502-76(b)(1)(ii)(B) (and any similar provisions of state, local, or foreign tax Law).

Section 12.09 Termination of Tax-Sharing Agreements. All Tax sharing agreements or similar arrangements with respect to or involving the Company and any
person other than the Company or any of its Subsidiaries shall be terminated prior to the Closing Date and, after the Closing Date, the Company shall not be bound
thereby or have any liability thereunder for amounts due in respect of periods ending on or before the Closing Date.

Section 12.10 No Intermediary Transaction Tax Shelter. The Purchaser shall not take any action or cause any action to be taken with respect to the Company
or the Surviving Corporation subsequent to the Closing that would cause the transactions contemplated hereby to constitute part of a transaction that is the same as,
or substantially similar to, the “Intermediary Transaction Tax Shelter” described in Internal Revenue Service Notice 2001-16, 2001-1 C.B. 730, and Internal Revenue
Service Notice 2008-20 I.R.B. 2008-6 (January 17, 2008), and Internal Revenue Service Notice 2008-111 [.R.B. 1299 (December 1, 2008).
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Section 12.11 Scope of Article XII. Any claim by any party hereto relating to a breach by another party of its obligations under this ARTICLE XII shall be
pursued in accordance with the procedures for indemnification claims, and shall otherwise be subject to the terms and conditions, set forth in ARTICLE XI.
Notwithstanding the foregoing or any other term or condition of ARTICLE XI, to the extent there is any inconsistency between the terms of ARTICLE XI and this
ARTICLE XII, the provisions of this ARTICLE XII shall govern.

ARTICLE XIII
MISCELLANEOUS

Section 13.01 Press Releases and Communications. No press release or public announcement related to this Agreement or the transactions contemplated
herein, or, prior to the Closing, any other announcement or communication to the employees, customers or suppliers of the Company, shall be issued or made
without the joint approval of the Purchaser and the Representative, unless required by Law (in the reasonable opinion of counsel) in which case the Purchaser and
the Representative shall have the right to review and comment on such press release or announcement prior to publication; provided that the Representative shall be
entitled to communicate with its and its Affiliates’ investors relating to this Agreement and the transactions contemplated herein.

Section 13.02 Expenses. Whether or not the Closing takes place, except as otherwise provided herein, all fees, costs and expenses (including fees, costs and
expenses of legal counsel, investment bankers, brokers or other representatives and consultants and appraisal fees, costs and expenses, and travel, lodging,
entertainment and associated expenses) incurred prior to the Closing in connection with the negotiation of this Agreement, the Closing Documents and the other
agreements contemplated hereby, the performance of this Agreement, the Closing Documents and the other agreements contemplated hereby, and the consummation
of the transactions contemplated hereby and thereby (a) by the Company, the Stockholders or the Optionholders shall be paid prior to the Closing by the Company or
after the Closing out of the General Escrow Funds pursuant to clause (z) of Section 11.01, or (b) by the Purchaser or the Merger Sub shall be paid by the
Purchaser. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, the Purchaser shall pay any and all expenses relating to surveys, title insurance and environmental due
diligence conducted by or on behalf of the Purchaser, including any Phase I environmental review; provided that no Phase II environmental review will be conducted
prior to the Closing without the prior written consent of the Company and, to the extent such consent is given, any and all expenses relating to such Phase II
environmental review shall be paid by the Purchaser.

Section 13.03 Notices. Except as otherwise expressly provided herein, all notices, demands and other communications to be given or delivered under or by
reason of the provisions of this Agreement and the Company Documents (except to the extent a Closing Document provides otherwise) shall be in writing and shall
be deemed to have been given (a) when personally delivered, (b) when transmitted via telecopy (or other facsimile device) to the number set out below or
transmitted by electronic mail if the sender on the same day sends a confirming copy of such notice by a recognized overnight delivery service (charges prepaid),
(c) the day following the day (except if not a Business Day, then the next Business Day) on which the same has been delivered prepaid to a reputable national
overnight air courier service or (d) the third
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Business Day following the day on which the same is sent by certified or registered mail, postage prepaid, in each case to the respective parties hereto at the address
set forth below, or at such other address as such party may specify by written notice to the other party hereto:

Notices to the Purchaser, the Merger Sub or, after the Closing, the Surviving Corporation:

Park-Ohio Industries, Inc.

6065 Parkland Blvd

Cleveland, Ohio 44124

Attention: Robert D. Vilsack
Facsimile: (440) 947-2209

Email: bob.vilsack@pkoh.com

with a copy to:

Jones Day

North Point

901 Lakeside Avenue

Cleveland, Ohio 44114

Attention: James P. Dougherty
Facsimile: (216) 579-0212

Email: jpdougherty@jonesday.com

Notices to the Representative:

FRS Group, LP

c/o Sun Capital Partners, Inc.

5200 Town Center Circle, Suite 600

Boca Raton, Florida 33486

Attention: Jason H. Neimark, Jared D. Wien and
C. Deryl Couch

Facsimile:  (561) 394-0540

Email: jneimark@suncappart.com, jwien@suncappart.com and
dcouch@suncappart.com
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with a copy to:

Kirkland & Ellis LLP

300 North LaSalle Street

Chicago, Illinois 60654

Attention: Douglas C. Gessner, P.C. and
Jeffrey A. Fine, P.C.

Facsimile: (312) 862-2200

Email: douglas.gessner@kirkland.com and
jeffrey.fine@kirkland.com

Notices to the Company prior to the Closing:

Fluid Routing Solutions Holding Corp.
25800 Northwestern Hwy., Suite 550
Southfield, MI 48075

Attention: Michael Laisure
Facsimile: (248) 208-9020

with a copy, prior to the Closing, to each of:

FRS Group, LP

c/o Sun Capital Partners, Inc.

5200 Town Center Circle, Suite 600

Boca Raton, Florida 33486

Attention: Jason H. Neimark, Jared D. Wien and
C. Deryl Couch

Facsimile: (561) 394-0540

Email: jneimark@suncappart.com, jwien@suncappart.com and
dcouch@suncappart.com

and:

Kirkland & Ellis LLP

300 North LaSalle Street

Chicago, Illinois 60654

Attention: Douglas C. Gessner, P.C. and
Jeffrey A. Fine, P.C.

Facsimile: (312) 862-2200

Email: douglas. gessner@kirkland.com and
jeffrey.fine@kirkland.com
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Section 13.04 Assignment. This Agreement, the Closing Documents and all of the provisions hereof and thereof shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit
of the parties hereto and their respective successors and permitted assigns, except that neither this Agreement, the Closing Documents, nor any of the rights,
interests or obligations hereunder or thereunder may be assigned or delegated by (i) the Purchaser or the Merger Sub without the prior written consent of the
Company (prior to the Closing) or the Representative (after the Closing) or (ii) by the Company (prior to the Closing) or the Representative without the prior written
consent of the Purchaser.

Section 13.05 Severability. Whenever possible, each provision of this Agreement and the Closing Documents shall be interpreted in such manner as to be
effective and valid under applicable Law, but if any provision of this Agreement or the Closing Documents is held to be prohibited by or invalid under applicable
Law, such provision shall be ineffective only to the extent of such prohibition or invalidity, without invalidating the remainder of such provision or the remaining
provisions of this Agreement and the Closing Documents. Upon such determination that any provision is prohibited or invalid, the parties hereto shall negotiate in
good faith to modify this Agreement or the Closing Document, as the case may be, so as to effect the original intent of the parties as closely as possible in order that
the transactions contemplated hereby and thereby are consummated as originally contemplated to the greatest extent possible.

Section 13.06 Construction. The language used in this Agreement shall be deemed to be the language chosen by the parties hereto to express their mutual
intent, and no rule of strict construction shall be applied against any Person. The headings of the sections and paragraphs of this Agreement have been inserted for
convenience of reference only and shall in no way restrict or otherwise modify any of the terms or provisions hereof. The specification of any dollar amount or the
inclusion of any item in the representations and warranties contained in this Agreement, the Disclosure Schedules, the Updated Schedules, or the attached exhibits is
not intended to imply that the amounts, or higher or lower amounts, or the items so included, or other items, are or are not required to be disclosed (including
whether such amounts or items are required to be disclosed as material or threatened) or are within or outside of the Ordinary Course of Business, and no party shall
use the fact of the setting of the amounts or the fact of the inclusion of any item in this Agreement, the Disclosure Schedules, the Updated Schedules, or exhibits in
any dispute or controversy between the parties hereto as to whether any obligation, item or matter not set forth or included in this Agreement, the Disclosure
Schedules, the Updated Schedules, or exhibits is or is not required to be disclosed (including whether the amount or items are required to be disclosed as material or
threatened) or is within or outside of the Ordinary Course of Business for purposes of this Agreement. In addition, matters reflected in the Disclosure Schedules and
the Updated Schedules are not necessarily limited to matters required by this Agreement to be reflected in the Disclosure Schedules and the Updated Schedules. Such
additional matters are set forth for informational purposes only and do not necessarily include other matters of a similar nature. The information contained in this
Agreement, in the Disclosure Schedules, the Updated Schedules, and exhibits hereto is disclosed solely for purposes of this Agreement, and no information contained
herein or therein shall be deemed to be an admission by any party hereto to any third party of any matter whatsoever (including any violation of Law or breach of
contract).
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Section 13.07 Amendment and Waiver. Except as provided herein or therein, any provision of this Agreement, the Disclosure Schedules, the Closing
Documents or the exhibits hereto or thereto may be amended or waived only in a writing signed by the Purchaser, the Company and the Representative. No waiver
of any provision hereunder or thereunder or any breach or default thereof shall extend to or affect in any way any other provision or prior or subsequent breach or
default.

Section 13.08 Complete Agreement. This Agreement, the Closing Documents and the other agreements, instruments, and documents contemplated hereby or
executed in connection herewith (including the Confidentiality Agreement) contain the complete agreement between the parties hereto and supersede any prior
understandings, agreements or representations by or between the parties hereto, written or oral, which may have related to the subject matter hereof in any way.

Section 13.09 Third-Party Beneficiaries. Subject to this Section 13.09, certain provisions of this Agreement (excluding Section 10.03 hereof) are intended for
the benefit of the Stockholders and the Optionholders, and the Representative shall, on behalf of such parties, have the right, but not the obligation, to enforce any
rights of the Stockholders and Optionholders under this Agreement. Except for the provisions in Section 8.03 and Section 8.08, this Agreement is not intended to
and shall not confer upon any Person other than the parties to this Agreement and their permitted assigns any rights, benefits or remedies of any nature whatsoever,
other than (i) the right of holders of Company Stock and In The Money Optionholders to receive the Common Merger Consideration and the Option Merger
Consideration, in each case, after the Closing (a claim with respect to which may not be made unless and until the Effective Time shall have occurred) and (ii) the
right of a party to this Agreement on behalf of its security holders to pursue damages in the event of the other party’s breach of this Agreement. For the avoidance
of doubt, (x) except in the case of the foregoing clause (i), the rights granted pursuant to the foregoing clause (ii) shall be enforceable only by the Representative in
its sole and absolute discretion on behalf of such holders, (y) Section 8.03 shall be enforceable by any of the individuals who were officers, directors or similar
functionaries of the Company and its Subsidiaries at or prior to the Effective Time and (z) Section 8.08 shall be enforceable by any of the Retained Employees.

Section 13.10 Counterparts. This Agreement, the Closing Documents and any signed agreement or instrument entered into in connection with this Agreement,
and any amendments hereto or thereto, may be executed in one (1) or more counterparts, all of which shall constitute one and the same instrument. Any such
counterpart, to the extent delivered by means of a facsimile machine or by .pdf, .tif, .gif, .jpeg or similar attachment to electronic mail (any such delivery, an
“Electronic Delivery”) shall be treated in all manner and respects as an original executed counterpart and shall be considered to have the same binding legal effect as
if it were the original signed version thereof delivered in person. At the request of any party hereto, each other party hereto or thereto shall re-execute the original
form of this Agreement and deliver such form to all other parties hereto. No party hereto shall raise the use of Electronic Delivery to deliver a signature or the fact
that any signature or agreement or instrument was transmitted or communicated through the use of Electronic Delivery as a defense to the formation of a contract,
and each such party forever waives any such defense, except to the extent such defense relates to lack of authenticity.
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Section 13.11 Governing Law; Jurisdiction. All issues and questions concerning the construction, validity, interpretation and enforceability of this Agreement,
the Closing Documents and the exhibits and schedules hereto and thereto, and all claims and disputes arising hereunder or thereunder or in connection herewith or
therewith, whether purporting to be sound in contract or tort, or at law or in equity, shall be governed by, and construed in accordance with, the Laws of the State
of Delaware, without giving effect to any choice of Law or conflict of Law rules or provisions (whether of the State of Delaware or any other jurisdiction) that
would cause the application of the Laws of any jurisdiction other than the State of Delaware. The parties hereto hereby agree and consent to be subject to the
exclusive jurisdiction of the United States District Court for the District of Delaware, and in the absence of such federal jurisdiction, the parties hereto consent to be
subject to the exclusive jurisdiction of the state courts located in Wilmington, Delaware, and hereby waive the right to assert the lack of personal or subject matter
jurisdiction or improper venue in connection with any such suit, action or other proceeding. In furtherance of the foregoing, each of the parties hereto (i) waives the
defense of inconvenient forum, (ii) agrees not to commence any suit, action or other proceeding arising out of this Agreement or any transactions contemplated
hereby other than in any such court and (iii) agrees that a final judgment in any such suit, action or other proceeding shall be conclusive and may be enforced in
other jurisdictions by suit or judgment or in any other manner provided by Law. EACH PARTY HERETO HEREBY IRREVOCABLY WAIVES ALL RIGHT TO
TRIAL BY JURY IN ANY LITIGATION, ACTION, PROCEEDING, CROSS-CLAIM, OR COUNTERCLAIM IN ANY COURT (WHETHER BASED ON
CONTRACT, TORT, OR OTHERWISE) ARISING OUT OF, RELATING TO OR IN CONNECTION WITH (i) THIS AGREEMENT AND THE CLOSING
DOCUMENTS OR THE VALIDITY, PERFORMANCE, INTERPRETATION, COLLECTION OR ENFORCEMENT HEREOF OR THEREOF OR (ii) THE
ACTIONS OF SUCH PARTY IN THE NEGOTIATION, AUTHORIZATION, EXECUTION, DELIVERY, ADMINISTRATION, PERFORMANCE OR
ENFORCEMENT HEREOF OR THEREOF.

Section 13.12 Consents. The Purchaser acknowledges that certain consents to the Merger and the transactions contemplated by this Agreement may be
required from parties to Contracts, leases, licenses or other agreements to which the Company or its Subsidiaries is a party (including Contracts set forth on the
Authorization Schedule) and such consents have not been obtained. The Purchaser agrees and acknowledges that neither the Stockholders (including the
Representative) nor the Optionholders shall have any liability whatsoever to the Purchaser (and the Purchaser shall not be entitled to assert any claims) arising out of
or relating to the failure to obtain any consents set forth on the Required Authorizations Schedule or under Contracts identified on the Authorization Schedule, in each
case that may be required in connection with the transactions contemplated by this Agreement or because of the default, acceleration or termination of any such
Contract as a result thereof. The Purchaser further agrees that no representation, warranty or covenant of the Company contained herein shall be breached or
deemed breached and no condition of the Purchaser or the Merger Sub shall be deemed not to be satisfied as a result of the failure to obtain any consent or as a
result of any such default, acceleration or termination or any lawsuit, action, claim, proceeding or investigation commenced or threatened by or on behalf of any
Person arising out of or relating to the failure to obtain any consent or any such default, acceleration or termination.
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Section 13.13 Representative.

(a) By the approval of this Agreement pursuant to Delaware Law (or otherwise) and effective upon and by virtue of the Stockholder Approval, and
without any further act of any of the Stockholders, and by execution of Option Cancellation Agreements by each of the Optionholders with respect to each such
Optionholder, the Stockholders and Optionholders hereby irrevocably appoint the Representative as the representative, agent, proxy, and attorney-in-fact for all the
Stockholders and Optionholders for all purposes under this Agreement including the full power and authority on the Stockholders’ and Optionholders’ behalf: (i) to
consummate the transactions contemplated under this Agreement and the other agreements, instruments, and documents contemplated hereby or executed in
connection herewith, (ii) to negotiate disputes arising under, or relating to, this Agreement and the other agreements, instruments, and documents contemplated
hereby or executed in connection herewith, (iii) to receive and disburse to the Stockholders and Optionholders (subject to Section 13.13(f) below) any funds
received on behalf of the Stockholders and Optionholders under this Agreement or otherwise, (iv) to withhold any amounts received on behalf of the Stockholders
and Optionholders pursuant to this Agreement or otherwise to satisfy any and all obligations or liabilities incurred by the Stockholders, Optionholders or the
Representative in the performance of their duties hereunder, (v) to execute and deliver any amendment or waiver to this Agreement and the other agreements,
instruments, and documents contemplated hereby or executed in connection herewith (without the prior approval of the Stockholders or Optionholders) and (vi) to
take all other actions to be taken by or on behalf of the Stockholders and Optionholders in connection with this Agreement and the other agreements, instruments,
and documents contemplated hereby or executed in connection herewith. The Stockholders and Optionholders, by approving this Agreement, further agree that such
agency and proxy are coupled with an interest, are therefore irrevocable without the consent of the Representative and shall survive the death, incapacity,
bankruptcy, dissolution or liquidation of any Stockholder or Optionholder. All decisions and actions by the Representative shall be binding upon all of the
Stockholders and Optionholders, and no Stockholder or Optionholder shall have the right to object, dissent, protest or otherwise contest the same. The
Representative shall have no duties or obligations hereunder, including any fiduciary duties, except those set forth herein, and such duties and obligations shall be
determined solely by the express provisions of this Agreement.

(b) By the approval of this Agreement pursuant to Delaware Law (or otherwise), each Stockholder and Optionholder hereby severally, for itself only
and not jointly, agrees to indemnify and hold harmless the Representative and its members, managers, officers, agents and other representatives against all expenses
(including reasonable attorneys’ fees), judgments, fines and amounts incurred by such Persons in connection with any action, suit or proceeding to which the
Representative or such other Person is made a party by reason of the fact that it is or was acting as the Representative pursuant to the terms of this Agreement.

(c) Neither the Representative nor any of its members, managers, officers, agents or other representatives shall incur any lability to any Stockholder or
Optionholder by virtue of the failure or refusal of such Persons for any reason to consummate the transactions contemplated hereby or relating to the performance
of their duties hereunder, except for actions or omissions constituting intentional and knowing fraud. The Representative and its members, managers, officers,
agents and other representatives shall have no liability in respect of any
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action, claim or proceeding brought against such Persons by any Stockholder or Optionholder, regardless of the legal theory under which such liability or obligation
may be sought to be imposed, whether sounding in contract or tort, or whether at law or in equity, or otherwise, if such Persons took or omitted taking any action
in good faith.

(d) Upon final resolution of all indemnification obligations and full reimbursement of all expenses, costs, obligations, or labilities incurred by the
Representative in the performance of its duties hereunder, the Representative shall distribute all remaining funds held by it on behalf of the Stockholders and
Optionholders to the Stockholders and Optionholders, it being understood and agreed that such distribution(s) shall be the responsibility of the Representative only
and that neither the Purchaser nor the Surviving Corporation shall have any obligation to ensure that such distribution is, or distributions are, made.

(e) The parties hereto agree that the fact that Kirkland & Ellis LLP may have represented the Company prior to Closing shall not prevent Kirkland &
Ellis LLP from representing the Stockholders (including the Representative) or the Optionholders in connection with any matters involving, including any disputes
with, any of the parties hereto after Closing.

(f) Notwithstanding any provision to the contrary, the Representative may pay to the Surviving Corporation or authorize payment to the Surviving
Corporation of any amounts to be paid to or on behalf of the Optionholders pursuant to this Agreement or their respective Option Cancellation Agreements, which
amounts shall be paid by Purchaser and the Surviving Corporation as set forth in Section 2.04 above.

Section 13.14 Indemnification Matters.

(a) The Purchaser hereby agrees and acknowledges that Purchaser’s right to assert claims against the General Escrow Funds pursuant to ARTICLE XI
and ARTICLE XII of this Agreement (together with the Escrow Agreement) shall be the Purchaser’s sole and exclusive source of recovery for any amounts owing
to the Purchaser pursuant to ARTICLE XI and ARTICLE XII.

(b) The Purchaser hereby acknowledges and agrees that, except as expressly provided in Section 13.14(a), none of the Company, nor any of the Seller
Indemnification Parties, shall have any liability, responsibility or obligation arising under this Agreement or any exhibit or Schedule hereto, or any ancillary agreement,
certificate or other document entered into, made, delivered, or made available in connection herewith, or as a result of any of the transactions contemplated hereby
or thereby, such Section 13.14(a) and the other provisions of this Agreement referred to therein being the sole and exclusive remedy for all claims, disputes and
losses arising hereunder or thereunder or in connection herewith or therewith, whether purporting to sound in contract or tort, or at law or in equity, or otherwise,
except for proven claims for fraud.

(c¢) The Representative (on behalf of the Stockholders and Optionholders) hereby agrees and acknowledges that the obligations of the Purchaser and the
Surviving Corporation described in Section 3.03(g)(ii) shall be the Stockholders’ and the Optionholders’ sole and exclusive source of recovery for any amounts
owing to the Stockholders and the Optionholders’ pursuant to Section 3.03(g)(ii).
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Section 13.15 Deliveries to the Purchaser. The Purchaser agrees and acknowledges that all documents or other items posted to the “Project Fuel” online data
room at www.rrdvenue.com shall be deemed to be “delivered” or “made available” to the Purchaser when such terms are used herein.

Section 13.16 No Recourse. Notwithstanding any provision of this Agreement or otherwise, the parties to this Agreement agree on their own behalf and on
behalf of their respective Subsidiaries and Affiliates that no Non-Recourse Party of a party to this Agreement shall have any Lability relating to this Agreement, the
Closing Documents or any of the transactions contemplated herein or therein except to the extent agreed to in writing by such Non-Recourse Party or in the case of
fraud.

Section 13.17 Conflict Between Transaction Documents. The parties hereto agree and acknowledge that to the extent any terms and provisions of this
Agreement are in any way inconsistent with or in conflict with any term, condition or provision of any Closing Document or other agreement, document or
instrument contemplated hereby, this Agreement shall govern and control.

[REMAINDER OF PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK]
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have executed this Agreement and Plan of Merger on the date first above written.

Name:

Title:

Name:

Title:

Name:

Title:

The Company:

FLUID ROUTING SOLUTIONS HOLDING CORP.

/s/ Michael Laisure

Michael Laisure

Chief Executive Officer & President

Purchaser:

PARK-OHIO INDUSTRIES, INC.

/s/ Edward F. Crawford

Edward F. Crawford

CEO & Chairman

Merger Sub:
AUTOMOTIVE HOLDING ACQUISITION CORP.

/s/ Edward F. Crawford

Edward F. Crawford

CEO & Chairman

Signature Page to Agreement and Plan of Merger



The Representative:
(solely in its capacity as the Representative)

FRS GROUP, LP

By:  Sun Holdings V, LLC
Its:  General Partner

By: /s/ Michael J. McConvery

Name: Michael J. McCovery

Title:  Vice President & Assistant Secretary

Signature Page to Agreement and Plan of Merger (cont’d)



EXHIBIT 31.1

PRINCIPAL EXECUITVE OFFICER’S CERTIFICATIONS
PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Edward F. Crawford, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of Park-Ohio Holdings Corp.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial
condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange
Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and
have:

a. Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to
ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities,
particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b. Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision,
to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance
with generally accepted accounting principles;

c. Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness
of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d. Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal
quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the
registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and
5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the

registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

a. All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely
to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b. Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over
financial reporting.

By /S EDWARD F. CRAWFORD
Name: Edward F. Crawford
Title:  Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Dated: May 10, 2012



EXHIBIT 31.2

PRINCIPAL FINANCIAL OFFICER’S CERTIFICATIONS
PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Patrick W. Fogarty, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of Park-Ohio Holdings Corp.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial
condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange
Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and
have:

a. Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to
ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities,
particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b. Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision,
to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance
with generally accepted accounting principles;

c. Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness
of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d. Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal
quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the
registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

a. All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely
to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b. Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over
financial reporting.

By /s/ PATRICK W. FOGARTY

Name: Patrick W. Fogarty

Interim Chief Financial Officer,
Title:

Director of Corporate Development

Dated: May 10, 2012



EXHIBIT 32

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the quarterly report of Park-Ohio Holdings Corp. (the “Company”) on Form 10-Q for the period ended March 31, 2012, as filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), each of the undersigned officers of the Company certifies, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1350, as
adopted pursuant to § 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that, to such officer’s knowledge:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

(2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company as
of the dates and for the periods expressed in the Report.

By /S EDWARD F. CRAWFORD
Name: Edward F. Crawford
Title:  Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

By /s/ PATRICK W. FOGARTY

Name: Patrick W. Fogarty

Interim Chief Financial Officer,
Title:

Director of Corporate Development
Date: May 10, 2012

The foregoing certification is being furnished solely pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1350 and is not being filed as part of the Report or as a separate disclosure
document.



